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Tate & Lyle 1s a global provider of
ingredients and solutions to the food,
beverage and other industnes. We
transform raw matenals into distinctive,
high-quality ingredients for our customers
which are consumed or used by milions
of people every day.

Primary and value added products
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or intellectual property enabling our customers to
produce distinctive products and Tate & Lyle to obtan
a price premium and/or sustamnable mgher margins
Cther products from our commodity corn miling and
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A new way of reporting

You will notice that we have changed
the way we report this year The focus of
this annual report 1s to fulfil our statutory
obligations to report on the performance

Unless stated otherwise, all comments in this

annual report and accounts refer to the continuing
operations adjusted to exclude exceptional tems
and amoertisation of acquired intangible assets

A reconcihation of reported and adjusted information
1s included in Note 42 on page 109

Cautionary statement
Please read the full cautionary and non-rellance staterments
which can be found on page 121

Deflnitions
In this report Company means Tate & Lyte PLC, 'Tate & Lyle’
or ‘Group’ means Tate & Lyle PLC and s subsidiary and

and prospects of the Company to our
shareholders For everything else you
would hke to know about Tate & Lyle,
please go to our new website,

www tateandlyle com.

joint-veniure companes

Trademarks
SPLENDA® and the SPLENDA® logo are trademarks of
McNei Nutntionals, LLC

The DuPont Oval logo, DuPont™ and Sorona® are trademarks or
registered trademarks of E | du Pont de Nemours and Company




Performmance highlights

Sales
Year to 31 March
£m

Adjusted profit before tax?
Year to 31 March
£m

Net debt
As at 31 March
£m

Adjusted cperating profit
Year to 31 March
£m

1 Total inciudes central
costs of £31 milhien in
2010 and £18 million
tn 2009

Adjusted diluted earnings per share
Year to 31 March
pence

2 Before exceptional
items and amortisation
of acquired intangible
assets

Free cash flow*
Year to 31 March

m
£ 3 Exchanga rate

movements reduced
net debt by £78 million
in the year ended

31 March 2010
Excluding movermnents
In exchange rates,

net debt reduced by
£338 million

4 Free cash flow 1s defined
as cash flow from
continuing operations
after interest taxation
and capital expenditure

Year to 31 March

Statutory results 2010 2009
Operating profit £8m £164m
(Loss)profit befare tax {continuing operations) £(61)m £113m
Profit for the year (total operations) £19m £70m
Diluted earnings per share (total operations) 3.3p 14 1p
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Results

In this, my first year as Chawrman, | am pleased
to report that Tate & Lyle has responded well
to the near-term financial pricrities set at the
stant of the year, resulting in a strenger balance
sheet and a solid overall performance In what
have been challenging market conditicns | am
delighted to welcome our new Chief Executive,
Javed Ahmed, in whose report cpposite you
will find details of the year's results

Regrettably, it has been necessary to recogrnise
total asset write-downs of £260 million, including
a very significant impairment of our nvestment
in the Fort Dodge, lowa plant, in these accounts
| also recognise that large rmparments have
been made in each of the past five years The
disciplines new being put in place are intended
to support an improvement in our INvestment
performance going forward

Dividend

The Board s recommending a maintaned

final dividend of 16 1p, making a full-year
dividend of 22 9p per share, in ine with the
prior year The full-year dividend 15 covered

1 7 times by earnings frorm continuing operations
before exceptional tems and amortisation

of acquired intangible assets The proposed
final dwvidend will be due and payabie on

30 July 2010 subject to shareholder approval,
to all shareholders on the Register of Members
on 25 June 2010

Board

There have been a nurnber of changes on

the Board since the last AGM As announced

in June 2009, | succeeded Sir David Lees

as Charrman following last year's AGM and,

on 1 October 2009, Javed Ahmed succeeded
lain Ferguson as Chief Executive, thereby
completing the final steps in the succession plan

The Board was further strengthened durng the
penod by the appointment of two new
non-executive directors, Douglas Hurt and
Wilhlam Camp

Sir Peter Gershon
Chairman

Richard Delbridge will be retiring as a non-
execulive director at the end of our 2010 AGM
after serving on the Board for the last ten
years Dunng that ime, Richard has served as
Chairman of our Audit Commuttee and as the
Senior Independent Cirector On behalf of the
Board, | would bke to take this cpportunity to
thank him for his wise counsel and outstanding
service since 2000 Robert Walker will replace
Richard as Semor Independent Director

at the conclusion of this year's AGM

Strategy

We have announced our intention to refocus
our strategy and priontise our future investment
in speciality food ingredients We have also
announced a number of iImportant changes

to our organisation and the way that we go to
market These changes are described in more
detail n the Chief Executive's review on pages
3 to 7 Through these changes we will build the
platform from which we will deliver sustainable
long-term growth

Governance

Upon my succession as Chairman, in seeking

to continue to strengthen the governance
framework established under my predecessor, |
held a series of meetings with major shareholders
and directors A number of recommendations
were agreed as an output from these meetings,
most of which have now been implernented

In addition, | carned cut the annual evaluation

of the Board's effectiveness The evaluation
consisted of one-to-one performance evaluation
meetings with each director and the Company
Secretary The Board i1s currently implementing
a number of recommendations arising from

this process

Qverall, | am confident that the Tate & Lyle
Board remains fit for purpose and continues to
provide the highest standards of governance
and leadership

Sir Peter Gershon
Chairman

26 May 2010




Chief Executive’s review

Javed Ahmed
Chief Executive

Review of the year

Overview

Tate & Lyle delivered a solid perfoermance in
the face of challenging conditions in a number
of our markets Adjusted operating profits
from core vatue added food Ingredsents grew
strongly, increasing by 22% {14% n constant
currency}to £131 milion Profits within pnmary
ingredients in the Americas and Europe were
22% below the prior year at £38 million (27%
n constant currency), as lower co-product
income and weaker industrial profits adversely
impacted results

Sales for the year were £3,506 million, 1%

lower (6% 1 constant currency) than the prior
year Adjusted operating profit of £298 million
was In line with the prior year (7% lower In
constant currency) Adjusted profit before tax
was £229 million, 7% lower (14% in constant
currency) than the prior year, reflecting an
increase of £16 million in the net finance expense
for retirement benefit plans Adjusted diluted
earnings per share of 38 9p were 2% higher (2%
lower In constant currency}, benefiting from a
lower effective tax rate of 20 4% {2009 - 27 3%
Exchange translation increased adjusted profit
before tax by £19 milhon compared to the prior
year Loss before tax after exceptional tems and
amortisation of acquired intangible assets was
£61 milion compared to a profit of £113 million
In the prior year

Total net exceptional charges before tax of
£276 million (2009 ~ £119 millon) have been
recognised in the year

With regard to our plant in Fort Dedge, iowa, In
the last few months we have conducted detalled
analyses of the end markets which the plant
would supply under our new capital management
processes The continuing depressed and volatile
outlook for ethanol, and uncertain conditions in
industnal starch and corn gluten feed markets,
do not provide any basis to complete and
commission the plant

Changes in feed and energy markets,

together with the reconfiguration of technology
required following our experience of mstaling
new equipment at our L.oudon plant, along with
remobilisation costs, would mean that, if we
were to complete Fort Dodge, total additional
costs would now be In the region of £70 million

Factoring Iin the nsks associated with future
returns from the plant, including the length of
ime to complete, regulatory uncertainty and a
continuation of the current market conditions,
we have concluded that the plant 1s highly
unlkety to be completed or commissianed in
the foreseeable future As a result, the facility
has been rnothballed and has been written
down to £17 mullion, leading to an imparment
of £217 mithon which has been recognised as
an exceptional charge in the 2010 financeal year
A further exceptional charge of approximately
£25 mithon will be recogrised dunng the 2011
financial year in respect of leng-term contracts
relating to the facility We will continue to seek
ways to maximise shareholder value from the
Fort Dodge plant in these circumstances

Net debt decreased by £417 mullion, or 34%,
to £814 million, driven pnimarily by strong free
cash flows from continuing operations Before
the effects of exchange, net debt decreased
by £338 milion The impact of exchange
movements durning the year, which reduced
debt by £79 milion, was due principally to the
strengthening of sterling against the US dollar
by 6% year on year

The Board 1s recommending a maintained final
dividend of 16 1p (2009 - 16 1p), making a full-
year dividend of 22 9p per share, in ine with the
prior year The proposed final dividend will be
paid on 30 Juty 2010 to all shareholders on the
Register of Members at 25 June 2010

Durning the year, we conducted a thorough, fact-
based review of the Company’s current position
and a detailed analysis of the opportunities and
challenges we face Based on this review, we are
implementing a number of fundamental changes
to the way we are organised, in order to refocus
the Group to deliver sustainable long-term
growth These changes are described In

greater detail below

Safety

Safety remains the highest prionty for us We are
committed to providing safe and healthy working
conditions for our employees, contractors and
visitors Every year, we measure and report our
safety performance and we aim for contimuous
improvement In 2009, our Group safety index
improved by 3% although our Group contractor
safety index worsened after significant
improvements in 2008 Safety, ncluding that of
our contractors, will continue to be a major area
of focus for 2010 as we work towards our target
of a safety index of zero for all our operations In
this regard, we were saddened to learn that last
week, a fatality occurred at our joint-venture plant
in Turkey A full investigation is underway

Delivering on our short-term priorities
At the beginming of the year, recognising the need
to act decisively and quickly in the face of the
global econormic downturn, we set out our three
near-term financial prionties for the business to
optimise working capital, implement tight capital
expenditure control, and reduce our cost base

i am pleased to report that, due to the
outstanding efforts of our employees across the
business, we have made significant progress in
each of these areas Working capital reductions
generated £291 milion dunng the year, with
improvements delivered by each operating
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division and within each major area of the working
capttal base Caprtal expenditure of £78 million
represented 68% of depreciation, i ine with

our commitment stated at the beginming of the
financiat year to hold expenditure below the
annual depreciation charge Underlying costs
reduced by £30 mitlion in the year compared

to the comparative period, including the cost
savings achieved from rationalising the sucralose
manufacturing footprint, with reductions achieved
through our focus on all areas of the cost base

A stronger balance sheet

The Group’s balance sheet has been strengthened
significantly during the year Net debt was reduced
by 34% to £814 millon at 31 March 2010 {from
£1,231 milhon at 31 March 2009) This reduction
has been achieved through a relentless focus

on cash management within every area of the
business Tate & Lyte 1s a strongly cash generative
business, and focus on cash management will
remain a&n ongoing priority

‘ ‘ Through resolute focus on
our financial priorities, we

have significantly strengthened the
balance sheet. 5y
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The key performance indicators of our financial
strength, the ratic of net debt to earmngs before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) and nterest cover, remarm within our
internal targets Consistent with the Group's
financial strategy at least to mantain our
investment-grade cred ratings, dunng the

year we tightened our maximum target for net
debt to EBITDA to 2 0 times from 2 5 times

At 31 March 2010, the net debt to EBITDA ratio
was 1 8 times (2009 - 2 4 times), within our new
target and comfortably within our bank covenants
Interest cover on total operations at 31 March 2010
was 5 B times (2009 - 6 1 times), again ahead of
our minmum target of 5 0 times and well ahead
of our bank covenants

During the year we announced that, with a view to
containing our pension costs and reducing balance
sheet volatility, we had entered nto consultation
with employees who were active members of

the UK Group Pension Scheme on the closure

of that scheme {e future accrual from April 2011
Following completion of the consultation process,
the Company will close the Group scheme from
Apri 2011 We also took the decision to remove
the early retirement discretion from November
2009 We have recogmsed an exceptional gain of
£42 mithon In the 2010 financial year ansing from
these changes

Qverview of divisional business
performance

Adjusted operating profit at Food & Industrial
Ingredients, Amencas was £178 mithon, 2%
below the prior year (10% in constant currency}
Operating profits from value added food
ingredients mcreased by 18% (9% in constant
currency), reflecting firmer pricing and steadier
demand patterns Operating profits in primary food
ingredients were below the pnior year due to lower
co-product Incorme from the sale of corn ol

Performance from primary industnal ingredients,
comprising ethanol, native industnal starches and
animal feed co-products was below the level of
the prior year due to lower ammal feed co-product
income and reduced industrial starch margins

At Food & Industnal Ingredients, Europe, adjusted
operating profits of £54 rmilkion were 6% above
the prior year (4% In constant currency) Within
Single Ingredients, profits from primary products
were lawer as reduced levels of capacity utihsation
mpacted unit margins, particularly in the second
half of the year, although the business continues
to benefit from the relative stability afforded by
1soglucose guotas in Europe Demand for value
added food ingredients was steady, and unit
margins increased with improved pncing Food
Systems performance was above the prior year,
as demand in key markets proved relatively
robust in the tace of the economic downturn

Adjusted oberatmg profits within the Sugars
division increased by 150% to £30 miion (100%
In constant currency) reflecting /mproved margins
in our EU sugar business during the second half
of the year following the final institutional price
change on 1 October 2009 Performance also
benefited from lower energy and distnbution costs
Qur molasses and storage business petformed
well in the year, with cperating profit of £13 rmilthon,
aithough this was below the exceptionally strong
profits acheved in the comparative period when
the sharp spike in cereal prices during the
summer of 2008 led to very high demand

and prices for molasses

Sales of SPLENDA® Sucralose of £187 million
were 11% above the prior year {4% in constant
currency) Following the significant yield
improvements achieved during the 2009 financial
year, and the consequent decision to produce

all sucralose at our fourth-generation facility in
Singapore, the process of mothballing the plant
in Mclintosh, Alabama was completed ahead of
schedule Adusted operating profits decreased by
7% to £67 million {9% in constant currency) due
to one-off credits of £4 mithon in the prior year,
certain costs in the current year asscciated with
the rationahsation of the manufacturing footprint
and the relatively high costs in opening inventory
which impacted cost of sales in the 2010
financial year

Central costs increased to £31 milion from

£18 million in the prior year During the year, we
incurred one-off costs of £5 mdlion related to the
review and reorganisation of the Group’s activities,
while the prior year included one-off credits
totalling £6 milhon

Exceptional items

Exceptional items within our cantinuing
operations during the year totalled a net charge
of £276 million {2008 — £119 milkion)

Following a detalled analysis of end markets, in
light of costs of around £70 milhon to complete
and commission our plant n Fort Dodge, and
factoring in the risks associated with future returns
from completing and operating the plant, we have
concluded that the plant 1s highly unlikely to be
completed or commissioned n the foreseeable
future As a result, the facility has been mothballed
and written down to £17 mittion, leading to an
imparment of £217 milion which has been



Key performance
indicators

Tate & Lyle's Board and executive
management morutor a range of financial
and non-financial performance indicators,
reported on a penodic basis, to measure
the Group’s performance over time Annual
targets are set for base key performance
indicaters (KPIs) in line with the Company's
sirategic objechives,

In hight of the changes to our business
explained on pages 6 and 7, we will be

reporting on different KPls in the Annual
Report 2011

Net debt to EBITDA multipte!

Target max 2 0 times
2010 1 8times
2009 24 times
2008 2 5 times
2007 19 times

1 Measured by financial year on continuing operations

and transfating net debt at the same average exchange
rates as EBITDA

Descnption This 1s the number of times

the Group's net borrowlng exceeds its
trading cash flow EBITDA Is earmings before
exceptional items, interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation

Comment Consistent with the Group's
financal strategy to at least mainta:n our
mvestment-grade credit ratings, during the
year we tightened our maximum target

to 2 0 times from 2 5 imes We are within
our new target and comfortably withan thas
of our bank covenants

Safety index’

Target zZero
2009 112
2008 116
2007 208
2006 24

1 Measured by calendar year

Descnption Our safety index compares

safety performance across the Group and I1s a
weighted average of injunes sustained in the
workpiace, with severe accidents having greater
impact The lower the index, the better the
pertormance

Comment Employee safety showed modest
progress n 2009 with a 3% improvement on
2008 Further mformation can be found on
pages 32 to 34

Interest cover'

Target min 5 0 imes
2010 5 8 times
2009 6 1 times
2008 7 B times
2007 8 4 times

1 Measured by financial year on total operatans

Description This 1s the Group's total operating
profit before exceptional tems and amortisation
divided by net finance axpense, as detined

" our bank covenants Qr, the number of

times the profit of the Group exceeds interest
payments made to service Its debt

Comment Our interest cover rematns
above our target

Return on net operating assets®

Target 20 0%
2010 14 1%
2009 12 7%
2008 15 5%
2007 18 9%

1 Measured by financial year on total operations

Description This is the Group’s total profit
before interest, tax and exceptional items
divided by the average net operating assets
Comment We are below both our initial

target of a Group return on net operating assets
{RONQA) of 15%, and our longer-term target

of a RONOA of 20%

Energy use’

Target (longer-term) 3% reduction
2009 Zero
2008 zero
2007 1 3% reduction
2006 1 2% reduction

1 Measured by calendar year

Description Energy use 1s our most signdficant
environmental )impact Qur businesses have

a target to reduce energy consumphion on

a per urit basis by 3% each year

Comment QOur 3% target continues to be more
challenging as value addad products typically
use more energy than our traditional products
Further information on the Group's energy use
can be found on pages 34 to 36
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recognised as an excepttonal charge in the 2010
financial year A further exceptional charge of
approximately £25 mullion will be recognised dunng
the 2011 financial year in respect of long-term
contracts relating to the facilty

As reported at the half year, we recognised an
exceptional charge of £55 million following the
decision to mothball the sucralose manufacturing
faciity in Mcintosh, Alabama

The reorganisation of our food systems business in
Europe will lead to exceptional cash costs totalling
£7 mithon, of which £3 million has been recognised
in the 2010 financial year, with the balance
recognised In the 2011 financtal year

In the Food & Industnial Ingredients, Amerncas
segment, following a review of the portfolio of
research and development projects in the context
of our new strategic focus, we have written off
£28 miulhon relating to a xanthan gum pilot plant
and other related assets following the decision not
to pursue these products to full-scale preduction

Qur sugar refining business In Israel continues

to experience extremely challenging market
conditions, with surplus reftned sugar supplies
placing considerable pressure on refiming margins
Gwen the continued decline In the business's
commercial prospects, we have recognised a
further impairment charge of £15 millicn in addition
to the charge of £9 millon recogmsed in 2009

An exceptional gan of £42 mulhon has been
recognised following the decision to close the UK
Group Pension Scheme to future accrual from
April 2011 and to remove the early retirement
ciscretion from Novernber 2009

The tax impact on continuing net exceptional items
totalied a £112 mition credit (2009 - £44 miliion
credrt) In addition, an exceptional tax credit of

£15 mithon has been recognised in the year relating
to the release of certain tax provisions following the
resolution of Issues with tax authoriies

Outlook

Locking forward, we anticipate that steady demand
patterns for value added food ingredients will
continue and, combined with the benefits of a
single plant sucralose manufactunng base, we
expect a modest improvement in value added food
performance in the 2011 inancial year

Within our pnmary markets, we expect continuing
modest dechne in US domestic sweetener demand
to be largely offset by increased dermnand from
Mexico, and stable dernand in other markets

for primary food ingredients Despite some
improvement in demand patterns, industnal starch
margins are expected to reman at lower levels,
reflecting industry overcapacity putting pressure on
pricing, and we see little near-term improvement in
ethanol markets Within Sugars, whilst unit refining
margins have returned, profitabiiity in the 2011
financial year will be constrained by short-term
supply challenges

Overall, we anhcipate progress in the coming
financial year as we maintain aur focus on the
disciphnes necessary to continue delivering
strong cash flows from our business

Review of the business

Since joining Tate & Lyle in October last year,

| have led a thorough, fact-based review of the
Company’s current position, and an assessment
of the opportunities and challenges in front of us

Tate & Lyle has some real strengths we can

build on It was clear to me as soon as | jomed
the Company that acting safely, responstbly

and sustainably, with high levels of integnty,

were hallmarks of Tate & Lyle The Company

also has a largs, cost ethcient, and well invested
manufactuning footprint, and deep technical
process and appiications expertise Our customer
base includes many large, global companies with
whom we have strong, long-term relationships
based on cur clear focus on quality, rebabiity and
customer service We also have a long, successful
history of operating internationally and, as can

be seen from the past year’s results, the potential
for strong cash generation

At the same time, we face a number of strategic
and operational challenges Strategically, we
operate in a number of different markets with
different characteristics and needs We have sold
competitive positions (n some of these markets,
but in others a path to leadership is unclear We
continue to have a relatively large exposure to
commodity markets, with their inherent volatility
and cyclicality, whitst, at the same time, having a
limited exposure to kay avenues of longer-term
growth, in terms of categories and geographies
Over the last few years there has also been
some Inconsistency between strategic intent and
actual investment strategy, with the majority of
our capital having been spent on our commodity
rather than our specrality business Additionally,
the operating model has lacked focus, and
constrained rather than driven performance
Finally, a number of enablers, such as the capital
aliocation and implementation process and the 1S/
IT infrastructure, need significant strengthening

tn order to address these issues and reinvigorate
Tate & Lyle, we will take steps to focus, fix and
grow our business

1 Focus

In future, cur purpose will be to grow our
spectalty food ingredients business We will do
this through deeper customer understanding,
continuous nnovation and agility, and through
builchng stronger positions in huigh-growth
markets We will continue to drive sustained
cash generation from our bulk ingredients and
sugars businesses to fuel this growth

2. Fix

Fixing the operating model

The current business operating structure, with a
mixture of regional and product-based business
units, does not support execution of the Group's
strategy From 1 June 2010 we will reorgamse
and operate through three global business units
Spectality Food Ingredients, Bulk Ingredients and
Sugars Each business unit will have a distinct
go-to-market orgamsation to provide the necessary
focus and bring the required expertise to the
different markets we serve, and each will have a
dedicated manufactunng asset base




Fixing the operations

The review of our approach to capital

investment planning and implementation, which we
announced at our half-year results in November,
has been largely completed, and will lead to a
number of changes to the way we invest fixed
capital in our business in future For all major
capntal projects, the approval precess has been
strengthened to incarporate a two-stage Board
approval, including a more ngoreus technical and
commercal appratsal, supported where necessary
by external experts Ongoing reviews performed
regularly by the Group Executive Committee, as
well as peer reviews, have also been added to
sharpen the investment apprarsal process We

will also create a dedicated, internal resource,
independent of the operations, with responsibility
for oversight of all capntal expenditure

We have already made huge strides in the way we
control working capital in our business, evident
from the iImprovement delivered in the 2010
financial year There 1s a much clearer appreciation
within the orgamsation now of the need for working
capital optimisation and this 1s semething | intend
to bulld on To this end, we have implemented
standard measures of working capial efficiency
across the Group, and have set clear targets by
business Inthe 2011 financial year, these targets
wiil, for the first e, be lnked 10 management
incentive structures

Our three business units will be supported by global
support services, using shared service centres

to eliminate duplication and rationalise resources
requred This will also allow us to redeploy some
needed resources to the 'front end'’ of our business

We are refocusing our
strategy, with our speciality

food ingredients business being
the key focus of investment and :
long-term growth. 5y :

We have already started work to strengthen
operational enablers, by estabhshing a common set
of perfermance metrics across the business and we
wifl move to a single globa! IS/IT platform to drive
improved globat decision making over the next two
years Although it will take time, | arn confident that
the steps we are taking now will fay the foundation
to deliver significant improverments in operational
execution over the coming menths and years

Exceptional costs of £8 midlon associated with
the reorganisation and restructunng of the Group's
activities are expected to be recognised in the
2011 financtal year, with further exceptional costs
expected to be in the region of £13 mithon the
following year These cash costs are expected
subsequently to pay back within two years
Addrtionally, we are developing a detalled
implementation plan for a common, global 1S/IT
plattorm, which we anticipate will be implermented
over the next 24 months

Fixing the organisation
In order to fix our organisation, we are taking action
to address our structure, our talent and our culture

We will simplify and de-layer the organisation
structure to accelerate decision-making and

move management closer to the business We
have developed clear guidelines on global talent
acqwsition to upgrade our capabilties and fill skifls
gaps in key areas We are taking steps to embed

a common, performance-driven culture within the
crganisation, and to define clear argarmisational
values We are establishing a clearer, metnic-driven,
performance management process which will be
implemented dunng the coming year The Group's
incentive system 1s also being restructured, to
ensure that at all levels of the organisation there

i5 a sharp focus on what drives behaviour and
results A greater proportion of pay will be at

risk, with appropriate rewards to ncentivise
outstanding performance

Fixing the investment focus

Over the past four financial years, around two-
thirds of our capital has been invested Iin our
commodity business with one-third in gur speciality
business Geographically, investment has been
overwhelmingly focused on the developed markets
with emerging markets largely ignored

Qver time, our investment focus will be realigned

to our strategy our engine of growth and the focus
of acquisittons will be speciality food ingredeents,
wih greater emphas:s on emerging markets Qur
bulk ;ngredients and sugars businesses remain
strong and valued businesses, and we will continue
to invest appropriately in order to increase their
efficiency and generate cash

3. Grow

A new unit, the innovation and Commercial
Development group, will be established, dedicated
to driving sustamed long-term growth, with a key
focus on speciakty food ingredients This unit

will integrate R&D, global marketing and global
product management, and will enable a fully
integrated approach to developing and
commercialising mnnovation

We expect to achieve growth both in our existing
markets, through the benefits of our new operating
model and investment focus, and also In emerging
markets and in the smali- and medium-sized
enterprise {SME) and private-label customer
segments, where we have hmited presence today

Our new operating structure will provide a clean
platform from which to grow the business, both
organically and through acquisitions

Conclusion

This statement has outlined our strategy of
focusing on growing our specrality food ingredients
business, and set out a number of mportant
changes to our operating model and the way

we function We will report a set of performance
metrics which will measure progress towards
delivery of this strategy, and are creating reward
structures aligned to these metncs

Through these changes we will bulld the platform
to deliver sustainable long-term value for our
employees, our custormers and our shareholders

Javed Ahmed
Chief Executive

26 May 2010

Find out more about Tate & Lyle
at www tateandlyle com
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Business review What we do

Overview

Tate & Lyle I1s a global provider of ingredients

and solutions to the food, beverage and other
industries Through our large-scale, efficient
manufactuning plants, we turn raw matenals

nto distinctive, high quality ingredients for our
customers Our Ingredients and solutions add
taste, texture, nutntion and increéased functionality
to products that milhons of people around the
world use or consume every day

Tate & Lyle was founded in the UK in 1921 but
its roots can be traced back to a number of
companies established in the middle of the 18th
century focused on sugars in Europe, and corn
miling in the USA and Europe Tate & Lyle s
headquartered in the UK and operates more than
45 production faciiies around the world

Purpose and strategy

Tate & Lyla’s purpose Is to become the leading
global provider of speciality food ingredients
and solutions

Our strategy 1s to deliver sustainable long-term
growth and returns for our shareholders through

w disciphned focus on growing our speciality
food ingredients business
- deeper customer understanding, continuous

innovation ang agility

- stronger positions in high-growth markets

a driving our bulk ingredients and sugars
businesses for sustained cash generation to
fuel this growth

More details of how we will deliver on this
strategy are given In the Chief Executive’s review
onpages3to7

Organisational structure

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
operated through four business dvigsions

» Food & Industrial Ingredients, Americas,
n Food & Industrial Ingredients, Europe,

s Sugars, and
= Sucralose

These dvisions were supported by the corporate
head office In London and by a number of global
husiness groups with expertise in areas such

as procurement, information technelogy and
research and development A description of the
performance of the Group and each of its four
dwisions for the year ended 31 March 2010 can
be found on pages 18 to 31

As explained in the Chief Executive's review on
pages 3 to 7, with effect from 1 June 2010, the
Group will be reorganised into three new global
business divisions

» Speciahty Food Ingredients,
= Bulk Ingredwents, and
n Sugars

The business divisions will be supported by a
new Innovation and Commercial Development
group with responsibility for bringing innovation
to market, global business support functions, and
a corporate head office

Our operations

Sourcing raw materials
Ensuring we have a long-term, rehable supply of
corn and cane sugar for our plants is essential

This involves developing long-term, mutually
beneficial relationships with growers, famers
and other commercial partners to secure supply,
understanding commodity markets, and hedging
our ¢costs where necessary and feasible

Corn

Tate & Lyle operates a network of corn wet milis
in both North America and Europe, processing
two types of corn dent and waxy Dent cornis
the most common crop and 1s used to make high
fructose corn syrup, basic food and industnal
starches, alcohol (ethanol) and arimal feed Waxy
corn 1s contracted direct from the farmer and

has special functionality that makes it ideal for
creating stabilisers, thickeners and emulsifiers for
the food industry 1tis also used in adheswves and
gums for the paper industry

Running our large corn wet milhng plants in the
USA efficiently 24 hours a day relies on good
management of the corn supply chan We own
a network of elevators (silos) to purchase corn
directly from farmer producers Farmer-owned
co-operatives and farmily-owned grain companies
supply milliens of bushels of corn each year for
our plants Corn purchase contracts may be
negotiated with corn supphers for delivery the
same day, or in some cases price and terms may
be for delivery up to 18 months ahead

In Europe, we have one wholly-owned corn wet
milling plant, with another four as part of our joint
venture, Eaststarch We also have one wholty-
owned corn wet miling plant in Morocco Due

to the sweetener quota system in Europe and
other factors such as transport infrastructure,
our plants pnimarily serve local markets and are
therefore significantly smaller than our US plants,
processing In total Just over two mithon tonnes
of corn per year We purchase dent corn locally
where possible, and commission waxy corn direct
from European farmers for producing specialty
food starches at our plant in the Netherlands

Cane sugar

Qur Sugars bustness processes and refines

cane sugar, a tropical crop grown In areas of high
sunshine and rainfall Cane sugar accounts for
around 80% of world sugar production

In Europe, we have the capacity to refine about
1 4 million tonnes of sugar each year from our
two refineries, and we process up 1o one milhon
tonnes of sugar cane at our factory in Vietnam
While our Vietnamese operation sources frormn
local growers, our European business secures
supply from Afncan, Canbbean and Pacific
countries and least-developed countnes under
the EU Sugar Regime These suppliers have
preferential access to the European sugar market
under vanous agreements with the EU




Reform of the EU Sugar Regime over the last
four years and resulting price cuts have affected
the whole of the supply chamn, including raw
sugar suppliers This means that maintaining
strong working relationships with our suppliers 1s
increasingly important to improve the profitabity
of the industry for all stakeholders and to ensure
we can continue to source the cane sugar we
need for our refinenes

Our highly qualified engineers -
across the business make f

sure our plants function effectively,

efficiently and safely. L z

In order to help our suppher partners to grow
therr domestic sugar industnes in a sustainable
way, duning the year we formed a technical
support group of Tate & Lyle employees who
reside 1n supplier countries and work alongside
our supplers to iImprove efficiency and increase
cane sugar output

In 2008, we announced our decision to convert
all UK retail cane sugar to Fairtrade At that time
this was the largest ever switch to the ethical
labelling scheme by any major UK food or drink
brand We have substantially completed the
switch to Fairtrade for ali UK retail sugars

during the year

Tate & Lyle’s first accredited Fairtrade grower-
partner Is Belize, from whom we have purchased
sugar for over 35 years Since Tate & Lyle moved
to Fairtrade, sugar cane farmers in Behze have
recerved Fartrade premiurms from Tate & Lyte
which has been used to improve their hivelihoods
and develop more sustainable communities

Supply chain ethics

We have a consistent, Group-wide approach
to suppler relationships, based on our Business
Code of Conduct, which covers purchasing
strategies at global, regional and local levels
We also survey many of our suppliers on their
ethical commitment Our auditing programme
1s designed to evaluate the social, ethical and
environmental performance of our supphers
to entify any shortcomings and provide
them with the support they need to make

any necessary smprovements

We apply ngorous standards to our raw maternal
suppliers, both practical and ethical, and share
best practice and work with thern to help thern
meet our compliance needs This 1s essential if
we are to deliver on our customers' requirements
for traceability and quality throughout the

supply chain

Manufacturing ingredients

We process large volumes of corn and sugar
in our network of manufactunng faciliies to
create hundreds of quality ingredients for

our customers Creating this volume and
cperating large-scale, efficient plants gives us
a competitive cost position to compete In the
markets we serve

We opearate more than 45 production faciiities
mainly in the Amencas, Europe and South East
Asia Tate & Lyle 1s the largest cane sugar
refiner 1n Europe, and in the USA, our corn
wet milling plants process some 2% of the
annual corn crop

Operating our plants safely and efficiently

at high volumes requires reliable and up-
to-date manufacturing processes We have
teams of highty qualified engineers across the
business who make sure our plants function
effectively, efficiently and safely Our engineers
use a number of computer-based process
tools to track and mode! data to help identify
opportunities for efficiency improvements such
as Increasing yields, minimising waste and
saving energy

In our production processes, nothing 1s wasted
In sugar processing, molasses (a by-product of
the refining process) 1s sold as animal feed or
used as a raw matenal for fermentation-based
ingredients such as citric acid and alcohol
Likewtse, In corn processing, every part of the
Kernelis valuable, and selling on those parts
we do not use curseives helps manage the

net cost of com

Wa use every part of the corn kernel Cornis
broken down into 57% corn starch {used to
make food and industnal ingredients), 22%
corn gluten feed {made from the hull and fibre
and used In cattle feed), 4% corn gluten meal
{extracted from the endosperm and used in
aquaculture feed and pet food), 3% corn ol
(made from the germ and used by the food
industry}), and the remaiming 14% s water

Because our ingredients enter the feod chan in
consumer products, stringent quality standards
are enforced at every site Quality assurance
also reduces waste and costs, and fosters
good customer relations Every Tate & Lyle
manufactunng facility has to comply with Group
mimmum standards which include third-party
vahidation of food safety and quality systerns

Qur legistics teams are responsible for
warehousing, freight costs and customer
service Our largest logistics hub 1s based n
Lafayette, Indiana, which 1s most central to
all our US plants
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Negotiating prices and volumes
Selling corn-based commodity products in
both the Americas and Europe I1s usually done
through annual pnicing rounds These involve
a senes of face-to-face meetings with
customers, held over a number of months,
where prices for products like high fructose
corn syrup, or charges for toll production, are
negotated for the next 12 months or in some
cases on a multi-year basis

The majonty of our commodity Ingredients,
both focd and ndustnal, are sold through this
mechanism, with only a small amount sold on a
spot (or ad hoc} basis

The pricing rounds are highty commercial and
our sales teams are responsible for ensurning

that we get the best price for our products, while
remamning competitive against other ingredient
suppliers who may sell the same ingredient or
substitute products

In the Americas, as soon as a customer order 1S
agreed, we manage the risk of fluctuating corn
pnces by hedging this position ¢n the Chicago
Mercantle Exchange In Europe, a smaller
market for us than the Americas, there 1s no
hguid corn futures market, which means we
cannot hedge the full corn price risk as we can
n the Americas [tis not possible to use hedging
procedures to lock in the majonty of by-product
revenues in either Europe or the Americas

At our European sugars business, the cost of
purchasing cane sugar and the final selling price
of the finished product are determined within the
framework of the EU Sugar Regime

Research and development

We have over 250 people in our R&D team
worldwide working to develop innovative
ingredients from renewable resources We have
R&D laboratories in Decatur, fincis and Lille,
France, but we also have application laboratories
n countries such as France, China, Germany,
Italy and Australia which are combined with

our sales offices

Our in-house R&D capability 1s organised Into
three prmary groups product development,
technology, and customer solutions The product
development group focuses on developing

new products and Improving existing products
The technology group COVErs process
engineenng, analytical and carbohydrate
chemistry, and biochemicals The team focuses
on how to create, analyse and manufacture
ingredients The customer solutions group
includes applications and technical service
teams The applications teams develop
prototypes and provide sensory analysis for
customers using our Ingredients, while the
technical services teams work directly with

our customers to incorporate our ingredients
into their products

With effect from 1 June 2010, our product
development group will be combined with
our global marketing and global platform
management functions to form the new
Innovation and Commercial Development
group, dedicated to promoting mnovation
and developing new products and markets
for Tate & Lyle
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Research partnerships

To give us fresh ideas and insights into the
market, we develop partnerships with the
external research commurity tn October 2008,
with the support of a £4 5 mithon contribution
over five years from Tate & Lyle, a new climical
research facility was opened by King's College
London at St Thomas' Hospital to undertake
research into areas such as gastrointestinal
health, carbohydrate metabohsm, and medical
conditions such as obesity, diabetes and
cardiovascular disorders Qur partnership with
King's College L.ondon will allow us to share
knowledge and ultimately bring new products
and technologies to market

Our R&D laboratory In Lille, France, 1s an active
member of the Nutrition, Health and Longevity
cluster n Lille that fosters collaboration between
private and public research organisations and
companies Through our participation, we have
been able to obtain fundmng for a research project
to develop new prebiotics and have also made
close ties with a research platform on extraction
and punfication methods

Our Research Advisory Group ¢omprises a
pane! of six International Industry and acadenmic
experts, chatred by cne of our non-executive
directors, Dr Barry Zoumas [t reviews our

R&D portfolio and provides insight into how
leading-edge technologies could apply to
future developments

Our venture capital tund, Tate & Lyle Ventures,
which was launched in 2006, invests i early-
stage, high-growth compames that specialise
in renewabla ingredients, food technologres,
renewable rescurces and industnal
processing technologies

To support our businesses and protect our
competitive advantage, we maintain a significant
number of patents Much of the product
innovation and development work we do results
n patentable or propnetary new technology We
moniter market developments closely to identify
any potential violations of our patents and
intellectual property and take approprate legal
action where we consider It necessary

The markets we serve

We provide customers in four markets - food
and beverage, mdustnal, animal feed and
pharmaceutical and personal care - with quality
services and ingredients Qur customer base
ncludes many of the world’s major food,
beverage and industrial companies

Food and beverage

Food and beverage 1s our most significant
market, comprising over 75% of the Group's
total sales In thus sector, we also sell end-
products directly through retail distribution
channels to retail custorners in certain markets
Our ingredients can be found n the products
of nearly all the world's top 100 food and
heverage companies

We sell two distinct sets of ingredients and
services to food and beverage customers —
value added ingredients and primary ingredients




Valug added ingredients are those ingredients
that utiise technology or intellectual property
enabling our customers to produce distinctive
products and Tate & Lyle to obtain a price
premium and/or sustanable higher margins
In these markets, our customers value
techmcal and innovation capability, nsight
and flexibility Primary ingredients are relatively
unditterentiated ingrechients, sold in markets
where customers principally value suppler
reliability, quahty and value

In the value added food tngredients market,

we currently operate within three categonies
sweeteners, such as SPLLENDA® Sucralose and
crystalline fructose, texturants, such as starch
and gums, and wellness ingredients, such as
PROMITOR™ dietary fibres

With effect from 1 June 2010, our Speciality
Food Ingredients business will be managed
separately as a single global business unit to
ensure an absolute focus on the end markets we
serve We expect this business unit to be a key
driver of longer-term growth

We count many of the
world’s major food, beverage

and industrial companies as our
customers. ,,

Customer understanding drives all that we do

At the heart of our customer approach is the use
of market research to understand the consumer
{our customers’ customer), the markets we
operate in and our customers’ needs In 2005,
we wera one of the first food ingredients
companies to go direct to the consumer to
understand for ourselves what drives purchasing
habits, and what consumers might look for In
future products We use this insight to dnve

our own product development, to differentiate
ourselves from our competitors and, importantly,
to give our customers an advantage by working
with Tate & Lyle Each year we run a programme
of studies to canvass the views of consumers

in Europe, the Americas and Asia We typically
use basic attitudinal research (such as focus
groups) as a starting point, then complete the
programme with detailed quantitative studies

Cur RAD, marketing and regulatory teams work
together to provide customers with insights
from consumer research, support on labeling
requirements, and assistance on meeting
product claims

Over the iast three years, we have also taken the
opportunity to invest in food systems or blending
and speciahty ingredients businesses These
businesses open up new avenues for selling
ingrechients through therr refationships with small-
to medium-sized customers and ther expertise
in specific areas such as the dairy industry, gums
and custom formulations Primanly based in
North America, Germany, Italy and South Africa,
these bustnasses source ingredients and use
them to develop solutions for customers

Ther specialist knowledge supplements

our existing In-house R&D capability These
businesses also often act as an R&D team for
small- to medium-sized customers and, by
bullding close working relationships, become
trusted development partners

Industnal

The global market for industrial ingredients
came under severe pressure as a result of the
economic downturn towards the end of the
2008 calendar year, and demand has remained
at lower levels since then Over the longer term,
however, we believe the trend towards greener
iving and the replacement of petrochemicals
will continue to stimulate demand for industnal
ingredients made from renewable sources
Traditional industnal markets for Tate & Lyle
have included paper and board (starches), fuels
{ethanol) and househcld goods {acidulants)
Newer markets for us include textiles and
plastics (Bio-PDO™)

Animal feed

We serve this market with moelasses produced
and traded woridwide and corn gluten meal

and corn gluten feed produced In both Europe
and the Americas The latter are by-products of
our key production processes and are sold as
nounshing feed ingredients for ivestock, fish and
for use in pet foods Setling on these products

15 Important because it helps us reduce the net
cost of our raw matenals

Pharmaceutical and personal care

A relatively small market for Tate & Lyle,
pharmaceutical and personal care IS one we
expect will grow in the future although remaining
relatively modest At the moment, we sell

two value added ingredients inta this market
Zemea™ (cosmetics and creams), through our
joint venture DuPont Tate & Lyle BioProducts,
and SPLENDA® Sucralose (used in coral care
products and to sweeten medicines without
adding caiortes)
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Food and beverage

Market/
consumer
trends

Customer
trends

Types of
customer

Examples of branded or
value added ingredients

volume pnmary
preducts and
by-products

Examples of high

Health and wellness
digestive heaith and immumty
weight management
children’s heafth/development
heart health

Cost consciousness

volatile raw matenal prices

rise of private label {(own-label)
cost-effective ways of delivering
nutritional benefits

Manufacturers
{branded and contract)
beverage

cary

bakery

snack feod/convenience
confectionery

PROMITOR™ dietary fibres
KRYSTAR® crystalline fructose
STA-Lite® polydextrose
SPLENDA® Sucralose

Value added starches, e g
STA-Sm™, TENDERJEL®,
Mengel, Resistamyl

and FREEZIST®

Food stabilising systems,

e g Hamulsion® and Fnimulsion®

High fructose corn syrup
Corn syrup/glucose
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Convenience
Indulgence
Clean label/natural/organics

Ingreasing pressure for high
quality from suppliers
Supply chain ethics

Retailers
Food service operators

Retall brands

Lyle's Golden Syrup
Branded retail sugars
Tate & Lyle (UK)
Sidul/Sores (Portugal)

Citne acid
Pearl starches

Sustainability/ethical sourcing
Portion/calone control
Home baking (sugars}

Dealing with a changing
regulatory environment
Traceability

Services

CREATE® - innovations

In shape, structure, taste

and texture

OPTIMIZE® - maximising
officiency and value
REBALANCE® - reformulating

to iower-fat, lower-sugar and
lower-calone positions

ENRICH®* - enhancing nutntionat
benefits of foods and beverages

s Cornoil

Industnal sugars




Industnal

Market/
consumer
trands

Customer
trends

Types of
customer

or value added
ingredients

Examples of branded

volume pnmary
products and
by-products

Examples of high

Increased awareness of green
1Issues/environmental footpnnt
Replacement of plastics/
petrochamicals

Increased awareness

of petrochemical vs

renewable options

Cost consciousness (volatle raw
matenal prices)

Manufacturers
paper

adheswes
detergent

de-icing
packaging/plastics
textiles

building products
Fuel supphers

ETHYLEX® paper starch
STA-LOK?® cationic starches
STADEX® dextnn
STARPOL® water

soluble polymers
Susterra™ industnal-grade
Bio-PDO™

Pearl starches
Ethanol
Citnc acid

Arimal feed

u High nutnent digestibility/
nutnent efficiency

s Animal health

» Increased supply of competing
feed products from dry-mull
ethanol production

» Volatile cereal costs (global)
mpacting feed costs

s Producers
- dary

- Pg

- beef

- poultry

- aquacuiture
« pet

s Molasses
u Corn gluten feed
a Corn gluten meal

Personal care and
pharmaceuticals

Replacement of petrochemicals/
preference for ‘natural’ products

Pncing awareness but wilingness
to pay for functionality

Natural product claims

{personal care)

Manufacturers

cosmetics and personal care
{hand creams, decdorants)
over-the-counter (OTC)
pharmaceuticats

Zemea™ personal-care-grade
Bioc-PDO™
SPLENDA® Sucralose

Corn syrup/glucose
Sugar
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Business review \Wh d we do

People

Running a diverse business ke Tate & Lyle, which
develops, manufactures and sells a wide vanety
of products and services to customers mn different
markets across the world, relies on a team of
highly skilled, motivated people from a wide
range of disciplines

To attract and retan the best people, Tate & Lyle
must be a place where people want to work

For us this 1s about giving people opportunities
and challenges 10 stretch themselves and make
the most of their potential, clear cirection and
inspiratonal leadership, and a supportive
working environment

New leadership

This financial year saw changes in the leadership
team at Tate & Lyle Javed Ahmed became Chief
Executive in October 2009, and Rob Lujten joined
as Group HR Director in February 2010 Along with
the organisational changes explained in the Chief
Executive’s review, their pnority for employees

will be to develop a stronger performance-driven
culture throughout the Company This change
process was already underway as we published this
annual report and I1s focusing on values, behaviours
and HR processes across the world, to align these
more closely with performance and results

Employees

We cover a wide geographical area and our people
encompass a broad range of skills and discipknes
In areas such as food science, sales and marketing,
engineering and support services At 31 March 2010,
Tate & Lyle employed 5,666 people across the
Group The average number of employees in the
Group dunng the year 1s given in Note @ on page 74

The following charts show the spht of employees
by the four existing business divisions, and
by geography

Employees by division
As &t 31 March 2010

Employees by geography
As at 31 March 2010

Equal opportunities

We believe n equal opportunities regardiess of
gender, sexual orientation, age, marital status,
disability, race, religion or other behets and ethnic
or national ongin Our policies, practices and
regulations for recruitment, training and career
development promote eguality of opportunity while
being appropnate for the relevant market sector
and country of operation Our aim 1S to encourage
a culture in which all employees have the
opportunity to develop fully according to ther
individual abilities and the needs of the Group

The Group remains committed to the fair treatment
of people with disabilities regarding apphcations,
training, promotion and career development

An employee who becomes disabled would,
where appropnate, be offered retraining
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Training and development

Our employees are vital to the success of our
business It s a key objective for the Group to
attract and retain top-quality talent, and to ensure
that our employees develop and grow in their roles
and meet new challenges as therr careers progress

We run a series of international programmes to
develop management skills and share management
ideas across the Group, as well as for graduate
tranees As part of the changes announced
following the review of the Group, we will be
considering how our training and development
programimes most effectively support a
performance-driven culture

Remuneration

We review our remuneration policies regularly n
light of market trends, the needs ot the business
and the prevailing economic environment Our
policies are designed to attract, retain and reward
employees with the ability and expenence needed
to execute the Group's strategy This year, in ight
of the strategic changes to the bustness explaned
n the Chief Executive’s review, the Bemuneration
Committee has set out a new policy and strategy
for executiva remuneration to focus more closely
on performance, and this i1s explained in the
Directors’ remuneration report We will be looking
at similar principles N reviewing remuneration
policy throughout the Company n due course

Communications

(Good communication 1s essential if employees
are to understand and embrace the Company's
goals and objectives To be effective,
communication must be two-way, and

Tate & Lyle actively encourages employee
involvement and feedback Cne of our principal
channels 1s the Group-wide quarterly magazine,
which includes Company information and

news as well as covering contributions from
employees Other channels for consulting and
informing employees include e-mall, the intranet,
bnefings and management roadshows

Health and wellbeing

We amn to lead the way in employee health
Programmes differ across the Group according
to local needs, but all are based on the principle
that the Company has a role to play in helping
employees improve therr health by providing
infermation, advice and other support on health
and wellbeing Our fong-term goal 1s to raise
the standards of employee heatth and wellbeing
throughout Tate & Lyle, through shanng best
practice and ideas across the Company and
with healthcare partners

UK

Tate & Lyle's nurge-led occupational health
programme emphasises education and prevention
and has often been referred to as a model for other
businesses and pubhc sector organisations in the
UK Key initiatives include educating employees

n health and wellbeing, and providing vocational
rehabilitation as an atternative to sickness absence
certificates, as well as health promotion activities,
an occupational health clinic, advice on healthy
eating, and counselhng services

Tate & Lyle has long understood the benefits of
trying to help employees return to work as soon as
ts pracuical after an iliness or accident Early retumn
to work In a well managed workplace through




vocational rehabifitation can have benefits

for bath the employee and the employer

After the end of the financial year, in Apn} 2010,
the Government introduced the new ‘Fit Note',
a new medicat staternent from doctors that
allows them to advise patients how they might
be able to work with the nght suppon, rather
than simply saying they should or should not
work Thisis in hne with Tate & Lyle’s vocational
rehzbilitation policy which was introduced in
2000 The adoption of this practice has proved
extremely effective in reducing sickness/
absence and expediting employee recovery
from lliness and injury

s Communications we are developing a
campaign to educate employees better
about the wellness programmes and services
available to them

Volunteering

Many employees across Tate & Lyle contnbute
thewr own time and money to charitable
enterpnses and local concerns We support
them with donations every year we match
funds raised for chanty by our employees, and
give donations to local commumity projects

our employees are involved in We also
encourage employees to take part by promoting
volunteering across Tate & Lyle and celebrating
the work they do Further information on how

Overview

We give people opportunities
and challenges to stretch .
themselves and make the most of i
their potential. L}

we support our local communities is on
pages 36 and 37

External environment

We also share elements of our programme with
partners For example, we have helped two
commurity partners with absence management
training and advice, and we host regular visits
from groups of tranee GPs and doctors from
Occupational Healfth Diploma courses to help
ther understanding of occupatronal health

in a factory environment We also offer work
experience for trainee occupational health nurses
from South Bank and Brune! Universities

Europe

Many of cur mamnmland Europe plants offer sirmlar
health programmes to the UK These include
GCompany-sponsored fitness programmes, health
and wellbeing awareness campaigns, healthy
menu options in employee restaurants, and
annua! health and fitness check-ups

USA

Tate & Lyle continues to provide programmes
and tools to help employees become better
informed consumers of their own healthcare
services, as well as encouraging them to
adopt healthy Iifestyles Some examples of our
programmes Include

s ‘Blue Points' system we offer this web-based
system to all employees via our healthcare
provider It provides a platiorm for employees
to imtiate and track healthy behaviours
Employees earn polnts for meeting certamn
health targets, which can be redeemed online
for health-related items

= Health nisk self-assessment we encourage
employees to complete this online self-
assessment, which 1s then reviewed by
medical experts from our healthcare provider
These experts then give teedback and
recommendations 1o employees

= Health and fitness many plants offer
exercise faciities or Company-sponsored
fitness programmes

s Stopping smoking/weight management
employees enrclied in the Blue Cross Blue
Shield health plan have access to vanous
programmes efher to help stop smoking or to
manage therr weight, this includes discounts
with various weight management firms

Competition

The bulk starch market, within which our food
and industrial ingredients businesses compete, 1S
concentrated around a relatively small number of
large participants who operate in many different
application areas, including food, beverage,
paper and pharmaceuticals The USA accounts
for aver half of global starch production Qur
main competitors in the USA for corn wet

milling and starch-based products are Archer
Daniels Midland Company (ADM), Corn Products
International and Cargill National Starch (part of
Akzo Nobel N V) is also a competitor, particularly
tn relation 10 some higher-value modified feod
and industnal starches Penford Corporation

15 a competitor n the North Amernican paper
starch industry

fn Europe our main competitors are Cargill, Syral
(part of Tereos), Roguette Freres, Danisco, Kerry
and National Starch

Competition for our European sugar business
comes manly from British Sugar (a subsidiary
of Associated Briish Foods ple), Sudzucker,
Nordzucker and Terecs

Governmental regulation

Some of the markets in which Tate & Lyle
operates are subject 1o sigmficant influence
from legislation or regulation In Europe, the

EU Sugar Regime 1s most relevant to Tate & Lyle
and affects our European sugar and corn
processing operations

In the USA, the man regulation i1s the Renewable
Fuel Standard programme, which requires that
gasolne sold contains a mimmum volume of fuel
from renewable sources and affects our corn
processing operations 1n the USA, including
corn-based ethanol

Tate & Lyle Annual Report 201Q 13

Governance Business review

Financial statements

Shareholder information




Business review What we o

Risk

Failure to act safely
and to maintan

the continued safe
operation of our
facilities and quality
of our products

Fasture to attract,
develop and retain
key personnel

Non-compliance
with legislation and
regulation

Fluctuations in
pnces, offtake and
avaltability of raw
matenals, energy,
freight and cther
operating INputs

Failure to protect
inteltectual property

Risk management

Tate & Lyle could be affected by a number of
risks, which rmight have a matenal adverse
effect on our reputation, operations and financial
performance

The Group's enterpnse-wide nsk management
and reporting process helps management to
identify, assess and mitigate nsk The process
involves the identification and priontisation of
key risks, together with associated controls

and plans for mitigation, through an ongoing
pragramme of workshops, faciltated by the risk
management function

The nsks wentified are collated and reported
through functicnal and dvisional levels to the
Group Executive Committee This cuiminates in

Impact and description

The safety of cur employees, contractors,
suppliers, the commurties 1n which we operate
and consumers of our products 1s paramount
We must operate within local laws, regulations,
rules and ordinances relating to health, safety
and the environment, ncluding poliution

The operation of plants involves many nsks,
inchuding farlure or sub-standard performance of
equipment, improper installation or operation

of equipment, and natural disasters

Performance, knowledge and skills of employees
are central to success We must attract,

mtegrate and retain the talent required to fulfil
our ambiiions Inability to retan key knowledge
and adequately plan for succession could have a
negative Impact on Company performance

The Group operates In diverse markets and
therefore I1s exposed to a wide range of

legal and regulatory frameworks We must
understand and comply with all applicable
legislatron Any breach could have a financiat
impact and damage our reputation

Margins may be affected by fluctuations i

crop prices due 1o factors such as harvest and
weather conditions, crop disease, crop yields,
alternative crops and by-product values in
some cases, due to the basis for pricng 0 sales
contracts, or due 1o competitive markets, we
may not be able to pass on to customers the full
amount of raw matenal prnice Increases or higher
energy, freight or other operating costs

Qur commercial success depends, in part, on
obtarming and maintaining patent protection

on certain products and technology We must
successfully defend patents against third-party
challenges or Infringements
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the identification for the Board of the Group's key
business, financial, operational and compliance
nsks with associated action plans and controls
to mitigate them where possible {(and to the
extent deemed appropniate after assessing the
costs and benefits) Further details of the nsk
management process are on page 45 and the
key nsks and uncertainties identified as part of
this process, together with some of the mitigating
actions that we are taking, are isted below

The Group 1s exposed to a number of other nisks,
some of which may have a matenal impact on its
results 1t 15 not possible to identify or anticipate
every nisk that may affect the Group Our overall
success as a global business depends, in part,
upon our ability to succeed n different economic,
social and political environments and to manage
and to mitigate these nsks

Examples of mitigating actions

s Health and safety policies and procedures at
all faciities

s« Dedicated staff at all locations to ensure
policies are embedded and measured

» Environmental management systems at
production facilities

s Specalist environmental consuftants brought
In when required

s Product safety and gquality policies and
procedures in place to prevent contamination

s Boarg annual review of Group safety /
environmental performance / policies

s Remunerabion policies designed to attract,
retain and reward employees with ability
and experience to execute Group strategy

» Talent strategy to provide opportunities for
employees to develop careers

= Regulatory managers monitor changes in
legislation and develop action plans

= External consultants provide quarterly
reports on regulatory change

» Legal teams maintain compliance pchcies
in areas such as antitrust, money laundenng
and anti-corrupticn laws, and provide
ongoing training 1o employees

Strategic relationships with suppliers
Multiple-source supply agreements far key
ingredient supphes

» Balanced portfolio of supply and tolling
contracts in operation with customers to
manage balance of raw matenal prices and
product sales prices and volume risks

w Raw matenal and energy purchasing policies
to provide security of supply

s Denvatives used where possible to hedge
exposure to movements in future pnces
of commodities

s The Group legal department, supported by
expert patent lawyers, morutors all patents

» Orgamsed and secure process for identifying
and recording nnovatons, trade secrets and
potential patentable ideas




Risk

Competitors may
achieve significant
advantage through
technological step
change or higher
service levels

Fallure to counter
negative perceptions
of the Group’s
products

Fatlure to mamntamn
high standards of
customer service and
identify important
consumer trends

Fatilure to manage
capital expenditure
and working capital
during the current
penod of uncertainty
and global economic
downturn

Failure to maintain

an effective system
of intemnat financial
controls

Fatlure to set out

a clear strategic
vision as well as
provide accurate

and timely information
to the market

Exchange rate
fluctuations

Impact and descrniption

Competitors could introduce a major
technological step change, such as significantly
improving the efficiency of a production process
and lowering costs (and thereby commoditising
products), or ntroduce a new product with
better functionality which in turn could lead to a
dechne in our sales and/or proftability We must
ensure we exceed or at least match competitors’
service and quality performance

We must be fully prepared to counter
unexpected/unfounded negative publicity
about our products

Not meeting the required service levels,
especially where the business 1s heavily
rehiant on a particular customer, and/or faliing
behind the curve on emerging dietary

trends could have a negative 'mpact on
performance and reputation

The ongoing relative scarcity of caprtal may
impact and restnct our investment decisions
We must manage our finances within strictly
controlled parameters, particularly when
external financial conditions are uncertain
and highly changeable

Without effective internal financial controls,

wa could be exposed to financial irregulartes
and losses from acts which could have a
significant impact on the ability of the business
to operate We must safeqguard business assets
and ensure accuracy and reliability of records
and financial reporting

The share price 1s based on the expectations

of a wide variety of market participants such

as analysts, brokers, investment funds and

other investors Media stories or rumours can
influence these expectations We must ensure
our communications are clear and timely to
enable the investment cormnmunity to efficiently
assess the Company’s value, and reduce the risk
of uncertainty and volatility in the share price

The Group operates 1n many different countries
and 1s subject to currency fluctuations arising

on transactional foreign currency exposures and
the translation of overseas subsidianes’ results
which could create earnings and balance sheet
volatility For example, a weakening of the US
dollar and the euro against sterling would have a
negative iImpact on net assets and shareholders’
funds reported In sterling

Examples of mitigating actions

250-strong global Innovation and
Commercial Development team to produce
nnovations in product development,
applications, manufactunng technology
and customer services

Innovation and Commercial Development
and regulatory teams substantiate relevant
product clams

Media relations department monitors Group
press coverage and has action plans to deal
with any negative publicity

Innovatton and Commercial Development
team works closely with customers and
adwisors to identrfy emerging trends
Annual consurner-facing research to
ensure we are aware of consumers’
needs and expectations

Global key account managers in place
for major customers

Capital expenditure procedures to control
and monitor allocation and spend
Significant projects approved and monitored
by the Board

Debt and working capital levels

monitored constantly and reported monthly
to the Board

Authonsation policies ensure that key tasks
are segregated to safeguard assets
Detaled internal finance and capital
expenditure manuals set out procedure
Group financial performance monitored
with monthly Board reports and regular
forecasting

Chief Executive and Group Finance Director
undertake detaled guarterly business and
financial reviews

Procedures to morutor Group hnanciat
performance and communicate with the
market via regular trading updates
Investor relations department, supported
by external advisors, ensures all
communications are timely, clear and
consistent and comply with regulatory and
legislative requirements

Borrowings in different foreign currencies,
principally US dollars, to provide partial
rnatch for the Group's major foreign
currency assets

Banking covenants for US$1 bilkon revolving
credit facility to ehminate the distortion of
foreign exchange volatiity

Group internal finance manual sets

out procedures on exchange rate risk
management policies
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Business review Performance

Group financial results

Summary of Group financial results

Constant
Actual currency
Yoar to Year to change change
£m {unless stated otherwise) 31 March 2010 31 March 2009 % %
Continuing operations
Sales 3 506 3553 (1 (6)
Adjusted operating profil 298 298 - (7}
Net finance expense {69) 1) {
Profit before tax, exceptional items and amortisauon 229 247 M {14)
Exceptional items {276) {119} :
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (14) (15) H
{Loss)profit befora tax {61) 113 H
Income tax credit/(expense) 84 | (19) d
Profit for the year from continuing operations 23 | 94 (76} ' (78)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 4 (24) :
Profit for the year 19 ' 70 (73} (90)
Earnings per share from continuing operations i
Basic 42p ¢ 19 5p (78) (81)
Diluted 42p | 19 4p (78) @1
Ad)justed earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic 391p . 382p 2 @
Diluted 38 9p , 38 0p 2 (2)
Dwidends per share '
Interim paid 68p 1 B8p -
Final proposed 16 1p | 16 1p -
229p | 22 9p -
Net debt : ;
At 31 March 814 | 1231 34 ¢ 27

Improvement in free cash flow’
Year to 31 March
£m

1 Free cash flow 1s defined as cash flow from
continung operations after interest taxation
and capital expenditure

Free cash flow improved from an inflow

of £154 mulhon in the 2009 financial year

to an inflow of £540 millien In the 2010
financial year This improvement was driven
principally by significant reductions In
working capstal across the business
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Underlying improvement in net debt
Year to 31 March
£m

Net debt reduced from £1,231 million

at 31 March 2009 to £814 milion at

31 March 2010 Before the effects of
exchange rates, net debt reduced by

£338 mikion in the 2010 financial year This
improvement reftects the resolute focus the
Group has placed on optimising cash flow
and actively managing our cost base

Improvement in net debt
to EBITDA? multiple
Year to 31 March

2 EBITDA 15 defined as eamings before interest,
tax depreciation and amortisation

Net debt to EBITDA is one of the key
performance indicators of our financial
strength The ratio improved to 1 B times
in 2010 compared to 2 4 times In the
comparative penad




Group financial results
Basis of preparation

Adjusted performance

Adjusted profit 1s reported as 1t provides both
management and investors with valuable
additional information on the performance of the
business The following items are excluded from
adyusted profit

» results of discontinued operations, including
gains and losses on disposal (Note 12),

= exceptional tems from continuing
operations {Note 7), and

» amortisation of acquired intangibles

This adjusted information 1s used nternally for
analysing the performance of the business

A reconcihation of reported and adjusted
nformation 1s included in Note 42

Impact of changes in exchange rates
Qur reported financial perfermance has been
positively impacted this year by exchange rate
transtation, in particular due te the strengthening
of the average US dollar and euro exchange
rates against stering The average and closing
exchange rates used to translate reported
results were as follows

Average rates Closing rates

2010 2009 2010 2009

US dollar stering 1 61 t80 152 143
Euro sterling 113 149 112 108

In addrion to the impact on profits, the
strengthering of the sterling closing exchange
rate has had the effect of reducing our net debt,
thereby benefiting reported net debt Further
details are set out n the net debt section below

Divisional financial performance

In the discussien of divisional financial
performance, we discuss performance as
reported, with sales and profits earned in foreign
currencies translated at the relevant average
exchange rates In the commentary, we also
discuss performance Iin constant currency
Constant currency comparisons have been
calculated by translating sales and profits in
underlying currencies for the prior year at the
average rates for the current year Constant
currency comparnsons provide an insight into the
movements in sales and cost levels driven by
the real local changes, measuring progress In the
underlying profitabiiity of the business

Primary and value added products
Value added products are defined as those

that utilise technology or intellectual property,
enabhing our customers to produce distinctive
products and us to obtain a price premium and/
or sustainable tigher margins Co-products
from our commodity corn milling and sugars
businesses are classified as prmary There have
been no material changes in classification of
products between value added and pnmary from
the comparative period

Summary of Group
performance

Sales of £3,508 muehon from continuing
operations were 1% lower than the prior year
After excluding the effects of exchangs, sales
were 6% lower

Primary sales decreased by 4% (8% in constant
currency) from £2,584 mithon to £2,476 million
This reducticn was principally due to lower co-
product income, lower industnal sales volumes
in both the Amencas and Europe and reduced
selling prices ot sugar and 1soglucose In Europe,
reflecting the mstituticnal prnice cuts iImplemented
under EV Sugar Regime reform Value added
sales Increased by 6% (flat in constant currency}
to £1,030 million, representing around 30% of
Group sales

Overall adjusted operating profit was in line with
the prior year (decreased by 7% in constant
currency) at £298 millton Adjusted operating
profits in Food & Industnal Ingredients, Americas
of £178 milhien were 2% below the pnor year
{10% n constant currency) as iower co-product
income and reduced industrial starch profis
were partly offset by increased profits from

value added food ngredients Food & Industnal
Ingredients, Europe achieved an increase mn
operating profits of 6% (4% 0 constant currency)
to £54 million, reflecting growth in value added
foed ingredients and Food Systems, partly offset
by weaker pnmary food and industral starch
margins Sugars delivered an increase of 150%
{100% i constant currency) to £30 million,
reflecting the expected ncrease In unit margins
within EU sugar during the second half of the
year Adjusted operating profits in Sucralose
reduced by 7% (9% tn constant currency) to

£67 milion, with lower unit operating margins
reflecting costs associated with the transition

1o a single manufacturing location Central

costs increased by £13 milion to £31 million,
due principally to one-off costs of £56 million
dunng the year associated with the review

and recrganisation of the Group's activities,

and certain one-off credits totaling £6 milion
recognised In the prior year

In addition to the effects of exchange rate
changes, operating profit has been affected

by a small number of one-off tems dunng the
2010 financial year we recogmsed income of
£3 million following surrender of isoglucose
quota in Romania, and incurred costs of £5
million relating to the review and reorgamisation
of the business performed during the year

Amartisation of acquired mtangibles totalling
£14 million (2009 - £15 milon) was marginally
below the prior year

Exceptional stems totalling a charge of

£276 million (2009 - £119 million) have been
addressed in the Chief Executive’s review
and are detaled in Note 7

The net finance expense from continuing
operations increased from £51 million to

£69 million The exchange impact within
interest accounted for an increase of £4 million
compared to the pnor year We recognised &
charge within interest expense in the current
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year relating to post-retirement benefit plans
of £19 million (2009 - £3 million) Interest
capitalised in the year reduced to £2 millron
from £11 millien in the comparative pernod,
refiecting lower levels of capital expenditure
and the decision to suspend completion and
commissioning of the Fort Dedge, lowa plant
Underlying net finance expense was below the
level of the prior year, reflecting significantly
lower lavels of average net debt

The loss before tax from continuing operations
on a statutory basis was £61 milhon compared
to a profit of £113 rmuthon in the pror year

The effective rate of tax on adusted profit

from continuing operations was 20 4%

{2009 - 27 3%) The decrease was due mainly
to changes in the geographical ongin of profits,
especially lower levels of profits in the USA, and
the impact of our Internal financing plan

Discontinued operations comprise our former
mternationat Sugar Trading business and the
residual activities in Eastern Sugar The operating
loss from discontinued operations totalled

22 mullion (2008 - £21 million, after exceptionat
losses of £22 muillion)

The exceptional losses for the year to

31 March 2008 of £22 milion arose from the
disposal of our international Sugar Trading
business A small number of mmnority interests
related to the international Sugar Trading
business was net included in the sale and Is
being addressed separately In accordance

with the related shareholders' agreements

The process of sale of these minonty interests
has continued through the 2010 financial year,
and 1s expected to be completed in the 2011
financial year Fair value losses relating to these
activitres of £10 milkon have been recognised In
the 2010 financial year through the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The loss from discontinued operations after
taxation for the year was £4 mithon (2009 -
£24 million})

Total basic earnings per share were 3 3p

(2009 - 14 2p), 77% lower than the pnior year
Total chiuted earnings per share were 3 3p

(2009 - 14 1p), down 77% from the prior year
Adjusted diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations were 38 9p (2009 - 38 Op},
an increase of 2% {(decrease of 2% in constant
currency) On the same basis, basic earmings per
share were higher by 2% (2% lower in constant
currency) at 39 1p (2008 - 38 2p)

Overview of divisional financial performance

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the performance of our divisions was as follows

Sales Ad|usted operating profit
2010 2009 Movement! 2010 2009 Movement!
£m £m % £m fm %
Food & Industrial
Ingredients, Americas 1855 1797 | {2) 178 181 (10}
Food & Industrial
Ingredients, Europe 491 539 ! (15) 54 51 4
Sugars 973 1048 , (0 30 12 100
Sucralose 187 169 4 67 72 | {9
Central - - n/a {31) (18); (72)
Continuing operations 3 506 3553 (6) 298 298 7
Sales Adjusted operating profit
2010 2009 Maovement' 2010 2009 Mavement'
£m £m % £m £m %
Primary 2476 2584 | 8) 125 132 | (13)
Value added 1030 969 . - 204 184 ! 5
Central - - n/a 3%) (18) 2 72)
Continuing operations 3 506 3553 6} 298 298 | {7)

1 On a constart currency basis (adjusting 2009 reported figures using 2010 exchange rates)
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Food & Industrial Ingredients, Americas

Year to 31 March 2010

Year to 31 March 2009

Value Value

Primary added Total Primary added Toral
£m £m £m £m m £m

Sales .
Food 082 382 1364 878 : 369 1247
tndustnal 327 164 | 491 393 ¢ 157 i 850
1309 546 . 1855 1271 526 | 1797

Adjusted operating :

profit/{loss) | : !
Food 85 98 | 183 95 i 83 | 178
Industria! {8) 3 {5) 3 - 3
77 101 | 178 o8 ' 83, 181

Margin ;
Food 87% 257% 13.4% 108% . 225% . 14 3%
Industnal 24)% 18% ' (10)% 08% ' - 05%
Total 5.9% 185% ! 96% T7% | 15 8% 10 1%

Market conditions

Primary

US domestic demand for nutritive sweeteners

m the 2010 financial year continued its gradual
long-term downward trend although, during the
second half of the 2010 financial year, exports of
corn sweeteners to Mexico increased, offsetting
this impact Higher Mexican demand was driven
by high sugar prices in the Mexacan market, and
a relative strengthening of the Mexican peso,
which increased the competitiveness of US
corn sweeteners

US ethanol production increased to around

10 8 billion gallons in the 2009 calendar year
from 9 3 billion gallons in the prior year The
industry continued to commission capacity in
order to meet the increased demand for corn-
based ethanol mandated under the Renewable
Fuel Standard O pnices rose steadily
throughout the 2010 financial year, to close at
around US$80 per barrel at 31 March 2010,

and US gasoline prices remained at a premium
to ethanol selling pnces from the middie of the
2009 calendar year However, with ample supply
of corn-based ethanaol in US markets, there was,
at most, a modest cash margin in spot ethanol
markets durning the 2010 financial year Lower
levels of profitability in ethanol have also placed
pressure on pricing and unit margins of native
starch products, since the industry has some
abiity to swing capacity between product lines in
response to changes in relative returns

Demand for industnal starches, primanly used
in paper and packaging production, recovered
modestly from the levels expenenced durnng
the second half of the 2009 financial year, and
showed sequential quarterly growth in the final
quarter of the 2010 financial year, although

still significantly below the levels expenienced
before the economic downturn The markets for
industrial starches remain challenging due both
to lower levels of demand and margin pressure
from US wet rmull ethanaol capacity

Record corn yietds and a targe corn ¢rop in the
2009 calendar year produced a more stable
corm price environment In the 2010 financial
year compared with the prior year Lower corn
qualty, from the late 2009 harvest following wet
condhitions during autumn 2009 1n much of the

US corn belt, caused some production 1ssues
for all corn processors US corn acreage I1s
expected to increase in 2010, and corn pnces
are expected to remamn at levels expenenced In
recent menths

The market for corn gluten feed continued to

be challenging, due both to pressure on US
livestock numbers which affected demand, and
the competitive impact of huigher dry mill ethanol
production, which drove the continuing increase
in supply of distilters’ dry grans, a subshitute
ingredient in ammal feed apphications Access to
EU markets for corn co-products manufactured
from EU-approved GM varmaties has reopened,
although export activity remained limited due to
a lack of US competitiveness

Value added

Qverall, the market for value added food
ingredients remained steady throughout the 2010
financial year, although consumer focus on the
trends of health and wellness and convenience
has continued to drive growth in these areas

Demand patterns for value added ndustral
starches remained at levels below those
experienced before the economic downturn,
consistent with the trend expenenced in the
primary industnal starch markets

Financial performance

Sales of £1,855 million were 3% above the

prior year (2% lower in constant currency)

The decrease in constant currency was driven
principally by the impact of lower co-product
values Adjusted operating profit of £178 million
was 2% below the prior year {10% n constant
currency) The effect of exchange translation was
to increase operating profit by £17 rmllion

Primary

Sales increased by 3% to £1,309 million
{decreased by 2% n constant currency)
Operating profits decreased by £21 mulhon to
£77 million, a reduction of 21% (29% n constant
currency) Co-product income was significantly
below the comparative penod, which benefited
from strong prices during the commedity price
peak of summer 2008 Corn prices n the

USA saw an unprecedented spike in the 2008
calendar year reaching almost US$8 per bushel
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m July 2008 Corn co-product prices also peaked
during the third quarter of the 2008 calendar year
However, the subsequent fall in corn and soy
pnces resulted in corresponding price dechnes

for corn gluten feed, corn gluten meal, and corn
ol Crude ol prices peaked at almost US$150 per
barrel in July 2008, but fell rapidly to below
US$40 per barrel dunng the second half of the
2008 calendar year Corn gluten feed seling prices
wers weak during the 2010 financia! year due both
to lower demand, followirg reductions in US beef
and dairy herds, and an increased supply of the
co-product from dry mill ethanol production

Primary food sales of £982 million were 12%
higher than the prior year (7% in constant
currency) Operating profits of £85 mullion were
11% below the prior year (18% n constant
currency) The reduction in operating profit was
due to lower co-product income from the sale of
corn ol Excluding the impact of co-products,
operating profits in pnmary food were marginally
above the prior year Total sales volumes within
primary food were marginally above the prior
year, as increased sweetener demand from
Mexico in the second half of the 2010 financial
year contrasted with a modest destocking effect
expenenced across all major preduct lines in the
second half of the prior year

Operating profits from primary sweeteners in the
second haif of the 2010 financial year were below
the comparative period, reflecting margms n the
final quarter somewhat below the pror year

Profits at Almex, cur Mexican cereal sweeteners
and starches joint venture, were marginally below
the prior year due to a modest reduction in unit
margins Our citnc acid business performed well,
with sohd improvement in operating profit over the
prior year reflecting strong global demand

Primary industnal sales (comprising ethanol, native
industnial starches and amimal feed co-products)
of £327 milhon were 17% below the prior year
{21% in constant currency) Operating losses of
£8 millton 1n the 2010 financial year compared with
operating profits of £3 miion n the prnor year The
reduction in operating profits was due principatly
to lower industna! starch profits and lower ammal
feed co-product income

Industnial starch profits m the 2010 financial year
were lower than the prior year due te lower levels
of underlying demand {which reduced markedly
from the third quarter of the 2009 financial year)
and to additional demand in the comparative
penod following the floods in lowa during 2008
which affected producthion at competitor plants
Demand remains relatively weak in the US
domestic paper and packaging markets, and the
relative strength of the US dollar has adversely
impacted the overseas competitiveness of our
major customers [ndustrial starch prices and
margins have aiso come under pressure from
lower ethanol returns, as the industry has

some ability to swing capacity between these
oroduct ines

Ethanol losses were broadly in kne with the
comparative penod Although US ethanol markets
improved shghtly in the second half of the 2010
financial year, with a modest cash margin returming
to spot markets, ethanol activities in the second
half of the 2010 financiat year still generated an
operating loss
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Following a detailed analysis of end markets, in
hght of costs of around £70 milion to complete
and commssion our plant in Fort Dodge, and
factoring In the risks associated with future
returns from completing and operating the

plant, we have concluded that the plant ts hughly
unhkely to be completed or commissioned in the
foreseeable future As a result, the facility has
been mothballed and written down to £17 mihon,
leading to an imparment of £217 milion which has
been recognised as an exceptional charge in the
2010 financiat year A further exceptional charge
of approximately £25 million will be recognised
dunng the 2011 financial year in respect of long-
term contracts relating to the facility

Value added

Value added ingredients sales increased by 4%
to £546 million (decreased by 3% in constant
currency) Operating profits increased by 22%
(12% n constant currency) to £101 mullion

Operating profits from value added food ingreased
by 18% (9% in constan! currency) to £98 milion
reflecting firmer pricing and steady demand
patterns We have continued to expenence

good growth in sales volurnes of our wellness
ingredients PROMITOR™ Soluble Corn Fiber
performed strongly, with several major custamers
launching new products containing this ingredient
during the year in order to meet increased
consumer demand

Operating prohts from value added industrial
ingrechents were £3 mullion, compared with break
even In the prior year Operating profits from
value added industnal starches were broadly in
line with the prior year while demand patterns
have stabilised at levels somewhat below those
experenced immedsately following the economic
downturn, unit margins continue to be under
pressure Tha Bio-PDO™ joint venture broke even
in the 2010 financial year, having made a small
loss in the pnor year

Looking forward

Dernand for value added food ingredients has
proved steady, and we expect this trend to
continue Within our primary food markets, we
expect domeshc demand for corn sweeteners to
continue 1ts long-term trend of gradual deciine,
although Mexico currently represents an attractive
market for US sweeteners

Whilst we have seen a degree of improvement

in demand for industrial starches from the levels
experenced during the second half of the 2009
financial year, with lower capacity utihsation

levels in key US end markets and reduced expont
markets, we remain cautious about the tirmng and
extent of further improvement in demand

Visibility over the timing of any improvement in
ethanol markets remains imited

Corn costs have weakened since the start of
the calendar year with the expectation of a large
US corn crop in calendar year 2010 The level
of net corn costs will, as usual, be a key factor
In determining performance in the coming
financial year




Food & Industrial Ingredients, Europe

Year to 31 March 2010

Year to 31 March 2009

Value Valua
Primary added Total Pnmary added Total
£m £m &m £m £m Em
Sales
Food 133 225 i 358 170 208 376
Industriat 133 - 133 163 - 163
266 225 491 333 i 206 539
Adjusted operating ;
profit/(loss)
Food 24 a3 57 27 24 51
Industnai 3) - {3) - - -
21 3 54 27 24 51
Margin
Food 18 0% ; 14 7% 15 9% 15 9% 117% 136%
Industrial 23)% ! - 2 3% - - -
Total 79% - 14 7% | 11 0% B81% ! 7% 95%

Market conditions

Pnmary

Volumes of Isoglucose produced within the EU
are regulated via quota as part of the EU Sugar
Regime The selling price of 1soglucose 1s inked
to the price of sugar but, unhke sugar, the raw
material Input price 1s not regutated During

the four-year process of reform, isoglucose
producers paid a restructuring levy, but alse had
therr guotas increased by 60% The payment

of these levies ceased on 30 Septernber 2009
Through our Eaststarch joint-venture, and ts 50%
share In the Hungrana joint-venture facility, the
Group has an econormc interest in approximatety
55% of the EU's 1soglucose quotas

European demand tor corn-based sweeteners
for use in fermentation {which 1s not subject

to quota control) continued to be adversely
impacted by competition from out-of-quota
sugar stocks, which act as a substitute for this
purpose Market demand for other pnmary

food ingredients in the 2010 financial year was
relatively steady at levels marginally below those
experienced before the economic downturn

Industrial starch markets in Europe have
rematned challengng With demand still
materally below the levels expertenced before
the economic downturn and greater competition
from other carbohydrate sources, notably wheat
and potato starches, pricing in this marke! has
been under considerable pressure

The good Eurcpean corn crop of 2008 was
followed by another in 2009, and net corn costs
have remamed at similar, lower levels throughout
the 2010 financial year

Value added

Demand for value added food ingredients has
remained steady Consumer focus on health
and wellness continues to drive market growth
In this area

Financial performance

Sales decreased by 9% to £491 mullion (15%

in constant currency) Adjusted operating profit
increased by 6% to £54 million {4% in caonstant
currency} EU restructunng aid totalling £3 million
(2009 — £11 millton) was recognised during

the year, followtng the surrender of 1soglucose

quota in Romanta Excluding restructuring aid in
both years, operating profit increased by 24%
in constant currency The effect of exchange
translation was to increase profit by £1 milhon

The Single Ingredients business achieved a result
marginally below the prior year Lowaer levels

of capacity utilisation impacted unit margins,
particularly in the second half of the year

The Food Systems business reported a result
shghtly ahead of the pnor year, reflecting robust
demand patterns and continuing benefit from the
integration of this business

Prnimary

Sales of primary products decreased by 20%
to £266 million (25% 1n constant currency)
Operating profit reduced from £27 milion to
£21 million, a decreass of 22% (22% in
constant currency}

Within pnmary food ingredients, hquid sweetener
volumes were broadly i line with the prior year
Sweetener volumes reduced following closure of
the Greek plant, but the business continued to
benefit from its increased EU i1soglucose quota
and, dunng the year, completed the expansion
of 1Isoglucose capacity at our joint-venture plant
in Slovakia However, against the backdrop of
lower levels of demand we have seen following
the economic downturn, urit margins in non-
quota pnimary food were below the level of

the prior year, reflecting a more competitive
marketplace, particularly dunng the second half
of the 2010 financial year

Bunng the first half of the 2010 financial year,
the division recognised a charge of £4 million
representing the final levies payable into the
EU restructuring fund During the second half
of the 2010 financial year, restructuring aid

of £3 miulon was recognised following our
decision to surrender aur Romanian 1soglucose
quota During the second half of the pror year,
restructunng aid of £11 millon was recognised
following the surrender of the small 1soglucose
quotas in the Netherlands and Greece

Primary industnal ingredients generated an
operating loss of £3 million i the year, compared
to a result of breakeven in the prior year Sales
volumes were below the pnior year, and unit
margins came under pressure In an increasingly
competitive marketplace
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Busimess review anonnianee

Value added

Value added sales increased from £206 mithon to
£225 million, an increase of 8% (2% 1n constant
currency} Operating profits increased by 38%
(32% In constant currency) to £33 million

We achieved value added operating profit
growih n both Single Ingredients and Food
Systems Single Ingredients’ sales volumes
increased shightly, and unit margins increased
with improved pricing  Volumes benefited

from the successful commissioning of the new
polydextrose line at our plant in the Netherlands,
the first polydextrose production facility in
Europe Food Systems performed above the prior
year, as demand In key markets proved relatively
robust In the face of the economic downturn

Looking forward

Performance in the coming financial year will, as
usual, be influenced by European cereal prices
following this year's harvest Isoglucose prices
will continue to be linked to EU sugar prices,
which appear to have stabilised following the
completion of regime reform While we expect
continuing stabiity in demand from food and
beverages customers, we remain cautious over
the extent and timing of recovery in mdustnal
starch markets

Sugars
Year to 31 March 2010 Year to 3t March 2009
Value Valug
Primary added Total Prmary added Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Sales : : '
Products 673 | 72 745 71 68 | 779
Molasses 228 | - 228 269 , - 269
901 ¢ 72, 973 980 | 68 1048
Adjusted operating : '
profit/(loss} ! . :
Products 14 3’ 17 (11}, 5 (6)
Molasses 13 - 13 18 - 18
27 ! 3 30 7! 5 12
Margin ' :
Products 21% , 42% 23% (15)% , 74% | 08)%
Molasses 57% | - 57% 67% - 87%
Total 30% ' 42% 31% 07% 7 4% : 11%

Market conditions

EU sugar

The sugar and 1seglucose markets within

the EU are regulated by EU Sugar Regime
legislation, part of the EUJ Common Agricultural
Policy A four-year period of reform, which saw
the surrender of almost six milhon tonnes of
beet sugar quotas and a reduction in the EU
institutional price structures of 36%, ended on
1 October 2009 with the implementation of the
final quota and price cuts

During the reform period, the market was
charactensed by oversupply, because the timing
of the beet quota surrender was later than initially
forecast by the EU Commussign However, as

24 Tate & Lyle Annual Report 2010

expected, from 1 October 2009, the market has
become betier balanced, leading to improved
unit refirung margins for EU sugar processors

Under the new regime, preferential access
rights for cane sugar imports are granted to

an expanded, but still limited, set of supplier
countries The supply of raw cane sugar in the
EU market has come under mcreasing pressure
n recent months both because supply from
preferential sources has not grown as quickly
as foreseen In the reform process and because
increased world sugar prices, which recently
hit 30-year highs, have reduced the economic
incentive to export all preferential

raw sugar to the EU market




Vietnam

Sugar prices in the Vietnamese market have
rematined strong due to the spike in world prices,
and the impact of grassy green shoot disease,
which has reduced sugar cane output In

the region

Molasses

In the molasses market, traded volumes have
reduced from the prior year, atthough prices and
margins have remained relatively strong

Financial performance

Sales reduced by 7% to £973 milion (10% in
constant currency} This reduction principally
reflected lower average selling prices following
the final EU institutional price cut on 1 October
2009 and lower traded molasses volumes

Adjusted operating profit increased by 150% to
£30 million (100% in constant currency) reflecting
improved margins n the EU during the second
half of the 2010 financial year, following the 1
October 2009 price change Performance also
benefited from lower energy and distribution
costs We recognised £17 million of transihonal
aid in the year (2008 —~ £17 millon) We will
recognise the finat £8 § million of transiional aid
in the six months to 30 September 2010 The
effect of exchange translation was to increase
profit by £3 million

Our Vietnamese cane sugar bustness, Nghe An
Tate & Lyle, performed marginally ahead of the
pnor year, with improved seling prices more than
offsetting lower sales volumes

Following a further decline in the commercial
praspects of our sugar refining business in israel
we have recogmsed an exceptional charge of
£15 million (2009 - £9 millon) representing a

full write-down of the fixed assets and an
inventory impairment

Primary

Adjusted operating profit increased by £20 milton
to £27 milhon Unit margins increased i atl of our
major EU industrial markets from 1 October 2009,
although total sales volumes in the 2010 financial
year were marginally below the prior year Lower
natural gas prices led to lower energy costs in
the year while improvements in supply chan
management led to a reduction In distnibution
costs

Our molasses and storage business performed
well n the year, with operating profit of

£13 millon This was below the exceptionally
strang profits of €18 million achieved in the
comparative period when the sharp spike In
cereal prces during the summer of 2008 led to
very high dermand and prices for molasses

Value added

Operating profit of £3 mithion was 40% below
the pror year (50% in constant currency) as the
UK retail sugar marketplace remained extremely
competitive during the year

Securning raw sugar supplies

The business has worked hard to address

the challenge of raw sugar supply In July 2009,
Mitr Lao, our joint venture in Laos, delivered

its first sugar to our UK refinery This was the
first sugar delivered to Europe from Asia under
the Everything Bul Arms {(EBA) inttiative We
anticipate growth from this project, and others
in Laos and Cambodia, 1 future years In Apnit
2010, we announced that we have entered into
an agreament with the Jamaican government for
the supply of 100,000 tonnes of sugar in the
2011 calendar year

During the year, we also formed a technical
support group to work with our preferential

cane sugar suppher partners to grow their

sugar ndustries sustainably and profitably

Led by a Tate & Lyle employee with over 30
years’ experence in the cane sugar supply chamn,
this group will help our partners improve ther
performance in field, factory and logistics

Looking forward

in the 2011 financial year, we expect unit refining
margins in EU sugar to remain at levels simitar to
those achieved durng the second half of the 2010
financial year Before the impact of transitional
aid, with lower levels of capacity utilisation, we
expect operating profits from EU sugar to be
marginally above the level achieved i the

2010 financial year
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Business review Performance

Sucralose

Year to 31 March 2010 Year to 31 March 2009
Value Value

Pnmary agded Total Primary added Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Sates - 187 . 187 - 169 ; 169
Adjusted operating profit - 67 | 67 - 72, 72
Margin -1 358% ; 358% - 426% | 42 6%

Market conditions

We estimate that the value of the giobal market
for mgh-intensity sweeteners (HIS) remained flat
at around US$1 2 billion in the 2009 calendar
year SPLENDA® Sucralose agan increased is
share of the HIS market, increasing from 25% to
26% during the year, ganing share within every
major geographic region

During the year, SPLENDA® Sucralose also
continued to capture an increasing share of
new product launches containing HIS Total
product launches containing HiS increased
by 11% year on year, while those containing
SPLENDA® Sucralose Increased by 15%
Geographically, the majorty of new products
launched with SPLENDA® Sucralose were in
Japan, Latin Amenca and Europe

Customer product launches

During the year, there were a number of

notable customer product launches, product
ine extensions and reformulations using
SPLENDA® Sucralose New product launches
included Pepsi Max in China, Fanta flavoured
beverages in Belgium, Orange Crush in

Mexico, Cadbury Beldent Chewing Gum in
Argentina, and Colgate Wisp in the USA  After
experiencing success in the market, products
such as Gatorade G2 and Piisbury Reduced
Sugar Bakery Mixes and Frostings extended
therr product Iines Hansen's Monster Energy
expanded Inte the European market, and 1s
now avallable in Australia, the Netherlands,

UK, France, Belgium, Spain and South Africa
SPLENDA® Sucralose has continued to lead the
energy drink market as the preferred sweetener
Private 1abel manufacturers continue to
reformulate using SPLENDA® Sucralose, offering
products for key retailers such as Kroger, Target,
Schwan's, Aldi, Sansbury's and Wal-Mart

Financial performance

Total sales volumes increased by 14%, with
growth principally in Europe, Latin Amenca and
Asia Pacific Sales revenue ncreased by 11%
to £187 miion (4% n constant currency) with
volume growth partly offset by lower average
selling prices Average selling prices reduced
due to volume-incentive arrangements in long-
term customer contracts and a more competitive
HIS market The effect of exchange translation
was to increase operating profit by £2 mithon

Following the sigmvficant yield improvements
achieved dunng the 2008 financial year, and the
consequent decision to produce all sucralose
at our fourth-generation faciiity In Singapore,
the process of mothballing our sucralose plant
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n Mcintosh, Alabama was completed ahead of
expectations, accelerating the benefit of lower-
cost production

Adjusted operating profit reduced by 7% (9% in
constant currency) to £67 milion This decrease
was driven by one off credits of around £4 million
n the prior year and lower urmit margins, reflecting
the non-exceptional costs ansing from the
recrgamsation of the sucralose manutacturing
footprint, together with the relatively mgh costs in
opening inventory which impacted cost of sales
in the 2010 financial year These impacts were
partly mitigated by reduced operating costs from
running a single plant during the latter part of

the financial year

Operating margins of 35 8% were below the
underlying margins in the high 30% range
achieved In the 2009 financial year, but ahead
of management’s expectations due to a

degree of customer re-stocking boosting sales
volumes during the early part of the year and
the accelerated caplure of cost benefits from
running a single plant during the latter part of
the year Reported operating margin i the 2009
financial year was 42 6% After adjusting for
one-off credits, including those ansing from

the final settlement of deferred consideration
payable to McNeil, underlying operating margins
for the 2009 year were in the high 30% range

Followtng the decision to mothball Mclntosh,
we recognised an exceptional charge in the
first half of the 2010 financial year of £55 mithon
representing the anticipated cash costs
associated with this decision Cash costs

of £19 mikon were paid during the 2010
financial year

Looking forward

We expect our strategy of putting in place long-
term customer contracts with volume incentive
arrangements to continue to drive sales volume
growth at lower average selling prices We have
contracted the vast majority of sales for
calendar year 2010, and a majonty of sales

for calendar year 2011, much of it through
multi-year agreements

Having now consumed substantially all of

the hugher-priced inventory produced within
the two plant manufacturing footprint, in the
2011 financial year we will achieve a full year's
penefit from concentrating ali production at
the Singapore plant As previously stated, we
therefore expect operating margms in the
2011 financial year to move back to the high
30% range




Other financial information

Central costs

Central costs, which include head office, treasury

and remsurance activities, increased by £13 million to

£31 million Costs totaling £5 million arose from the review
and rearganisation of the Group’s activities performed
during the year The prior year included one-off credits
totalling £6 milhon

Central costs in the 2011 financial year, excluding any
amounts related to the reorganisation of the Group's activities,
are expected to be broadly i line with the reported charge for
the 2010 financial year

Energy costs

Energy costs for the year were £193 mihon (2009 -

£208 million), a decrease of 7% (11% n constant currency)
The improvement of £25 million 1n constant currency

was due pnincipally to lower prices {£14 miliion) and
efficiency improvements (£11 million) We have covered
approximately 65% of our eshmated energy needs for

the 2011 financial year at prices broadly n line with levels
n the 2010 financial year

Exceptional items from continuing operations

£m 2010 2009
UK Group Penswon Scheme changes 42 -
Closura and restruciunng costs {58} -
Wrte-off of assets {28) 24y
Impairment charges (232) (106}
Settlement with Mexican government - 1

Exceptional items {276) (119)

Exceptional items within our continwing operations durnng
the year totalled a net charge of £276 million

With regard to our plant in Fert Dodge, lowa, In the last

few months we have conducted detailed analyses of the

end markets which the plant would supply under our new
capital management processes The continuing depressed
and volatite outlook for ethanol, and uncertain conditions in
ndustrial starch and corn gluten feed markets, do noet provide
any basis to complete and commission the plant

Changes in feed and energy markets, together with the
reconfiguration of technology required following our
expenence of instaling new equipment at our Loudon plant,
along with remobilisation costs, would mean that, if we were
to complete Fort Dodge, total addiional costs would now
be in the region of £70 million

Factoring in the nisks associated with future returns from the
plant, Including the length of time to complete, regulatory
uncertainty and a continuation of the current market
conditions, we have concluded that the plant 1s highly unhkely
to be completed or commissioned in the foreseeable future
As a result, the facility has been mothballed and written down
to £17 millton, leading to an imparment of £217 milion which
has been recogmised as an exceptional charge 1 the 2010
financial year A further exceptional charge of approximately
£25 milhon will be recognised during the 2011 financial year
in respect of long-term contracts relating to the faciity We will
continue to seek ways to maximise shareholder value from
the Fort Dodge plant in these circumstances

An exceptional gain of £42 million has been recogrised In
relation to changes announced to the Group Pension Scheme
in the UK Of the total gain, £32 million relates to a negative
past service cost following the removal of the early retirement
discretion from November 2009 and £10 mihon relates to

a curtailment gain as a resuit of the decision to close the
scheme to future benefit accrual for employee members

from Apni 2011

Within our Sucralose division, we have recognised an
exceptional charge of £55 million in relation to the decision

to mothball the Sucratose manufacturing facilities in

Mclntosh, Alabama The charge covers costs connected with
redundancy, clean-up activities and ongoing fixed costs, and
includes provision for costs to final closure The cash outflows
in the year totalled £19 mithon and the remaining balance Is
expected to be spent in the years ending 31 March 2011 and
31 March 2012

The reorganisation of our food systems business m Europe
will lead to exceptional cash costs totalling £7 milhon, of
which £3 million has been recognised in the 2010 financial
year, with the balance expecied to be recognised i the
2011 financial year

within the Food & Industrial Ingredients, Amencas segment,
following a review of research and development projects in
the context of our new strategic focus, we have recognised
an exceptional charge of £28 milhon in relation to a pilot plant
and related assets since we no longer intend to pursue these
products to full-scale production

The Group has recogrised a further impairment charge of
£15 million at its sugar refining business in Israel compnsing
a full write-down of the fixed assets and an inventory
impairment following a further decline in the business's
commercial prospects

The tax impact on continuing net exceptional tems in the
2010 financial year totalied a £112 mllion credit (2009 -

£44 million credit) Tax credits on exceptional costs are only
recogmised to the extent that losses incurred will result In tax
recaverable in the future In addition, an exceptional tax credit
of £15 million has been recognised i the 2010 financial year
in respect of the release of certan tax provisions

Exceptional tems from continuing operations In the 2009
financial year compnised an impawment charge of £97 million
i connection with the mothbaling of our Mcintosh, Alabama
sucralose facihty, a charge of £24 million in relation to a
dispute with a suppher over the performance and suitability
of ethanol dehydration equipment, a credit of £11 million
representing our share of the £22 million settlement of the
NAFTA case agamnst the Mexican government in relation to
the sales tax imposed on soft dninks containing imported
high fructose corn syrup (HFCS), and an impairrment of

£9 million followng a review of the carrying value of our
sugar refinery in Israg!

Costs associated with the reorganisation

of the Group’s activities

Exceptional costs of £8 rmilhon associated with the
reorganisation and restructuring of the Group's actvities are
expected to be recogmised in the 2011 financial year, with
further exceptional costs expected to be in the region of
£13 million the following year These cash costs are expected
subsequently to pay back within two years Additionally,

we are developing a detalled implementation plan for a
common, glabal IS/IT platform, which we anticipate will

be implemented over the next 24 months
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Business review Performancs

Net finance expense

The net finance expense from continuing operations increased
from £51 milhon to £69 mithon The exchange impact within
Interest accounted for an increase of £4 million compared to
the pnior year We recognised a charge within interest expense
in the current year relating to post-retirement benefit plans

of £19 million (2008 - £3 million) Interest capitalsed in the
year reduced to £2 mithon from £11 mulhon in the comparative
penod, reflecting lower levels of capitat expenditure and the
decision to suspend completion and commissioning of the Fort
Bodge, lowa plant Underlying net finance expense was below
the level of the prior year, reflecting significantly lower lavels of
average net debt

L.ower levels of average net debt will benefit interest expense
in the 2011 financial year, although the mix of debt will cause
the average cost of debt to Increase over the previous year We
expect net interest charges related to post-retirement benefit
plans to be around £6 mihon in the 2011 financial year

The effective interest rate in the year on total operations,
calculated as net finance expense excluding net financing
charges relating to retirement benefits and including capitahised
interest, divided by average net debt, was 5 3% (2009 — 5 0%)
Interest cover for total operations, calculated on a bank
covenant basis, was 5 8 imes (2009 -6 1 times)

Taxation

The taxation charge from continuing eperations before
exceptional tems and amortisation of acquired mtangible
assets was £47 million {2009 - £68 milhon) The effective

rate of tax on adjusted profit was 20 4% (2008 - 27 3%) The
decrease was due manly to changes in the geographical ongin
of profits, especially lower levels of profits in the USA, and the
impact of our internal fmancing plan

If the mix in the geographical ongin of profits in the year to
31 March 2011 s similar to those in the year to 31 March 2010,
the tax rate 15 expected to remain in the low 20% range

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations comprise our former international
Sugar Trading business and the residual activities in Eastern
Sugar Sales from discontinued operations for the year
amounted to £101 miion (2009 - £852 million)

The operating loss from discontinued cperations totalled
£2 rmulhon (2008 - £21 mulhon, after exceptional losses of
£22 million)

The exceptional losses for the year to 317 March 2009 of

£22 millien arose from the disposal of our international Sugar
Trading business A small number of minonty interests related
to the international Sugar Trading business was not included
in the sale and 1s beng addressed separately in accordance
with the related shareholders’ agreements The process of
sale of these minenty interests has continued through the
2010 financial year, and 1s expected to be completed in the
2011 financial year, far valug losses of £10 million have been
recognised in the financial year through the conschdated
statement of comprehensive ncome

The loss from discontinued operations after taxation for the
year was £4 milion (2008 - £24 miliion)

Earnings per share

Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
were 38 Sp (2009 - 38 Op), an mcrease of 2% {(decrease 0f 2%
In constant currency} On the same basis, basic earnings per
share were higher by 2% (2% lower in constant currency) at

39 1p (2009 - 38 2p)

Jotal basic earnings per share were 3 3p (2009 - 14 2p), 77%
lower than the prior year Total diuted earnings per share were
3 3p {2009 - 14 1p}, down 77% from the prior year
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Dividend

The Board 1s recommending a maintaned final dividend of
16 1p, making a full-year dividend of 22 9p per share, in line
with the prior year The proposed final dividend of 16 1p
{2009 - 16 1p) will be due and payable on 30 July 2010 to all
shareholders on the Register of Members at 25 June 2010

A scrip dwidend alternative 1s being offered

An interim dividend of 6 8p (2009 - 6 8p) was paid on

8 January 2010 Adjusted earnings dividend cover, based
on total gperations, was 1 7 times (2009 - 1 7 times} and for
continuing operations was 1 7 times (2009 - 1 7 times)

The dvidend was covered 5 2 times by free cash flow
{2008 - 1 5 times)

Cash flow

2010 2009

£m £m

Ad)justed operating profit 298 208
Deprecitation/amortisation’ 122 117
Change in working capital 291 31
Shars-based payments 5 5
Operating cash flow 716 451
Capital expenditure {79) (224)
Operating cash flow less capital expenditure 637 227

2010 2609

£m £m

Food & Industrial Ingredients, Amercas 381 293
Food & Industrial Ingredients, Europe 109 102
Sugars 143 10
Sucralose 109 70
Central (26} (24)
Cperating cash flow 716 454
Food & Industnial Ingredients, Americas
capital expenditure (30) (158)
Other capital expenditure 49) (66)
Operating cash flow less capital expenditure 637 227

1 Amortisation other than acgured intangibles

Operating cash flow from continuing operations increased by
59% to £716 milhon (2009 - £451 mithon) driven principalty by
strong working capital nflows during the 2010 financial year

Working capital inflows totalled £291 million (2009 -

£31 milhon) The continued reduction in inventory levels
generated cash inflows of £113 milion (2009 - £113 million),
while iImprovements from receivables and payables generated
inflows of £175 milkon {2009 - £33 milhon} Margin calls
reduced, resulting n an nflow of £35 million (2009 - outflow
of £70 million) Net interest paid totalled £59 million (2009 —
£56 rmillion} Income tax paid from continuing cperations was
£38 rmillon (2008 — £17 million}, with the lower pror year tax
outflow being dnven by one-off refunds in both the UK and the
USA Capital expenditure of £79 million {2009 — £224 million),
at around two-thirds of the depreciation charge, reduced
signficantly from the prior year following the completion of the
four-year capital expendrture programme In the year ending
31 March 2011, we would expect capital expenditure to be
broadly i line with depreciation

Free cash inflow (representing cash generated from continuing
operations less interest, taxation and capital expendrture)
totalled £540 milhion (2009 ~ inflow of £154 million)

Within discontinued operations, net cash outflows totalled
£54 milion, including a £26 milhon repayment of proceeds
to Bunge foliowing completion of the sale of international
Sugar Trading The remaining outflows primarnly relate to
retained counterparty posihons that were not included
the sale to Bunge

During the year, the Group paid around £21 milhon to acqure a
further 15% n G C Hahn & Co (Hahn), following the exercise



of an option by Hahn Familien GmbH, the former owner of
Hahn, set out In the original acquistion agreement, requiring
Tate & Lyle to acquire this shareholding Tate & Lyle acquired
80% of the 1ssued share capital of Hahn on 15 June 2007 The
option consideration paid for the 15% was fixed under the
terms of the onginal acquisition agreement, and 15 equivalent
pro rata to the value paid for the 80% stake The acquisition
agreement allows for Tate & Lyle to acquire the remaining 5%
of the 1ssued share capital of Hahn pnor to 1 January 2020
through put and call options

Equity dividends paid in cash were £103 milion (2009 —

£104 milkon} In total, we paid a net of £162 milhon (2009 —~
£160 miltion) to providers of finance in the form of dividends
and interest We recognised a net inflow of £2 million refating
to employee share option exercises during the year (2009 -
£3 million), and a net cutflow of £6 mithen from repurchase of
our own shares by the Employee Share Qwnership Trust
(2009 - £nil)

Net cash generated (defined as cash fram operating activities,
investing activiies and share 1ssues, less shares repurchased
and dividends) amounted to £347 million (2009 — £245 million}

Net debt

Net debt reduced from £1,231 milion at 31 March 2009 to
£814 rmilhon at 31 March 2010, prnimanly due to significant
warking capital inflows and lower levels of capital expenditure
The effects of exchange provided a benefit of £79 million

The Group’s debt 1s primarily denominated n US dollars and
euros to match the underlying currencies of the operational
cash flows and net assets and, therefore, as sterhing has
strengthened aganst the US dollar and the suro duning the
year, net debt reported in sterling has reduced

Dunng the year, net debt peaked at £1,247 million in Aprid 2009
(2009 - peak of £1,530 million in December 2008) The average
net debt was £1,020 million, a reduction of £210 million from
£1,230 mdhion in the prior year

Net assets
Return on net

As at 31 March operating assets
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m %
Net operating assets/
habiities
Food & Industrial
Ingredients, Americas 700 1186 19 18
Food & Industrial
Ingredients, Europe 471 530 9 8
Sugars 296 385 9 4
Sucralose 124 243 35 26
Central (6) 15 - -
Total net operating
assets 1 585 2 359 14 13
Other 83 (115)
1668 2244
Net debt (814) {1231)
Net assets 854 1013

Net assets at 31 March 2010 were £854 million (2009 ~
£1,013 millon) This decrease was driven by retained profits
of £19 million, cash flow hedge gains of £24 mithon

and deferred tax on components of other comprehensive
income of £25 million, offset by post-retirement benefit
actuarial losses of £104 million, exchange effects (net of
hedging effects} of £10 milhon, losses on available for sale
investments of £10 mithon and dividends {incluchng minority
interest dividends) of £107 mithon Net current assets were
£119 rmulhon hugher at £631 million '

Post-retirement benefits

We maintain pension plans for our employees in a number

of countries Some of these arrangements are defined benefit
pension schemes In the USA, we also provide medical and
Iife assurance benefits as part of the retirement package

At 31 March 2010, there was a net deficit in respect of these
arrangements of £257 million (2009 - £211 milion) The
ncrease in the deficit was driven by an increase in benefit
obligations of £243 million, offset by an ncrease in assets

of £197 million

The service charge in the forthcoming 2011 financial year 1s
forecast to remain broadly In line with the charge of £11 million
recognised in the 2010 financial year, whilst the net finance
expense 1s expected 1o decrease from £19 million to

around £6 mithon

Shareholders’ equity

During the year, 0 5 miion scnp dividend shares were 1ssued
and 0 8 million shares were released from treasury for a total
consideration of £2 million At 31 March 2010, there were
460 6 milfion shares In 1ssue of which 0 5 milhon were held

in treasury

Funding and hquidity management

We manage our exposure to iquidity risk and ensure maximum
flexibility in meeting changing business needs by maintaining
access to a wide range of funding sources, inctuding capital
markets and bank borrowings In November 2008, we ssued
a £200 milion bond which matures in November 2019, and
undertook a tender offer to repurchase the 2012 sterling bonds
The new issue, In conjunction with the tender offer for the 2012
sterling bonds, was designed to extend our matunty profile
and further diversify our sources of funding We repurchased
£100 milion of the 2012 sterling bonds an the completion

of the tender offer Capital market issues outstanding at

31 March 2010 include the US$300 milhon 6 125% 144A bond
maturing n 2011, the £100 midlion 6 50% bond matunng in
2012, the US$500 million 5 00% 144A bond matunng in 2014,
the US$250 mullion 6 625% 144A bond matuning in 2016, and
the £200 milhon 6 75% bond maturing in 2019

We ensure that we have sufficient undrawn committed bank
facihities to provide liquidity back-up to cover our funding
requirements for the foreseeable future We have a core
committed bank facility of US$1 bilkon which matures in
October 2012 This facility 18 unsecured and contains our
standard financial covenants for Tate & Lyle and our subsichary
companies that pre-exceptional and amortisation interest
cover ratio based on total Group operations should not be
less than 2 5 times, and the multiple of net debt to EBITDA,
as defined In our bank covenants, should not be greater than
4 0 times Interest cover fell to 5 8 imes (2009 - 6 1 tmes)
Under our covenant deftnition, net debt and EBITDA are both
calculated using average exchange rates, the ratio for
financial year 2010 was 1 8 times (2009 - 2 4 times)

We monitor comphance against all our financial obhgations,
and 1t 15 our polhicy to manage the consohdated balance sheet
so as to operate well within covenanted restnictions at all times
The majority of our borrowings are raised through the Group
treasury company, Tate & Lyle International Finance PLC, and
are then on-lent to the business units on an arm's-length basis

Current policy 1s to ensure that, after subtracting the total of
undrawn committed facities, no more than 10% of gross
debt matures within 12 months and no more than 35% has a
maturity within two-and-a-half years At 31 March 2010, after
subtracting total undrawn committed facilities, there was no
debt maturing within 12 months or within two-and-a-half years
(2009 - none and none) The average maturity of our gross
debt was approxmately 5 4 years {2009 - approximately

4 B years) At 31 March 2010, we held cash and cash
equivalents of £504 milion (2009 - £434 milion) and committed
faciities of £659 mithon (2009 — £788 milkion} of which
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£515 mithon (2009 ~ £524 million) were undrawn We maintam
these resources to provide liquidity back-up and to meet

the projected maximum cash outflow from debt repayment,
capital expenditure and seasonal working capital needs
foreseen for at least a year into the future at any cne time

Capital nsk management

Cur pnmary objectives in managing capital are to safeguard
the business as a gong congern, to maintam sufficient
financial flexibihity to undertake our investment plans, to

at least mamntain an investment-grade credit rating which
enables consistent access to debt capital markets, and

to optimise our capital structure in order to reduce the

cost of capital

The Group's financial profile and level of financial nsk 1s
assessed on a regular basis in the ight of changes to
economic conditions, business environment, our business
profile, and the risk characteristics of our businesses

Tate & Lyle has contractual relationships with Moody's and
Standard & Poor’s (S&P) for the provision of credit ratings,
and it 1s our pohicy to keep them informed of all major
developments At 31 March 2010, the long-term credit rating
from Moody's was Baa3 (stable outlook) and from S&F was
BBB- (negative outlook) We are commitied to maintaining
Investment-grade credit ratings

As part of the Board's monitonng of performance, it has set
two ongoing key performance indicators {KPIs) to measure
the Group's financial strength The basis for these ratios 1s
the same as the externat debt covenants, except that the
maximum ratic of net debt to EBITDA should not exceed

2 5 times, and that interest cover should exceed 5 imes

The net debt to EBITDA KPI target has-been reduced from

2 5 times to 2 O times for the financial year 2011 and beyond

Off-balance sheet arrangements

in the ordinary course of business, to manage our cperations
and financing, we enter into certain performance guarantees
and commitments for capital and other expenditure

The aggregate amount of indemnities and other performance
guarantees, on which no matera! loss has ansen, inciuding
those related to joint ventures and associates, was £13 million
at 31 March 2010 (2009 -~ £97 mulhion)

We aim to optimise financing costs In respect of all financing
transactions Where it 1s economically beneficial, we choose
to operate leases rather than purchase assets Leases of
property, plant and equipment where the lessor assumes
substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership are
treated as operating leases, with annual rentals charged to the
meome statement over the term of the lease Commitments
under operating leases to pay rentals in future years totalled
£195 milhon {2009 - £237 million) and related prnimarnly to
rallcar leases in the USA Rental charges for the year ending
31 March 2010 n respect of continuing operations were

£24 muilion (2009 - £27 mihon})

Financial nsk controls

Management of financial nsk

Our mamn financial risks are credit, hquidity, and market

nsks The latter include mterest rate nsk, currency nisk and
certain commodity price nsks We also have certain non-
financial or non-quantifizble nsks, these are set out i the
Risk management section on pages 16 and 17 The Board
sets overall nsk imits, and regularly reviews financial nsks
and approves written policies concerning the use of financial
nstruments to manage them

The Group Finance Director retains overall responsibility
and management of financial nsk for the Group Most of
our financing, interest rate and foreign exchange nsks are
managed through the Group treasury company, Tate & Lyle
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International Finance PLC, whose operations are controlled
by its board It 1s chaired by the Group Finance Director

and has other board members who are executives who

are independent of the treasury function The Tate & Lyle
PLC Board approves policies and procedures setting out
permissible funding and hedging nstruments, exposure Imits
and a system of authorities for the approval of transactions
Group interest rate and currency exposures are concentrated
either in the treasury company or in approprniate holding
companies through market-related transactions with Group
subsidtaries These acquired positions are managed by the
treasury company within its authonsed limits

Commednty price nsks are managed through divisional
commedity trading functions in Europe and the USA

These functions are controtled by divisional management,
who are responsible for raufying general strategy and oversee
performance on a monthly basis Commodity price contracts
are categorised as beng held erther for trading or for hedging
price exposures Commodity contracts held for trading within '
the Group are imited confined only to tightly-controlled areas

within the sugar and corn pricing operations

The derivative financial instruments we use to manage
financial risks include swaps (both interest rate and
currency), swaptions, caps, forward rate agreements,
financial and commeodity forward contracts and options,
and commodity futures

interest rate rnisk

We are exposed to interest rate changes, arising principally

from changes in borrowing rates in US dollars, stering and

euros We manage this nisk by fixing or capping portions of

debt using interest rate denvatives to achieve a target level of

fixed/floating rate net debt This aims to optimise net finance

expense and reduce volatility in reported earnings Our policy

15 that between 30% and 75% of Group net debt (excluding ‘
the Group's share of joint-venture net debt) 1s fixed or capped

{excluding out-of-the-money caps) for more than one year, i
and that no interest rate fixings are undertaken for more

than 12 years A derogation of the maximum percentage of

fixed-rate debt was approved by the Tate & Lyle PLC Board

untit 30 June 2010 At 31 March 2010 the longest term of any

fixed-rate debt held by the Group was until Novernber 2019

The proportion of net debt (excluding the Group's share of

jont-ventura net debt) that was fixed or capped for more than

one year was 82% (2009 - 55%)

If the interest rates applicable to our floating-rate debt rise
from the levels of 31 March 2010 by an average of

100 basis pomnits over the year to 31 March 2011, with all
other vanables held constant, this would reduce Group
operating profit before tax by approximately £1 milion
{2009 - £4 million}

Foreign exchange nsk

We have significant investment 1n overseas operations,

particularly In the USA and Europe Earnmings, cash flows

and shareholders’ equity are therefore exposed to foreign

exchange risks i

We require our subsidianies to hedge transactional currency
exposures against thewr functional currency once they are
committed or highly probable, mainly through the use of
forward foreign exchange contracts

Our accounting policy 1s to translate profits of overseas
companies using average exchange rates We do not hedge
exposures arsing from profit translation As a result, in any
particular financial year, currency fluctuations may have a
sigmficant impact on our financial results In particular, a
strengthening or weakerung of the US doliar against sterling
will have a favourable or adverse effect respectively on the
Group's reported results



We manags foreign exchange translation exposure on net
investments in overseas operations, particularly in the USA
and Europe, by mamtaning a percentage of net debt in

US dollars and euros to mitigate the effect of these nsks
This 1s achieved by borrowing principally in US dollars and
euros, which provides a partial match for the Group's major
foreign currency assets A weakening of the US dollar and
euro against sterling would result in exchange gamns on

net debt denominated in these currencies which would be
offset agamst the losses on the underlying foreign currency
assets At 31 March 2010, net debt was held in the following
currencies net borrowings of US dollars 76% {2009 - 77%),
euros 20% (2009 — 20%), sterling 7% (2009 - 3%), and other
currency deposits of 3% (2009 — deposits of 0%)

The following table ilustrates our sensitivity to the fluctuation
of the major currencies in which we transact business
Sensiivity I1s calculated on financial assets and labilities as at
31 March 2010, denominated in non-functional currencies tor
all operating units within the Group

31 March 2010 3% March 2009

Incomse income
statement Equity  statement Equity
-/+ Em -+ Em -f+ Em -+ £m
Sterling/US$
5% change - 28 9 40
Sterling/euro
5% change - 15 1 13
Counterparty credit rnisk

Counterparty credit risk anses from placing deposits and
entering into dervative financial instruments with banks and
other financal Institutions, as well as credit exposures in
outstanding trade receivables

We manage this rnisk by placing deposits and entenng intc
financial mstruments only with highty-credit-rated authorised
counterparties which are reviewed and approved regularly

by the Board The Board approves maximum counterparty
exposure hmits for specified banks and financial institutions
based on long-term credht ratings (typically A-/A3 or higher)
of S&P and Moody’'s We monitor counterpariies’ positions
regularly to ensure that they are withun the appraved limits and
that there are no significant concentrations of credit nisks

Price risk

We use derivatives to hedge movements in the future prices
of commodities in those domestic and international markets in
which we buy and sell sugar, corn and energy for production
We use commodity futures and options to hedge inventories
and the costs of raw matenals for unpniced and prospective
contracts not covered by forward product sales The options
and futures hedaging contracts generally mature within one
year and are either traded on recogrised exchanges or over
the counter

Use and fair value of financial instruments
In the normal course of business we use both denvative and
non-denvative financial instruments

The farr value of Group net borrowings at 31 March 2010 was
£813 million against a book value of £814 milhon (2008 - far
value £1,308 million, book value £1,231 million}

Dervative inancial nstruments used to manage the interest
rate and currency of borrowings had a fasr value of £9 mithon
lability (2009 - £13 rmillion abiity) The marn types of
instrument used are Interest rate swaps, interest rate options
(caps or floors) and cross-currency interest rate swaps

The farr value of other derivative financial instruments hedging
future currency and commodity transactions was £6 muhon
lability (2009 - £36 million babiity) When managing currency
exposure, we use spot and forward purchases and sales,

and options

The farr value of derivative hnancial instruments held for
trading was £22 million asset (2009 — £44 milion habthty)

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely
to affect its future development, performance and posttion are
set out In the ‘Business review What we do’ and ‘Business
review Performance’ sections The financial posttion of

the Group, its cash flows, hquidity position and borrowing
faciibes are described in the same sections [n addition,

Note 21 to the financial statements includes the Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its
financial nsk management objectives, details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to credit
risk and liquidity nsk

As set out In the sections and note referenced above, the
market conditions of the areas in which the Group operates
have been, and are ikely to continue to be, challenging
However, with some 70% of revenues from food and beverage
ngredients, the Group has a measure of resilience {although
not immunity} to the economic dewnturn In addition, the
Group has access to considerable financial resources

through its facilities as described in Note 21 to the financial
statements In making their assessment of the going concern
basis, the directors have reviewed the maturities of these
faciities, the headroom available from them and the Group’s
abilty to meet the covenant requirements of certain of them
As a consequence, the directors believe that the Group 1s well
placed to manage its business nsks successfully despite the
current uncertain economic outlook

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate
resources to continue in operahonal existence for the
foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt

the going concern-basis in preparing annual report

and accounts
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Corporate social responsibility
Overview

This year, we have changed how we report corporate social
responsibiity (CSR} We have incorporated those arsas

n which we measure performance - safety, enwirgnment,
cammunity ~ into this ‘Business review Performance’
section, emphasising thetr importance to the long-term
success of the business The cther two parts of our tradmional
CSR reponrt, namely how we manage our relationships with
commercial partners and suppliers, and our approach to
employee health and wellbeing, are covered in the ‘Business
review What we do’ section, since they are an integral part of
how we do business

We believe that changing the way we report CSR more
accurately reflects the central role it plays in the way we
do business - which, for Tate & Lyle, means operating to
high social, ethical and environmental standards in

all circumstances

Managing corporate social responsibility

Our approach to CSR is enshrined in our Business Code of
Conduct (the Code) The Code applies unconditionally to all
wholly-owned parts of the Group, and we also aim tc apply
the Code in those operations in which we have a 50% stake
or more Where we have a minority stake, we encourage
our partners to adopt the Code Applying the Code requires
proactive management at every level within the Company
The Board reviews Tate & Lyle's CSR policies and
performance annually, and the Chief Executive 1 the Board
member accountable for alt aspects of CSR A copy of the
Code can be found on our website, www tateandlyle com

Qur internal audit function reviews the processes used

to collect and collate the information contamned within this
CSR section In the 2011 financial year, we will be establishung
a new Corporate Responsibilty Board Committee This
Committee will be reviewing our current data and processes
and, as a result, we expect that there will be a number of
changes to our methodelogy and presentational format and
this will be reflected in the Annual Report 2011

Safety

Tate & Lyle has no higher priority than safety, which we believe
1s fundamental to running a successful business This means
ensunng safe and healthy conditions for everyone at our sites
employees, contractors, and visitors By reporting, recognising
and rewarding safety performance, we aim to ensure that all
our operations focus on continuous imMprovement

Overview

The Group continued to make progress in safety performance
in the 2009 calendar year, with improvements in all areas

with the exception of the seventy rate (lost workdays) which
worsened by 18% Following sigmificant improvements in
2008, our contractor safety index worsened by 28% n 2009
This will be a major area of focus in 2010

32 Tate & Lyle Annual Report 2010

Employee safety results for the
2009 calendar year

s Group safety index (weighted average of injuries sustamned
in the workplace across Tate & Lyie, with more severs
incidents having greater impact) :improved by 3%,

» Recordable inury rate (injury requinng treatment beyond
first aid) improved by 33%,

s Lost-time accident rate {recordable injury sufficiently severe
to result In lost workdays or to restrict the employee’s
ability to perform his/her job) improved by 17%, and

» Severity rate {(number of workdays lost due to injunes
per 200,000 employee hours} worsened by 18%

Most Group locations equalled or improved on their 2008
safety performance, tincluding 19 locations that reported
no recordable injunes and 24 that reported no lost-time
accidents for the year Overall, we were pleased that our
results showed good progress compared to 2008, with the
exception of the severnty rate which worsened Actions are
bemng taken to reduce the seventy rate m 2010 primarily
through a focus on traning, behavioural auditing, and
continuous reviews of physical conditions and
programmes at each site

Benchmarking results

In comparing the performance of each of our divisions with
results from the US Bureau of Labor Statistics (2008 being
the most recent data available), again this year our divisions
are outperforming the average reported standard for their
peers in therr respective sectors and in the US private sector
as a whole

Contractor safety results for the 2009

calendar year

Following significant improvements in 2008, we were
disappointed that our contractor safety index worsened by
28% in 2009, impacted in particular by a 50% worsening of
the seventy rate (lost workdays)

in the 2009 calendar year, compared with the 2008 results

Contractar safety index worsened by 28%,
Recordable injury rate improved by 26%,
Lost-time accident rate improved by 2%, and
Seventy rate worsened by 50%

Contractor safety 1¢ a major focus In 2010 At our larger
sites we are introducing a new contractor review system to
evaluate contractor safety performance on a monthly basis
We will also hold regular satety meetings with contractors
to explain safety expectations, and accountability for safety
performance will be a factor in contractor selection and

site maintenance

Benchmariing results

While we were disappointed with our contractor safety
pertormance in 2009, our results nonetheless compare
well with the US Bureau of Labor Statistics for 2008 {the
mosi recent data available) The Bureau reports the overall
recordable injury rate per 200,000 employee hours for US
contractors to be 4 7 against 1 42 at Tate & Lyle, and the
overall lost-time accident rate to be 2 5 against our

rate of 0 75




Safety - key performance indicators

Group safety index

The smaller the ndex, the better the performance
Qur target 18 zero for every Tate & Lyle operation

Benchmarking safety:
recovdable injury rate’

Benchmarking safety:
lost-time accldent rate?

A US tood manufactunng E Food & Industrial ingrechents  Amercas
B US grain milling F Food & Industrial Ingredients  Europe
C US cornrefiners G Sugars

D US sugar industry H Sucralose

i

Number of inuries per 200 000 employee hours
requinng mora than trst ad

2 Rate of recordable injunes sufficiently senous 10 resutt n
lost workdays or restncted work actvities

3 Cases with days away from work only not including
restncted work activties

Sources
Tate & Lyle data frem Group satety records
US ndustry statistics as reported by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics

Contracter safety index

The smaller the index the better the performance
Our target s zero for every Tate & Lyle operation

Benchmarking contractor safety:
recordable injury rate'

Benchmarking contractor safety:
lost-time accident rate®

1 Number of nunes per 200,000 employee hours requinng maore
than first aid

2 Rate of recordable injunes sufficiently senous 1o result In Jost
workdays or restncted work actvities
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Managing safety

Maintaining a consistently safe and healthy workplace for our
peopls reguires effective, proactive management We operate
network safety committees in the Amernigas and Europe that
share knowledge and experience between plants with the
aim of ensunng consistently high standards of safety across
Tate & Lyle

The core elements of our approach to safety are

m an increased focus on the human and behawvioural aspects
of safety,

s utihization of the networking concept to make effective use
of available resources,

= Improved communications on 1ssues of safety throughout
the Group,

n sharing of best practice, including the use of leading
indicators,

n auditing of safety and loss controt programmes, and

s active nvolvernent of Company executives to promote and
audit safety programmes

Projects and aclivities

Qur network safety committees and their task forces
undertook a wide range of safety projects in 2009 Some
examples include

n Group-wide behavioural auditing and traning During 20089,
our operations in the Americas introduced a new five-step
employee traming programme called SafeStart,

» use of a third-party and insurance audit teams to review
Qccupational Safety and Health Adrministration and
regulatory cempliance, and fire protection programme,

m sustained efforts to keep the families of employees
involived in the overal! safety process through promotional
itemns, contests, and safety days,

= ongoing use of recognition and award programmes to
identify and reward outstanding safety performance and
mark safety rmlestones, and

= continued work In managing and monitoring contractors,
along with on-site contractor training

Awards

Tate & Lyle runs a number of annual, Group-wide safety
awards To qualify for entry into our 'Global Safety’ awards
programme, plants must operate the entire year without lost
tme, and meet other ‘world-class safety’ cnitena Winners in
2009 were

= Large plant {over 250,000 employee hours per year)
Amylum Nisasta (Turkey)

» Smail plant (fewer than 250,000 employee hours per year)
Plaistow {UK)

Cur ‘Flagship' awards are made by the US and Eurcpean
Safety Committees on a divisional level Winners in
2009 were

» US/Asia large plant Singapore
m Europe large plant Amylum Nisasta (Turkey)
» Small plant Dayton, Ohio (USA)

34 Tate & Lyle Annual Report 2010

Cutlook

We were saddened to learn that shortly before this report
was published, a fatality occured at our joint-venture plant in
Turkey The Board has been informed and a full investigation
15 under way

While our employee safety record 1s good, we want every site
to be world ¢lass In order to maintain consistency across
Tate & Lyle’s plants and operations, safety feaders from across
the Group have developed a new strategic global safety plan
for the Group Going forward, we will measure ourselves
annually against world-class safety performance indicators,
improving the co-ordination, scope and presentation of

safety reporting data to help us identify 1ssues and events in
advance Contractor safety and physical/behavioural auditing
and safety training will continue to be areas of focus in 2010

By implementing the globat indicators and promoting the
active involvement of management, employees and
contractors \n our safety efforts, we am to improve safety
performance further and come closer to world-class safety
across the Group

Environment

Tate & Lyle believes that companies must take steps to
manage ther impact on the environment As a consequence
we are committed to conducting our business In a

manner that 1s sensitive to the environmental needs of

the communities within which we operate This aim will

be achieved by upholding defined, key environmental
standards In all of our operations, and we actively
encourage our business partners to demonstrate similar
levels of commutment

Overview

Managing our impacts to produce a more positive resuit 1s
good for the environment and also brings economic benefits
to Tate & Lyle When reviewing our environmental footprint,
we focus on those impacts which have most effect on the
environment and over which we have direct control Our
three most significant environmental impacts are, in order
of magnitude, energy use, water use and non-hazardous
solid waste production Energy use 1s by far our most
significant Impact, and therefore has highest prionty In
recent years, we have also reported our carbon footprint,
an ncreasingly important global measure of overall
environmental performance

Tate & Lyle's environmental policy applies to all our locations,
and fully imtegrates environmental management into therr
operational systems and procedures The Board reviews the
policy and environmental performance annually The policy
can be found on our websie, www tateandlyle com

2009 calendar year results

We focus our measurement and improvement efforts on the
areas with the greatest environmenta!l and financial impact
Compared to 2008 figures, and using normahsed indices for
consumption per unit of fimnished product output, our results
for the 2009 calendar year were

s energy consumption remaned the same,
s water consumption decreased by 4%, and
= non-hazardous sohd waste production decreased by 24%

Although we did not meet our target of a per-unit 3%
reduction in energy consumption in 2009, we are pleased
to report that we have reduced both water consumption
and waste production per unit of output, following
increases In 2008



Carbon footpnnt

This 1s a measure of the impact that a person, organization
or product has on the environment in terms of the amount of
carbon dioxide produced during a given penod or product
cycle Calculating our total carbon footprint helps us to
manage our overall environmental impact and benchmark
our performance year on year

Primary carbon footprint

Primary carbon footprints reasure the carbon associated with
production from the pomnt of amvat of raw matenals at specific
sites to the point of departure of products from those sites,
and covers emissions generated through the combustion of
fossil fuels and from transportation within our sites

Tate & Lyle's pnmary carbon footprint in the 2009 calendar
year across all its large sites was 0 39 tonnes of CO; per
tonne of production This represents a 2 5% reduction from
0 40 tonnes in the 2008 calendar year Our primary carbon
footprint figures for 2007 (0 39) and 2008 (0 33}, as disclosed
in last year's annual report, have been restated on a bke-for-
like basis with 2009

Secondary footprint

Secondary carbon footprints include indirect as well as
direct carben dioxidle emissions from the entire hfecycle of a
product or service, including those associated with product
manufacture and eventual breakdown

Retar sugar

Raw cane sugar milling 1s almost carbon neutral Cane grows
in the field, waste fibre powers the factory and the cane
re-grows each year, often up to five tirmes without the need
for reptanting 1t 1s then transported by ship to Tate & Lyle's
refinenes in London and Lisbon, a mode of transport that
produces very small levels of CO. emissions per tenne

In 2008 our Sugars business began a 12-month project

to measure the secondary carbon footpnnt of its refiming
business, from cane field to supermarket and on to consumer
use and disposal The business received official accreditation
of the results of this study from the UK’s Carbon Trust in July
2009 The carbon footprint of our retall cane sugar 1s 380g of
CO; per 1kg bag — significantly less than that of beet sugar
Tate & Lyle granulated sugar packs started carrying the
Carbon Reduction Label from September 2009 We belteve
that we are the first to receive independent accreditation and
display our carbon footprint on retail sugar packs

Qther sugar products

We have also calculated and gained accreditation for the
busness-to-business carbon footpnnt for some of our
UX-based bulk sugar products to enable our customers

to estimate the footprint of therr own products when using
Tate & Lyle ingredients Since the majonty of our products are
shipped in bulk, business-to-business footprints are the same
as the secondary footpnnt, less the carbon dioxide associated
with packing matenals and packing matenals waste

Violation, abatement and comphlance orders

The vast majonty of our operations completed 2009
without significant incident Where Tate & Lyle inadvertently
contravened regulations, we reacted immediately with an
action plan to correct the problem

Environment - key performance indicators

Group energy index

Group water index

Group non-hazardous solid waste index

Primary carbon footprint’
Tonnes of CO; per tonne of production

The smaller the ndex the better the performance
1 The pnmary carbon footpnnt of Tate & Lyle s large sites
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Managing environmental impacts

Managing environmental impacts s very important at
Tate & Lyle Environmental nsks are included n the
Group-wide risk managerment process, and are reviewed
and assessed regularly Further mformation on the risk
management process 1s on page 45

Measuring data

We collect detalled data and report results from each
operating unit quarterly, using a comprehensive system
The data 1s then aggregated to create a single set of
environmental performance indices for the Group, adjusted
to take account of acquisitions and disposals

Management systems

Environmental management 1s integrated into operational
systems, training and monitonng activities, and enforced
through a robust reperting systemn We have a documented
Group Crisis Management System, which enables an
effective and professional response to incidents of a senous
and/or urgent nature The system also covers Tate & Lyle's
response to third-party crises that could have a significant
impact on our business

Training

Employees receive regular tranming on managing
environmental impacts and changes in legislabion, so that
they are always aware of important and relevant 1ssues
QOperating units have environmental managerment committees
that meet regularly to monitor progress agamst agreed
improvement targets

Customers and suppliers
We work closely with our customers to ensure our systems
meet therr requirements

We also brief alt on-site contractors about key environmental
1ss5ues to ensure that we are managing our environmental
impact effectively

Investing in renewable energy sources

Energy use Is very important to us Not only 1s 1t abig
contributor to our overall carbon footprint, but it 1s one of
the most significant costs i our business To help reduce
energy costs and improve our environrnental performance,
we are developing technology to use renewable energy
sources For example, our biomass boiler at our London
sugar refinery 1s designed to supply up to 70% of the site's
energy requirements

Qutioock

We have formutated an action plan for 2010 designed
to manage our Impact on the environment Specific
actions include

» reducing energy and water usage per unit of production
and mirumising all waste produced by our processes
through continued focus on efficient operation at all times,
supported where beneficial by capital investment,

w actively working to elminate any incidence of non-
compliance with environmental permits, and

= continued evaluation of our primary carban footprint
across the Group and the achievement of associated
reductions through the use of benchmarking and
best practice
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Communities

Tate & Lyle aims to play a positive role in all the communities
in which we operate Over the years we have developed a
Group-wide communty involvement policy that forms one
of the core components underpinning our ethical behaviour
This involves buillding long-term relationships with local
partners to deliver a shared objective establishing strong,
safe and healthy communities by investing time and
rasources INto projects that directly address local needs

Overview

Many of our employees participate in our community
partnershup prograrmmes Qur community involvement
benefits our employees by enhancing the local community,
offering significant personal development opportunities
and making Tate & Lyle a company far which they are
proud to work

Each year we support around 200 organisations, ranging
from long-established chanties to fledgling communty
organisations Community support takes many forms,
depending on the needs of the organisation It includes
funding, employee volunteering, consultancy, donation of
products and equipment, and, for selected partners, free
use of the Company's warehousing, office accommaodation
and meetmg roorn faciities

Charitable donations

Our Corporate Donations Committee oversees community
policy throughout the world it selects projects that target
tocal needs and deliver the most positive iImpact, and ensures
that our community work reflects our broader responsibilities
as a company Qur gwidelines for funding and support are

education - 50%,
environment - 25%,
health — 15%, and
s arts - 10%

In the financial year to 31 March 2010, Tate & Lyle's total
worldwide charitable donations were £714,000 (2009 -
£699,000) and total global pro beno contribution in goods
and services was estimated at £235,000 (2009 - £221,000)

Actual community spend by allocation
Year ended 31 March 2010




We support many intiatives and crgamisations involved
in community regeneration all round the world Here s a
selection from each of the UK and the USA

UK

» Community Links a local charty working to regenerate the
area of Newham in east London

» Community Food Enterpnse a social enterprise improving
community access to affordable fresh frutt and vegetables
In east London

» Richard House Children’s Hospice London's first hospice
for terminally-ill children, which we have supported since 1t
was founded in 1996

s Tate Britain supporting art projects for children at this
London gallery

n East London Business Alliance {(ELBA} we are a founder
member of this regeneration agency for east London,
which connects business to local people, public and
community partners to enable social and economic
change We support ELBA's initiative to capture long-term
benefits from Londen hosting the 2012 Olympic Games

USA

» Educational institutions including Mithkin University,
Purdue University, the University of llinois, and Richland
Community College

a Decatur Park Distnct we fund a number of youth activities
as well as annual park district events that provide
recreaticnal opportunities for the entire community

= Decatur Community Foundation we are a founder
member of this organisation created in 2000 to provide an
endowment to support a broad range of programmes that
benefit the Decatur, llinois community

Employee volunteering

Tate & Lyle employees around the world make great efforts
to support ther local communities Their involvement 18 vitat
to maintain good, long-term relationships Our employees
join local committees, advocate ther causes and prowide
mentoring and business skills

Volunteering also brings benefits to Tate & Lyle Employees
tell us that they benefit hugely from community work, which
helps them develop therr skils and become more rounded as
individuals Further information on seme of our employees’
volunteering activities around the world can be found on our
website, www tateandlyle com

Outlook

We continue to encourage our employees around the world
to get involved n supporting therr communities In 2010, we
will be focusing our spend more closely to ensure 1t 1s used
In areas where 1t can be maost beneficial

Find gut more about Tate & Lyle
at www tateandlyle com
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Governance

Board of directors

Sir Peter Gershon
Chairman

Became Chairman on 23 July 2009
after joining the Board n February
2009 Formerly Chief Executive of

the Office of Government Commerce,
Managmg Director of Marcom
Electronic Systems and a member

of the GEC plc board Currently
Chairman of Premier Farnell plc, GHG
Limited {General Healthcare Group)
and Vertex Data Science Limited, and
a member of the Advisory Board of the
UK Defence Academy and the Couri
and Councit of impenal College

Aged 63

Liz Awrey
Non-executive director

Joned the Board in January 2007
Formerly Finance Dwrector of Monument
Qil and Gas plc {1990-1998) Currently
Chairman of the JP Morgan European
Fledgeling Investment Trust PLC

and the Unilever UK Penston Fund,
Senior Independent ODirector of

Jupiter Fund Managernent plc, and

a non-executive director of Dunedin
Enterprise Investment Trust PLC

Aged 51
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Javed Ahmed
Chief Executive

Joined the Group as Chief Executive
on 1 Cctober 2008 from Reckitt
Benckiser plc Started his career

with Procter & Gambie and then spent
five years with Bain & Co Jomned
Benckiser (later Reckitt Benckiser plc) in
1992 Subsequently held a number

of senior positions, both in the UK
and internationally, including Senior
Vice President, Northern Europe,
President, North Amernica, Executive
Vice President, North Amernica,
Australta and New Zealand, and
Executive Vice President Europe
Aged 50

Willlam Camp
Non-executive director

Joined the Board on 1 May 2010
Worked for 22 years for Archer

Daniels Midland Company, before
retining in 2007, and held a vanety

of management positions ncluding
Executive Vice President, Asia Strategy,
Executive Vice President, Processing,
and Senior Vice President, Global

Qil Seeds, Cocoa and Wheat Milling
Based i the USA and currently serves
on the boards of Chiquita Brands
International Inc, Grain Storage Inc
and Qasis Foods Company

Aged 61

Tim Lodge
Group Finance Director

Jomed the Group 1n 1988 and
joined the Board in December 2008
as Group Finance Director Has held
a number of senior gperational and
financial reles, both in the UK and
internationally, including Managing
Director of Zambia Sugar, Group
Financial Controller, Finance Director
of the Food & Industnal Ingredients,
Europe division, and Director

of investor Refations He s an
Associate of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants

Aged 45

Richard Delbridge
Serior Independent Director

Joined the Board in September 2000
A Chartered Accountant, he has held
a number of senior operational and
financial positions including partner

of Arthur Andersen & Co. Managing
Director of JP Morgan's London offices,
Director, Group Finance, Midland
Bank plc, Group Finance Birector,
HSBC Holdings plc, and Director and
Group Chief Financial Officer, National
Westminster Bank Plc Currently a
non-executive director of Standard
Chartered PLC

Aged 68



Evert Henkes
Non-executive director

Jomned the Board in December 2003
Worked for Shell for 30 years before
retinng in 2003 and held a number of
senior management positions in Europe
and Asia Pacific culminating in Chief
Executive of Shell Chemicals in 1998
Currently a non-executive director

of Outokumpu OYJ, Air Products
and Chemcals tnc, and SembCorp
Industnes Ltd

Aged 66

Dr Barry Zoumas
Non-executive director

Joined the Baard in May 2005

Worked for Hershey Foods Corporation
for 27 years before retimng in 1997 and
held a number of positions, culmmating
as Corporate Vice President of Science
and Technology Based in the USA

and currently the Alan R Warehime
Professor of Agribusiness and Professor
of Food Science and Nutrition at Penn
State University, USA and also Global
Chairman of the International Life
Sciences Institute

Aged 67

Douglas Hurt
Non-executive director

Joihed the Board on 10 March 2010
A Chartered Accountant, he s
currently Finance Director of 1M ple
Before joining IMI plc tn 2006, he
held a number of financial and
operational roles, including US

and European senhior management
positions at GlaxoSmithKine

Aged 53

Robert Gibber
Company Secretary
and General Counsel

A solicitor, Robert joined Tate & Lyle

in 1980 as a commercial lawyer
Previously worked for City law firms
Wilde Sapte and Herbert Oppenheimer
Graduated from Wadham Collegse,
QOxford In Orental Studies (Chinese) in
1984 Appointed General Counsel In
1997 and Company Secretary in 2001
Aged 47

Robert Walker

Non-executive director

Jeined the Board in January 2006

He spent over 30 years with Procter
& Gamble, McKinsey and finally,
PepsiCo, where he was responsiole
for the company’s beverage operations
in Europe, the Middle East and Africa
He s currently Chairman of Travis
Perkins PLC, WH Smith PLC and
Americana International Holdings
Limited, he has also served on a
number of FTSE 100/250 boards,
including Wolseley, Severn Trent,
BAA, Sgnet, and Thomson Travel
Aged 65

Committee membership
as at 26 May 2010

Audt Committee
Liz Airey, Chairman
Richard Delbridge
Evert Henkes
Douglas Hurt
Robert Walker

Dr Barry Zoumas

Remuneration Committee
Evert Henkes, Charman
Liz Arey

Wiliham Camp

Richard Detbndge

Sir Peter Gershon

Douglas Hurt

Robert Walker

Dr Barry Zoumas

Nominations Committee
Sir Peter Gershen, Charman
Javed Ahmed

Liz Airey

William Camp

Richard Delbndge

Evert Henkes

Douglas Hurt

Robert Walker

Dr Barry Zoumnas
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Governance Exscutive management

Executive
management

The Group Executive Committee
oversees the development and
execution of the Group's strategy, and
has overall responsibility for achieving
business resuits

The biographies for Javed Ahmed,
Tim Lodge and Rebert Gibber are on
pages 38 and 39

lan Bacon
Chief Executive, Sugars

Joined Tate & Lyle in Novermnber

2005 and became Chief Executive,
Sugars in January 2006 A graduate of
Birmingham University, lan began his
26-year career with Umilever n 1979,
holding a number of semor positions
including Vice President, Global
Customer Development, Vice President
Cperations Neorth Afnca, Middle East
and Turkey, and General Manager,
Birds Eye Wall's

Karl Kramer
President, Sucralose

Joned Tate & Lyle in Apnl 2008 and
became President, Sucralose in

June 2008 A graduate of Chemical
Engineering from the New Jersey
Institute of Technology, Karl also holds
an MBA from the New York University
Stern School of Business Began his
career In R&D at General Foods and
then worked in brand management
for Nestle, and in international sales
for the NutraSweet Kelco Division of
Monsanto Before joining Tate & Lyle,
Kart held various internabional general
management roles in the flavour
division of Givaudan

Executive management structure
from 1 June 2010

As explained 1n the Chief Executive’s
review on page 6, from 1 June 2010 we
will reorganise and operate through three
global business units Specialty Food
ingredients, Bulk Ingredients and Sugars

A new uni, the Innovation and Commercial
Development group, will be established

The composition of the Group Executive
Commuttee 1s shown in the diagram below

Rob Lujten
Group Human Resources Director

Joined Tate & Lyta in February 2010
Holds a Masters degree in Human
Resource Studies from Tilburg University
and began his career with Inamed
Corporation before spending ten years
with GE Plastics where he held a number
of semor human resources roles in both
Europe and Asia, including five years
based in Shanghai as Human Resources
Director, Asia Pacific Subsequently
joined BG Group PLC where he was
Human Resources Director, Africa,
Middle East and Asia until 2009

Qlivier Rigaud
President, Food & Industnal
Ingredients, Europe

Joined Tate & Lyle {Amylum business)
In 1988 as a sales manager In France

A chemstry graduate, he has held
various marnagement positions within
Tate & Lyle, mcluding in industnal
products, hquid sweeteners and alcoho!
sales In 2000, Olier became Vice
President Food Ingredients, Europe
and was appointed President, Food &
Industrial Ingrechients, Europe in 2008

Matt Wineinger
President, Food & Industnal
ingredents, Amencas

Joined Tate & Lyle in March 2008

and became President, Food &
Industrial Ingredtents, Americas in
July 2008 A graduate of Kansas State
University, Matt started his career in
the Food Products Division at Procter
& Gamble and then worked in a
variety of roles for Monsanto and later
Cargill, where he became President
of Sales, Marketing and Research

& Development in 2002 for its Meat

Javed Ahmed
Ghiet Exacutive

Solutions platform Subsequently joined
Swift and Co, where he was President
of its Austrahan Meat Holdings division
untll 2007

Executive
management

The members of the Group
Executive Committee as at
26 May 2010 are as follows

Javed Ahmed
Chief Executive
{Charrrman of the Commuttee)

Tim Lodge
Group Finance Director

Robert Gibber
Company Secretary and
Generat Counsel

lan Bacon
Chief Executive, Sugars

Karl Kramer
President, Sucralose

Rob Luiten
Group Human
Resources Director

Olwier Rigaud
President, Food & Industnal
ingredients, Europe

Matt Wineinger
President, Food & Industrial
Ingredients, Americas

Matt Winelnger Olivier Rigaud
Pres:dent Presidant
Bulk Ingredhents Specaty Food

Ingrectients

lan Bacon
President Sugars

Kari Kramer
Prasident
Jnnovaton ang¢
Commercial
Davelopment

Tim Lodge
Chief Financial
Officer

Rob Luijten Robert Gibber
Executive Vice Executive Vice
President President
Human Resources Gompany
Secretary and

General Counsel
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Corporate governance

Tate & Lyle 1s committed to hgh

standards of corporate governance which
the Board believes are central to achieving
the Group’s objectives and maximising
shareholder value.

Comphance with the Combined Code

As a UK-lIisted company, Tate & Lyle 1s required to state
whether it has comphed with the provisions in Section 1 of
the Financial Reporting Council's (FRC} Combined Code on
Corporate Governance (as updated in 2008) (the Code) dunng
the financial year under review The Code 1s avallable from the
FRC's website (www frc org uk) The Board confirms that the
Company has complied with all these prowvisions during the
financial year ended 31 March 2010

This report, together with the directors’ remuneration report,
provides details of how the Company applies the principles
and comphes with the provisions of the Code

Board of dirgctors

The Board is collectively responsible for promaoting the
success of the Company and for providing entrepreneurial
leadership within a framework of prudent and effective
controls that enable risk to be assessed and managed It
sets the Company’s objectives and ensures that 1t has the
necessary financial resources and people to meet them,
and reviews management performance The Beard also sets
the Company's values and standards and ensures that its
obhigations to shareholders and others are met

The Board has a schedule of matters reserved to 1t for its
decision This schedule 1s reviewed annually and includes
approval of

Group strategy,

annual budget and operating plans,

major capital expenditure, acguisitions or divestments,
full-year and half-year results and intenm
management statements,

safety and envircnmental pobcies

s Board and Company Secretary appointments,
senior management structure, responsibilities and
succession plans,

treasury policies,

directors' conflicts of interest,

system of internal control and nsk management, and
a dividend policy

Other responsibilities are delegated to Board Committees,
which operate within defined terms of reference Details of
these are given in the Board Committees section

The directors’ responsibities for the preparation of financial
statements are explained on page 57 and their statement
on geing concern 1s on page 31

Board balance and independence

At the date of this report, the Board compnises the
Charman who has no executive responsibilities, two
executive directors and seven non-executive directors
The names and iographtes of the dwectors are in the
Board of directors section

Sir David Lees ceased to be a director on 23 July 2009

and Sir Peter Gershon succeeded him as Chairman of the
Company on the same day lain Ferguson ceased tobe a
director on 1 October 2009 and Javed Ahrmed succeeded him
as Chief Executive and as a director of the Company on the
same day Douglas Hurt and Willam Camp were appointed
non-executive directors with effect from 10 March 2010 and

1 May 2010 respectively

With the exception of the Chairman, who 1s presumed under
the Code not to be independent, the Board cansiders all the
non-executive directors to be independent

The Board has appointed a Senior Independent Director,
Richard Delbridge, who 1s available to shareholders i they
have any 18sues or concerns, and leads the annual review of
the Chairman's performance The Board has appointed Robert
Walker to succeed Richard Delbridge as Senior Independent
Director with effect from the close of the 2010 Annua! General
Meeting (AGMY}, when Richard will cease to be a director

The non-executwe directors have a wide range of skills and
knowledge and combine broad business and commercial
experience with independent and objective judgement

The terms and condittons of appointment of the non-executive
directors can be inspected at the Company’s registered office
and will be available for inspection at the AGM

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are separated
and therr responsibilities are clearly established, set out in
writing and agreed by the Board The Chairman 18 responsible
for the leadership and workings of the Board and ensuring

its effectiveness, while the Chie! Executive 1s responsible for
runming the business and implementing strategy and pohcy

The other significant commitments of the Chairman,

Sir Peter Gershon, are set out on page 38 The Board 1s
satisfied that they do not restrct him from carrying out his
duties as Chairman effectively

Re-election of directors

The Company’s Articles of Association require all directors

to seek re-election by shareholders at least once every three
years In addition, any directors appointed by the Board must
stand for re-election at the first AGM following fus or her
appointment Any non-executive directors who have served
for more than rine years are subject to annual re-election

The FRC’s review of the Code recognised the importance of
the Chairman in setting the tone for the rest of the Board In
light of public statements ahead of the publicaticn of the new
UK Corperate Governance Code, it has been decided that the
Charrman will seek re-election at the forthcoming AGM

The directors standing for re-election this year are Liz Arrey
and Evert Henkes, who were last re-elected in 2007, and
Javed Ahmed, Douglas Hurt and Wilham Camp, who were
appointed since the last AGM The Chairman, Sir Peter
Gershon, will also stand for re-election The directors standing
for re-glection, with the exception of Javed Ahmed, do not
have service contracts

At no time dunng the year has any director had any material
nterest in a contract with the Group, being a contract of
signficance In relation to the Group's bustness A statement
of directors' interests in Company shares 1s on page 56
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Governance Corporate governance

Board and committee meetings

There were eight scheduled Board meetings during the

year ended 31 March 2010, one of which was held at the
Group's offices In Decatur, USA One additional meeting was
held to consider changes to the composition of the Board
All directors alse met off-site for two days to consider the
Group's strategy and review key business issues

Directors' attendance at the Board and Committee meetings
that they were eligible to attend 1s shown in the table below

Audt  Nomenations Remuneration
Board  Comurittes Committee Committea
Directors as at 31 March 2010
Javed Ahmed 5/5 - 2/2 -
Liz Airay 9/9 5/5 6/6 8/8
Richard Delbndge 9/9 5/5 6/6 8/8
Sir Peter Gershon 9/9 2/12 6/6 8/8
Evert Henkes 9/9 5/5 6/6 8/38
Douglas Hurt 174l - 11 1A
Tim Lodge 8/9 - - -
Robert Walker 9/9 5/5 6/6 8/8
Dr Barry Zoumas /9 4/5 5/6 7/8
Former directors
lain Ferguson 3/3 - 2/2 -
Sir David Lees 3/3 - 373 3/3

William Camp joined the Board on 1 May 2010 and 18 therelore excluded from
the above analysis

In the few instances where a director 1s unable to attend a
meeting. his or her comments on the bnefing papers are given
in advance to the relevant Chairman

A roling programme of items for discussion by the Board,
which 15 reviewed at each Board meeting and updated to
reflect topical matters, has been in operation for a number

of years Board mestings are structured to allow open
discussion, and all directors partictpate in discussing strategy,
trading, financial performance and risk management

All substantive agenda items have comprehensive briefing
papers circulated five working days belore the meeting
Members of executive management attend Board meetings
and make presentations regularly During the year, the Board
adopted the custom of holding a short discussion between
the non-executive directors and the Ghairman prior to the
start and immediately upon conclusion of each scheduled
Board meeting

Board allocation of time

The chart below shows the approximate time the Board has
spent discussing agenda items dunng the year, separated
inte broad categories

Board support

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that
Board processes are followed and that applicable rules

and regulations are comphed with The appointment and
removal of the Company Secretary 1s a matter for the Board
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as a whole There 1s also a formal procedure whereby, in the
furtherance of therr duties, directors ¢an obtain independent
professional advice, If necessary, at the Company's expense

The Company maintains appropriate mnsurance cover
in respect of legal proceedings and other claims against
its chrectors

Directors’ conflicts of interest

As permitted under the Companies Act 2006, the Company's
Articles of Association permit directors to authonse conflicts
of interest and the Board has a policy and procedures for
managing and, where appropriate, authorising, actual or
potential conflicts of mterest Under those procedures,
directors are required to declare all dwectorships or other
appomntments to organisations that are not part of the Group
and which could result in actual or potential confhicts of
nterest, as well as other situations which could resultin a
potential confiict of interest

The Board Is required to review directors’ actual or potential
conflicts of interest at least annually Directors are required

to disclose proposed new appomtments to the Chairman
before taking them on, to ensure that any potential conflicts
of interest can be identified and addressed appropriately Any
potential conflicts of interest in relation to proposed directors
are considered by the Board prior to therr appointment

Information, induction and professional
development

The Chairman, assisted by the Company Secretary, I1s
responsible for ensuring that the directors receive accurate,
tmely and clear information on all relevant matiers

On appeintment to the Board, directors receive a
comprehensive induct:on programme, including site visits
and meetings with semar management across the Group
New directors receive background reading about the
Group and details of Board procedures and other
governance-related matters

Directors receve ongoing traming and updates on relevant
ISsues as appropriate, taking into account their indwidual
qualifications and expenence A number of training sessions
were held during the year The Company Secretary helps
directors undertake any other professional development they
consider necessary to assist them in carrying out ther duties
Visits 1o external events or orgamisations are also arranged
for the Board to help non-executive directors in particular to
gain a deeper insight into the Group's operating environment
in Novernber 2009, a number of directors attended the

food Ingredients Europe exhibition in Frankfurt, Germany

Performance evaluation
During the year, the Chairman led an exercise 1o evaluate
the effectiveness of the Board and its Comnnttees

As part of the process, the Charman held one-to-one
meetings with each directer and the Company Secretary
The main themes and observations on the Board's
effectiveness were summansed in a report to the Board

It concluded that the Board continued to operate in an
effective manner but made a number of recommendations
for improvements such as the timing and frequency of
Board and Committee meetings, further enhancements to
the format and content of Board papers and the inclusion
n Board meeting agendas of more specialist presentations
and traiming sessions, In particular business-relevant topic
areas, notably science and technology and geographically-
specific subjects It was also felt that directors would
benefit from more opportunities to interact, both in Board
meetings and on more informal occasions, with a broader
range of Group employees, particularly those considered to
be of high potential The Board also agreed to estabhsh a
Corporate Responstbility Committee that will be responsible




for reviewing and monitenng the processes and measures
used to manage social, environmental and ethucal nsks and
will assist the Board to enhance its strategy and policies in
this area The Commttee will report to the Board and will be
chaired by the Chairman of the Board Other actions arising
from the performance evaluation are bemng or will be taken to
address the matters raised, with progress monitored by the
Company Secretary

With regard to the performance of individual directors, the
Chairman concluded that all directors continue to make an
effective contribution to the Board's work, are well prepared
and informed about 1ssues they need to consider, and that
their commitment remains streng

Dunng the year, the non-executive directors met together
without the Chatrman, under the chairmanship of the Semor
Independent Dwector, to appraise the Chairman's performance
{the Semor independent Director having first sought the views
of the executive directors) In addition, the Chairman held a
private meeting with the non-executive directors to appraise
the Chief Executive’s performance and to address any other
matters the non-executive directors wished to raise

The Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees also
undertook an evaluation of ther work and effectiveness during
the year, the results of which were reported to the Board by
the respective Committee Chairmen The reviews concluded
that each Committee operated effectively throughout the year

Shareholder commumcations

The Chief Executive, Group Finance Director and Director

of Investor Relations maintan a regular programme of

visits and presentations to major institutional shareholders
both in the UK and overseas The Charman and Senior
Independent Director participate in this programme as
appropriate and the Chawman provides feedback 1o the Board
on any matters raised with him by major shareholders Both
Sir Peter Gershon and Javed Ahmed undertook separate visits
to major institutional shareholders following their respective
appomntments during the year

The Investor Relations department provides the Board with
a detailled report on any mestings with major institutional
shareholders at each scheduled Board meeting All directors
receive copies of analysts’ reports on the Company and

the Board 1s briefed periodically by the Company's financial
advisers on Investors' perceptions of Tate & Lyle and 1its
investor relations actiities

The non-executive directors are encouraged to attend
presentations to analysts and shareholders, and the
full-year and halt-year results presentations

The Company aims to present a balanced and clear
agsessment in all its reports to the public and to regulators
Key announcements, financial reports and other information
about the Group can be found on the Company's website at
www tateandlyle com

Annual General Meeting (AGM})

The 2010 AGM will be held at the Queen Elizabeth i
Conference Centre in London, on Thursday 22 Juty 2010 at
1100 am Full details are set out in the Notice of Meeting

Shareholders who attend the AGM have the opportunity

te put guestions to the Board on matters relating to the
Group's operations and performance Approximately

200 shareholders attended the 2009 AGM The level of
proxy votes received in respect of each resclution, together
with the leve! of abstentions, are announced to sharehclders
at the AGM, notified to the market and published on the
Company's website

Share capital

At 31 March 2010, the Company had nominal issued ordinary
and preference share capital of £117 milion comprising

£115 mulhon in ordinary shares, including £0 1 million in
treasury shares, and £2 miilion in preference shares

To satisty ebhgations under employee share plans, the
Company 1ssued 48,287 ordinary shares dunng the year and
reissued 816,012 ordinary shares from treasury The Company
did not 1ssue any ardinary shares or reissue any ordinary
shares from treasury duning the penod from 1 Apnl 2010 to

26 May 2010

Further information about share capital 1s on page 81
Information about options granted under the Company's
employee share schemes 15 on pages 93 and 94

The Company was given authority at the 2009 AGM to make
market purchases of up to 45,868,000 of its own ordinary
shares The Company made no such purchases during the
year ended 31 March 2010 This authority will expire at the
2010 AGM and approval will be sought from shareholders for
a similar authority to be given for a further year

Substantial shareholdings

At 26 May 2010, the Company had been notified under Rule 5
of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial
Services Authority of the following holdings of voting nghts

in iis shares

No of shares % hald
INVESCO plc 73,462,349 15 97
Harbinger Capital Partners LLC 42,313,670 921
AXAS A 22,880,148 498
Lehman Brothers International
(Europe} 18,122,510 395
Legal & General Group plc 18,062,288 393
Barclays Global Investors 17,568,133 359

Articles of Association

The Articles of Association set out the internal regulation

of the Company and cover such matters as the rights of
shareholders, the appommtment or rernoval of directors and
the conduct of the Board and general meetings Copies are
available on request and are displayed on the Company's
website at www tateandlyle com

In accordance with the Articles of Association, directors can
be appointed or removed by the Board or by shareholders in
general meeting Amendments to the Articles of Association
have to be approved by at least 75% of those voting in
person of by proxy at a general meeting of the Company
Subject to UK company law and the Articles of Association,
the directers may exercise all the powers of the Company,
and may delegate authonties to committees, and day-to-day
management and decision making to individual executive
directors Details of the rmam Board Committees can be found
on pages 44 to 45

A special resolution will be put to the 2010 AGM to adopt
new Articles of Association reflecting changes ansing from
the implementation of the final sections of the Compantes Act
2006 and the Sharehoiders' Rights Directive

Board Committees

There are three main Board Commuttees Remuneration,
Norminations and Audit The terms of reference of each
Commuitiee, which are reviewed annually by the Board, are
available on the Company's website, www tateandlyle com,
or from the Company Secretanat at the registered office
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The Committees are supported by the services of the
Company Secretanat and, If necessary, can obtan
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
The Company Secretary, Robert Gibber, 1s Secretary to each
Board Committee

Remuneration Committee

The Committee comprises the independent non-executive
directors and the Chairman of the Board The members of
the Committee at the date of this report are shown

on page 39

The Committee meets as required, usually before each Board
meeting, and has a formal calendar of items for consideration

The Committee determines the remuneration packages of
each executive director and the other members of the Group
Executive Committee These include base salary, bonus,
long-term incentives, benefits and terms of employment,
including those upon which thetr service may be terminated
The Committee also determnes the base salary, long-term
incentives and benefits of certain other semor executives

In consultation with the Chief Executive, the Commuittee
determines the remuneration of the Chairman The
remuneration of non-executive directors is determined by the
executive directors and the Charman More information on
policy, practice and the workings of the Committee can be
found in the directors' remuneration report

Nominations Committee

The Committee comprises the non-executive directors and
the Chief Executive under the charmanship of the Charman
of the Board {except when the Commuttes 1s dealing with the
appointment of a successor to the Chairman, when the Sentor
Independent Director chairs the Committee)

The members of the Commuittee at the date of this report
are shown on page 39 Sir Peter Gershon succeeded

Sir David Lees as Chawrrman of the Committee on

23 July 2009 lain Ferguson ceased to be a member of the
Committee on 1 October 2009 and Javed Ahmed joined
the Committee on the same day Douglas Hurt and
Willam Camp jomned the Committee on 10 March and

1 May 2010 respectively

The main responsibilities of the Committee are to

s review the size and compasition of the Board,
including succession planning, and the leadership
needs of the Group generally,

» recommend candidates for appointment as executive
and non-executive directors and as Company Secretary,
taking into account the balance of the Board and the
required blend of skills and experience,

s make recommendatons on the processes for the
appomntment of the Chairman of the Board,

» review annually the performance of each member of
the Group Executive Committee and to report on
that review to the Remuneration Committee, and

» make recommendations on the nomination of the
Senior Independent Director, the reappointment of
non-executive directors upon the expiry of their term
of office, and the proposed re-electon of directors
retiring by rotation at the AGM

in May 2009, and as disclosed in the Annual Report 2009,
after a competitive selection process which was undertaken
with the assistance of external recruiiment consultants, the
Commitiee recommended that Javed Ahmed be appointed
Chief Executive The recommendation was approved by the
Board and Javed Ahmed joned the Board on 1 October 2009

The Nominatiens Commitiee 1s responsible tor succession
planning for non-executive directors 1o ensure that
directors are recruited to fill actual or torthcoming vacancies
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When recruiting non-executive directors the Committee
considers the particular skills, knowledge and experience
that would most benefit the Board and engages external
recruitment consultants During the year, external recruitment
consultants were engaged to assist in the search for two
additional non-executive directors Following a detalled
selection process the Committee recommended that Douglas
Hurt and Withiam Camp join the Board The recommendations
were approved by the Board and they joined the Board on

10 March and 1 May 2010 respectively

Audit Committee
The Committee comprises solely iIndependent non-executive
directors

The members of the Committee at the date of this report
are shown on page 39 Sir Peter Gershon ceased to be a
member of the Committee on 23 July 2008 Douglas Hurt
joined the Committee on 10 March 2010

All the Committee members have extensive management
experience in large international orgarisations The Chatrman,
Liz Arrey, )s an investment banker and former finance director
of Monument Qil and Gas plc, and Douglas Hurt is Finance
Cirector at IMi plc

The Committee meets at least five imes each year The
Charrman of the Company, Chief Executive, Group Finance
Director, Head of Giobal Risk and Assurance {who leads

the internal audit function) and other members of the senicr
management team {as invited by the Committes), together
with the external auditors, usually attend meetings The
minutes of each meeting are circulated to the Board Both the
Head of Global Risk and Assurance and the external auditors
have direct access to, and meet regularly with, the Chairman
of the Committee cutside formal Committee meetings

The Committee maintans a formal calendar of items for
consideration at each meeting and within the annual audit
cycle to ensure that its work 1s 1n hne with the requirements
of the Code

The man responsibilities of the Committee are to

» oversee the Group's financial reporting process and
monitor the integrity of the full-year and half-year financial
statements and any formal announcements relating to
the Company's financial performance, paying particular
attention to significant reporting Judgements contaned
therein, including critical accounting policies and practices,

s review the Group's internal financial controls and its
internal controt and risk management systems,

e review and monitor the external auditors’ iIndependence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
taking into consideration relevant UK professional and
regulatory requirements,

s make recommendations for subrmission to shareholders
for therr approval n general meeting as to the
appomntment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors and to approve therr remuneration and terms
of engagement,

= monitor and review the effectiveness of the internal
audit function,

» develop and implement a policy on the engagement
of the external auditors to supply non-audht-related
services, and

s review arrangements by which employees may, In
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting, financial control or
other matters




During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities as set out In its
terms of reference by undertaking the following work

s meeting prior to the Board meetings at which the annual
report and financial statements, the half-year report and
Intenm management stalements were approved
In doing so, the Committee reviewed sigmificant accounting
polcies, inancial reporting 1ssues and judgements and
reports from the external auditors,

» reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process,
the external auchtors' strategy and plan for the auds, and
the qualifications, expertise, resources and independence
of the external auditors,

» agreeng the terms of engagement and fee of the external
audrtors for the audit,

= reviewing the policy on auditor independence and the
basis of the provision of non-audit-related services by
the external auditors,

»  meeting with representatives of the external auditors in
the USA (while on a scheduled site wvisit),

s recewing and considernng regular reports from the Head
of Global Risk and Assurance on the Group's rnisk
managernent system, indings from reviews of internal
financial controls, and the remit, organisatron, annual plan
and resources of the internal audit function,

» undertaking a review of the effectiveness of the internal
audit function, with the assistance of Independent Audit
Limited The review concluded that the internal audit
function had greatly strengthened over the last few years
and was making a significant contribution to the internal
governance of the Group Further development will
be necessary to ensure that the internal audn function
continues to meet the Group's needs which will evolve with
the implementation of the Group’s strategy In addition,
some opportunities to improve processes and practices
were identified and are being implemented,

» again with the assistance of Independent Audit Limited,
undertaking a review of the effectivenass of the external
auditors, the outcome of which 1s reported below,

n reviewing the Committee's terms of reference and its
etfectiveness The review in 2010 concluded that no
substantive amendments to the terms of reference were
required and that the Committee had fulfilled its role
and responsibilities appropriately,

s reviewing the annual report disclosure itemns relevant to
the Committee, including the going concern statement and
the reports on nisk management and internal control,

s reviewing the potential impact on the Group's financial
statements of significant corporate governance and
accounting statements,

= reviewing the findings of the external auditors, ther
management letters on accounting procedures and
internal financial controls and aud representation letters,

s meeting separately with the Chief Executive, Group
Finance Director, external auditors and the Head of
Global Risk and Assurance in arder {o understand any
concerns relevant to the Audit Committee that they
might have,

s reviewing procedures under which employees may, in
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting, financial control or
other matters, and

s reviewing an annual report on the Group’s systems of
internal controf and its effectiveness, and reporting the
results of the review to the Board

The Committee operates a pollcy to safeguard the objectivity
and independence of the external auditors This policy sets
out certain disclosure requirements by the external auditors to
the Committes, restrictions on the employment of the external
auditors’ former employees, partner rotation, and procedures
for the approval of non-audit-related services provided by the
external auditors During the year, the Committee reviewed the
processes that the external auditors have 1n place to safeguard
therr independence and received a letter from them confirming
that, 1n their opinion, they rermained independent

The procedure for the provision of non-audit-related services
by the external auditors 1s governed by a schedule appended
to the policy on auditor independence It states the services
that the external auditers are not permitted to provide and
those that the external auditors may provide, together with the
appropnate approvals processes

The Committee receives a regular report setting out the non-
audit-related services provided by the external auditors dunng
the year and the fees charged Details of the amounts paid to
the external auditors are given in Nete 8 on page 74 Having
undertaken a review of the non-audit-related services provided
during the year, the Committee 1s satisfied that these services
did not prejudice the external auditors' iIndependence

In ight of the long-standing nature of Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers LLP’s tenure as the external auditors of the Group's
accounts, the Audit Committee appeointed Independent

Audit Limited to undertake a review of the external auditors
during the year The review concluded that Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers LLP provided a good service to Tate & Lyle and
adwsed that there was no need to undertake a tender for the
audit The Committee concurred with these conclusions The
Committee alsc reviewed the fees paid to other audit firms for
services during the year ended 31 March 2010 and noted that
there were no contractual obligations that would restrict the
Committee's choice of external auditors should it decide that
any change was appropriate The Committee recommended to
the Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP continue to act
as auditors to the Group PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have
indicated thewr willingness to continue in office, and a resolution
that they be re-appointed wil be proposed at the AGM

Risk management

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the Group’s
system of internal control and nisk management The schedule
of matters reserved to the Board ensures that the directors
control, among other matters, all sigmificant strategic, financial
and organisational 1ssues

The Group's enterpnse-wide risk management and reporting
process helps Group management to identify, assess, prioritise
and mitigate nsk The process involves an ongoing programme
of workshops, faciitated by the risk management function, held
around the Group The nisks identified are collated and reported
through functional and divisional levels to the Group Executive
Committee This culminates n the dentification of the Group's
key business, financial, operational and compliance nisks with
associated action plans and controls to mitigate them where
possible (and to the extent deemed appropriate taking account
of costs and benefits)

As part of this process, senmor executive management confirms
to the Audit Committee once a year that these key nsks are
being managed appropnately within therr operations, and that
controls have been examined and are effective Responsibility
for managing each key nsk and the associated mitigating
controts are allocated to an individual executive within each
divisian Changes in the status of the key nisks and changes to
the nsk matnx are reported reguiarly tc executive management
and to the Board
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Dunng the year ended 31 March 2010, the nsk assessment
process was reviewed and changes were made to improve the
process across the Group The enhanced process continues
to follow the Committee of Sponsoring Qrganizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ) Enterprise Risk Framework
The COSO framework provides a process to manage the
nsk of falure to achieve business objectives and assurance
aganst matenal foss or mis-statement A series of nsk
assessments was carried out, culminating in a8 workshop
with the Group Executive Committee at which the specHic
Group risks and the key risks from each business area were
considered The output, a Group Risk Assessment, was then
reviewed by the Board

Internal control

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the
Group's system of internal control and for reviewing s
effectiveness The Board delegates to execulive management
the responsibiiity for designing, operating and monitoring both
the system and the maintenance of effective internal control
in each of the Group’s businesses These systems of internal
control are designed to manage rather than eliminate nsk,
and can provide only reasonabile and not absclute assurance
against material errors, losses, fraud or breaches of

laws or regutations

Executive management is also responstble for establishing
and maintaiming adequate mternal control and nsk
management systems relating to the financial reporting
process The systems and controls in place mclude policies
and procedures that relate to the mantenance of records
that, in reasonable detall, accurately and farly reflect
transactions and cispesittons of assets, provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, require
representatives of the businesses to certify that therr reported
information gives a true and fair view of the state of affars
of the business and 1ts results for the pened, and review and
reconcie reported data

All the matenial joint ventures to which the Group i party
currently foltow the Group’s formal systems of internal control,
and their internal control procedures are regularly reviewed by
the internal audit function The systems of internal control are
based on a process of identifying, evaluating and managing
nsks and include the nsk management processes set out
above These accord with the guidance in the Turnbull Report
and were In place throughout the year and up to the date

of this annual report The key risks that might hinder the
achieverment of the Group’s business objectives are managed,
controlled and maonitored by the following processes

s the Group’s businesses operate under mandatory written
palicies and procedural manuals to provide an appropriate
control environment These set out the Group's
commitment to competence, ntegrity and ethics
The policies are reviewed by the Board annually and
changes are made as appropriate to enhance existing
control procedures,

» key strategic nsks are addressed through the Group’s
process of preparation of plans by each operating umt
and the compilation of these risks in the Group’s
operating plan,

s there 15 a comprehensive annual planming and financial
reporting system companng results with plan and the
previous year on a monthly and cumulative basis
The process of planning, budgeting and making
short-term forecasts, which 1s subject to an ongoing
review, should provide early warning of potential financial
rsks Revised forecasts for the year are produced at
teast four imes a year,
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s the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director
undertake regular financial and operational reviews of
the major operating units within the Group,

a the Chief Executive and the Group Finance Director
submit written reponts to each Board meeting, which
include consideration of changing threats to and
opportunities for the business The standard Board review
of investments and disposals includes identification of
major risks that could affect the outcome of each project,
with a sensitivity analysis,

a the Company has procedures for the authonsation and
project management of capital expendnure and
mnvestment, granting of guarantees, trading and hedging
of currencies and commodities and use of treasury
products, and

» formal annual reports and presentations are received
by the Board on certain areas of special sk Thesse
include insurance, treasury rmanagement, commaodity
trading, pensions, and safety and environmental 1ssues

The Audit Committee periodically reviews the effectiveness of
the system of internal control through reports from the external
auditors and the internal audit function The internai audit
function follows a planned programme of reviews that are
ahgned to the nisks existing in the Group's businesses [t has
the authority to review any relevant aspect of the business

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Commuttee, has
conducted an annual assessment of the effectiveness of the
systemns of nsk management and interna! control duning the
financial year and up to the date of this annual repert The
review, co-ordinated by the internal audit function, includes a
Group-wide certification that appropriate internal controls are
n place to faclitate the Board's review of effectiveness The
internal audit function monitors and selectively checks the
results of this exercise, ensuring that the representations made
are consistent with the results of the department’s work during
the year Where weaknesses have been identified, plans for
correcting them are also reported The resutts of this exercise
are sumrarised for the Audit Committee and the Board in the
event that any significant losses were to be incurred during
the year as a result of a fallure of controls, a detaled analysis
would be provided to the Audit Committee and the Board The
Board confirms that no significant weaknesses were identified
in relation 1o the review conducted dunng the year and
accordingly no remedial action 1s required




Directors’ remuneration report

This report has been prepared in accordance with the
reguirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) and
Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium Sized Companies

and Groups (Accounts and Reports} Regulations 2008 (the
Regulations), the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authonty
and the Combined Code PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
have audited such content as required by the Act (the tabular
information on pages 53 to 56) A resclution to approve this
report will be proposed at the AGM on 22 July 2010

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises the independent
non-executive directors and the Chairman of the Board The
members of the Commitiee during the year and up to the date
of this report were

Evert Henkes, Charrman

Liz Airey

Wilharm Camp (from 1 May 2010}
Richard Delbridge

Sir Peter Gershon

Douglas Hurt {from 10 March 2010)
Sir David Lees (untit 23 July 2009)
Robert Walker

Cr Barry Zoumas

The Chief Executive, Group Human Resources Director, Group
Compensation Manager and Company Secretary, who acts

as Secretary to the Committee, are normally invited to attend
meetings, although none are present or invoived when his or
her own remuneration 1s discussed

The Comrnittee met eight times during the year Individual
members’ attendance records at meetings during the year are
gwven 1n the table on page 42

Responsibilities

The Committee’s terms of reference, which can be found on
the Gompany's website at www tateandlyle com, are reviewed
annually to ensure they reflect best practice The Committee’s
responsibilities include

» setting the remuneration of the executive directors, the
Company Charman and other senior management in
accordance with a policy determined by the Committee
and agreed with the Board,

m reviewing the competitiveness of executive remuneration
using data from independent consuftants,

= reviewing the operation of the long-term incentive plans
and annual bonus plan, and determining the participams
and overall grant levels, and

n agreeing performance targets for the annual bonus plan
and long-term incentive plan and reviewing performance
against these targets

The Committee reviews s work and effectiveness each year
and reports any recommendations to the Board The 2010
review concluded that the Committee had futfilled its role
and responsibilities appropriately

Consultants

The Committee receives advice from independent
remuneration consultants During the year, Hewitt New
Bndge Street (Hewitt} (part of Hewitt Associates Lid} acted
as principal adviser to the Committee

In addition to market remuneration data provided by

Hewitt and by Towers Watson, the Committee receives total
shareholder return performance data and ranking information
for the Performance Share Plan and Deferred Bonus Share
Plan and general market data from Kepler Associates
Linklaters provides general legal advice on remuneration
matters Towers Watson assists with pension accounting
for the Company and acts as actuanes to the UK-based
Tate & Lyle Group Pension Scheme Hewitt, Towers Watson
and Kepler Associates provided no other services to the
Group Linklaters gave legal advice to the Group on a

range of matters

Review of executive remuneration

in ight of the Company’s evolving strategic objectives,
explained in the Chief Executive's review, the Committee
undertook a comprehensive review of executive remuneration
arrangerments, with input from its external advisers The
results of this review, and proposed changes to remuneration
for the forthcoming year are explamned in the summary of
executive remuneration review on page 52

Remuneration strategy and policy

Strategy

The Company’s remuneration strategy 1s to provide
remuneration packages that attract, retain and motivate
high-calibre indviduals such that they will deliver superior
operational performance and cutstanding financial results,
n a manner that aligns with the Group’s core values and
Business Code of Conduct to foster sustainable, profitable
growth To do so packages must

s be aligned to shareholders’ interests,

be competitive,

encourage a focus on long-term, sustaned performance,
be farr and transparent, and

be consistent across the Group

Policy
To achieve the strategy, the policy for the remuneration of
executive directors and sensor executives includes

setting base salary around the market median,
rewarding stretching, supernor performance with upper
quartile levels of reward,

s providing an appropnate balance between reward in the
short and the long term and between reward that is fixed
and variable, ang

= providing a competitive, balanced package of benefits

The Commutiee also takes into account the general pay and
employment conditions of other employees of the Company
when determining executive directors’ remuneration for the
relevant financial year This includes taking account of the
lavels of base salary increase for employees below executive
level when reviewing executive base salarnes, and ensunng
that the same principles apply in setting performance

targets for executive’s incentives as for other employees

of the Group

Tate & Lyle Annual Report 2010 47

Financial statemonts Governance Business review Overview

Shareholder mformation




48

avern i1 i remuneraugn 1euor
G ance Dwectors remuneral porl

Remuneration arrangements during the year
ended 31 March 2010 for executive directors

Balance between fixed and variable components
The relative proportions of the Chief Executive’s and the
Group Finance Director’s remuneration, when valued at both
target and stretch performance levels, including base salary,
annual bonus and the award value of the long-term incentives,
are shown in the charts below

Remuneration componenis

The current remuneration package for executive directors consists of base salary, annual bonus, other benefits, long-term

incentives, and retirement benefits as follows

Component Objective

Principles

Reflects market value of the indvidual,
his or her skills and expensnce
and performance

Base salary .

Reviewed annually with changes usually taking effect on 1 Apnl
Benchmarked agatnst relevant comparators, pnmanty the 50th
to 130th ranked comparnies of the FTSE

Base salary reviews taks into account pay mncrease levels for
employeses below the executive lavel

Positioned around the median of the relevant market, taking
account of personal performance

Annual bonus Incentivises year-on-year delivery

of short-term performance objectives

Targets set at the stant of each financial year by reference to

the annual aperating plan, performance in prevtous years, market
expectations and the prevailing economic chimate

Level of payout is determined by reference to the performance

of the Group, pnmanly agamnst financial objectives

Other benefits Provide a compsatitive, cost-effective

benefits package

Designed to reflect local market practice

t.ong-term Incentivise long-term value creation s Discretionary annual award of shares, subject 10 perforrmance
incentives Assists retention of key individuals conditions and remaning in service
Aligns executives’ and shareholders’
tnterests
Pension Provides competitive post-retirement » Delivered through a company pension plan and/or cash
benefits allowances, reflecting local market practice
s For executive directors only base salary 1s pensionable
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Base salary, benefits and other allowances

Since the Chief Executive joined the Group on

1 October 2008, the Committee agreed that an increase at

the normal review date of 1 April would not be appropriate In
2010 The Group Finance Director's base salary was increased
by 2%, effectrve 1 Apnl 2010 (2009 - 0%) This was in ne
with levels of base salary increase for other employees

Executive directors’ base salares are shown in the
table below

As at 1 Apri 2009 or
date of appointment

As at 1 Apnl 2010 i later

£ £

Javed Ahmed 675 000 675 000
Tim Lodge 382 500 375 000

Executive directors also vecewe other benefits compnsing
principally a company car or a cash allowance in lieu, health
msurance, and premiums paid on Iife assurance policies

Armual bonus scheme

Bonus for the year ended 31 March 20710
Two performance criteria were applied to the bonus for the
year ended 31 March 2010 as follows

Performance criteria Propartion of annual meentive

Group profit before tax, exceptional
items and amortisation (PBTEA) 75%
Operating cash flow metric (cash flow) 25%

The performance target criteria consisted of threshold and
target awards payable on the achievement of predetermined
performance levels, and a maximum award payable for

the achievernent of a performance level In excess of target
performance There was a mmmimum requirement that before
any bonus could be payable under the cash flow metnc,
threshold PBTEA had 10 be achieved For bonus purposes,
PBTEA and cash flow were based on the performance of the
Group’s continuing businesses

The executive directors’ award potential, as a percentage
of base salary, for the achievement of different levels of
performance was as follows

% of base salary

Trreshold Target Marnum
Javed Ahmed 10% 75% 150%
Twn Lodge 10% 50% 100%

The financial results for the year ended 31 March 2010 are
explained n detail n the business review The Group delivered
an outstanding performance in operating cash flow, with

a £417 million {34%} reduction sn net debt, and a net debt
to EBITDA ratio of 1 8 times (2009 - 2 4 times) Free cash
flow of £540 milon (2009 - £154 rmithon) was generated
Performance substantially exceeded the ‘stretch’ level
under this component of bonus Group PBTEA, measured
on a constant exchange rate basis, was 97% of the
‘stretch’ performance level after adjustments The
Remuneratton Committee awarded Tim Lodge a total
bonus of £352,621 (934% of base salary) taking account

of performance on the two metncs, and s outstanding
personal contribution to the results for the year ending

31 March 2010 and to the development of the new Group
strategy for the forthcoming year

As reported in the Annual Report 2009, under the terms

of his recrutment package, Javed Ahmed was, subject to
certain conditions, entitled to a compensatory cash payment
of 75% of base salary, to recognise the potential annual
bonus payment foregone from his fermer employer The
Rermuneration Committee, with input from the Nommations

Committee, deemed that the conditions had been met and
accordingly a payment of £506,250 (75% of base salary)
was awarded to him In accordance with the terms of his
appointment, Javed Ahmed’s entitlement te a bonus under
the Tate & Lyle annual bonus scherne for the year ended
31 March 2010 was reduced by the amount of this
compensatory cash payment and was such that he did
riot receive any bonus payment

Long-term incentive arrangements
Performance-based long-term incentive plans (LTIPs) closely
align executive directors' and senior executives’ interests
with those of shareholders, and are therefore an important
component ot the overall package

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company operated
oneg LTIF, the Tate & Lyle 2003 Performance Share Plan (PSP)
In addrtion, there are some outstanding awards that were
made under earlier plans that are no longer in operation or
have been suspended

Performance Share Plan (PSP) N

Maximum award level

Under the PSP, executive directors and ather senior
executives are awarded, at the discretion of the Committee,
a condonal night to recewe a number of Tate & Lyle
ordinary shares in value up to a maximum of 175% of

base salary per annum

Javed Ahmed received special long-term incentive awards
to facinate mis recrutment, detalled in the Annuat Report
2009, and aisc on page 54 Although these were not granted
under the PSP, they have similar terms to PSP awards
Javed Ahmed did not recerve a grant in 2009 under the

PSP self

Performance conditrons - 2009 awards

The number of shares a participant ultimately receives
depends on the Group’s performance during the three-year
pertormance penod beginming on 1 April in the year of the
award For the 2009 awards, the performance condrtions
comprised two elements

a) Total sharehoider return (TSR] - 50% of total award

Performance 1s measured by comparing the TSR {share
price growth plus reinvested dividends) of Tate & Lyle
relative to a comparator group comprising the companies
occupying pasitons 50 to 130 of the FTSE rankings at

the beginning of the relevant performance peried of three
years The Committee considered the comparator group to
be appropriate given the Company’s position in the FTSE
Index The Committee chose the reiative TSR metnc as an
objective measure of the value created for shareholders The
Committee reviews the performance measurement metrics
and the continued validity of the comparator group annually
All share prices for the purpose of the TSR calculation are
bhased on a three-month average

b) Adjusted diluted earnings per share (EPS) metric -

50% of total award

Performance 18 measured by comparnng the compound
annual growth rate {CAGR) of the Company's adjusted diluted
EPS from total operations over the three-year performance
penod against predetermined targets The Committee
considered that the use of adjusted diluted EPS alongside
relative TSR created a balance between two commonly used
internal and external metncs, both being relevant measures
aligned ta shareholder value
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Shares awarded under the PSP 1n 2009 vest in accordance
with the following schedule

CAGR of adjusted

diluted EPS dunng the Relative TSR ranking

Percentage of performance penad percentile

award vesting (50% of award) {50% of award)

0% Below 5% Below median
25% 5% At median

On a straight-ine ~ Between 5% Between median
basis between and 15% and upper quartile

25% and 100%

100% 15% or more At upper quartile

or above

There 1s no retesting of the performance conditions

Before any shares become eligible for release, the Committee
must also be satisfied that this 18 justified by the underlying
financial performance of the Group over the measurement
penod Subject to the Committee’s approval, the conditional
award 15 then converted into an option to acquire the
appropnate number of shares

Suspended schemes

Deferred Bonus Share Plan (DBSFP)

Awards were made under the DBSP from 2005 to 2008,
and it was suspended in 2009 Under the DBSP, executives
had the opportunity to defer up to 50% of their annual cash
bonus (after deduction of tax, national insurance or other
socral securty payments) and invest the amount deferred

in the Company's shares Subject to the satisfaction of
employment cenditions for awards made prior to 2008

and a performance condition over the performance period,
participants received awards of matching shares based on
the number of shares which could have been acquired from
the gross bonus amount deferred by the participant (jodged
shares) The performance condition attached to past awards
1s the same as that attached to PSP awards made in the
same year

Awards made in 2007 under the PSP and DBSP

The awards made under the PSP and DBSP n 2007 were
subject to a performance condition based on the Cornpany's
TSR over the three-year performance period from 1 April 2007
to 31 March 2010, relative to a comparator group of
companies (being those occupying positions 590 to 130

in the FTSE rankings at the start of the measurement pericd)
The Company’s TSR ranked Tate & Lyle 49th in the comparator
group of companies This was below the minimum requirement
of median performance, and accordingly, awards made

under the PSP did not vest and lapsed DBSP participants

will receive ane matching share for every three lodged shares
subject to the service requirements in the plan rules

Change of control and voting

Some of the Company's ernployee share plans include
restrictions on transferring shares while the shares are
subject to the plan Al of the Company's share plans contain
provisions relating to a change of control (as explaned in
more detail above) Outstanding awards and options would
normally vest and become exercisable on a change of control,
subject to the satisfaction of any performance condihons at
that time Where participants are the beneficial owners of the
shares under an employee share pilan, but not the registered
owner, the voting nghts are normally exercised by the
registered owner at the direction of the participants

Sharesave Scheme

The Scherne 1s open to all employees in the UK, including
executive directors No performance conditions are
attached to options granted under the Scheme since it 1s an
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all-employee scheme, and the value of iIndwvidual grants is
capped Options granted to participants are normally set
at a discount of 10% to the market value of the shares at
the time of the grant

Dilution

To sabisfy options granted under the 1992 Executive Share
Option Scheme (closed In Juty 2000) and the Sharesave
Scheme, the Company 1ssues new shares To satisfy
outstanding awards under the PSP and DBSP matching
shares, the Company uses either treasury shares or shares
that have been purchased by the Trustees of the Tate & Lyle
Employee Benefit Trust The Company will use shares that
have been purchased by the Employee Benefit Trust to
satisfy awards made to Javed Ahmed

In the ten-year period to 31 March 2010, awards made under
the executive schemes represented 1 6% of the Company's
1ssued ordinary share capital (2009 - 1 8%), leaving available
diution headroom of 3 4% (2009 -3 2%) Awards made
under all share schemes represented 3 0% of the Company's
1ssued ordinary share capital (2009 - 3 1%) leaving avallable
dilution headroom of 7 0% (2009 - 6 9%)

Executive shareholding policy

The shareholding requirement for Javed Ahrned 1s four

times base salary Under the palicy applying during the year
ended 31 March 2010 the shareholding requirement for other
executive directors was one times base salary Executive
directors who have not met therr target shareholding are
expected to retain a significant proportion of shares acquired
through LTIPs towards meeting their target

Pensions

The Group's largest pension scheme s the UK-based

Tate & Lyle Group Pension Scheme (Group Scheme), a
defined benefit arangement The Company closed the Group
Scheme to new entrants from 1 April 2002, and, since then,
new employees have been offered defined-contribution type
pension provision through a Stakeholder Plan, which 1s an
insurance-based contract The Group Scheme will close to
future final salary pension accrual on 5 Aprii 2011 and be
replaced by a defined contribution pension plan

Current executive directors

Javed Ahmed 1s not a member of the Group Scheme for
pension purposes and accordingly has acerued no pension
benefits under # He has been provided with Iife assurance
cover and has also participated In the Group Income
Protection Scherme, which applies to all UK employees who
are not otherwise covered for il-health benefits under the
Group Scheme He 1s paid a cash aliowance calculated

as 35% of base 'salary, from which he can make his own
retirement savings arrangements

Tim Lodge ts a member of the Group Scheme and currently
accrues pension at a rate of approximately 1/38th of
pensionable earnings (basic salary only) for each year of
service, subject 1o an employee contribution of 3% of
pensionable salary The benefit also includes a widow's
pension payable on his death and a lump sum on death In
service Once in payment, his pension (and any subsequent
widow's pension} is subject to increases in line with the

UK Retaill Price Index {RPI} up to a maximum of 5%, with a
minmum of 3%

Former executive directors

lain Ferguson, the former Chief Executive, left the Company
on 31 December 2009 He was not a member of the Group
Scheme for pension purposes and accordingly accrued no
pension benefits under t He was pawd a cash allowance
caiculated as a percentage of base salary He was provided
with life assurance cover and also participated in the Group
Income Protection Scheme




Detalls of the accrued pension benefits for those executive
directors who panticipate in the Group Scheme are given

on page 55 Details of amounts paid in heu of pensions are
included n the table on page 53, under pgnsion allowance

Executive directors’ service contracts

Polcy

Contracts for executive directors are normally terminable by
the Company on a maximum of one year's notice, and by

the director on up to six months' notice tn the event of early
termination of an executive director’s contract, the Company's
policy 15 to take legally-appropnate mitigation factors mto
account in determining the amount of compensation payable

Current executive direclors

Both the executive directors have contracts terminable by
the Company on not more than one year's notice, and by the
indiwidual director on six months' notice Where the Company
seeks termination of the contract (other than where summary
dismissal s appropriate), the Company has the right, but

not the obhigation, to pay in heu of notice, the salary and
contractual benefits that the director would have receved
during the notice penod In the case of Tim Lodge, the
Company may, as a consequence, make a reduced payment,
or require phased payment, so as 1o ensure that he fulfils his
abligation to mitigate his losses

The details of the executive directors’ service contracts as at
31 March 2010 are given in the table below

Effective date Unexpireg Notice
ot contract term panod
Javed Ahmed, 1 October
Chief Executive 2009 52 weeks 52 weeks
Twn Lodge,
Group Finance 4 December
Director 2008 52 weeks 52 weeks

Former executive directors

lain Ferguson retired as an executive director and stepped
down from the Board on 1 Cctober 2009, but remained an
employee until 31 December 2009 to facilitate an orderly
transition to the new Chief Executive Whalst he remained an
employee, his salary continued to be paid and he continued
to receve his cash allowance in lieu of pension and benefits
He was also eligible to participate in the annual bonus
scheme n respect of this service up to 31 December 2009,
subject to performance conditions For the period betwesn

1 January 2010 and the end of his notice perod 31 May 2010
lain Ferguson received five months’ pay in ieu of notice
including base salary, cash allowance in lieu of pension,

and benefits lain Ferguson's existing PSP and DBSP share
awards were reduced pro rata, to the end of his notice period,
and continue to be subject to performance conditions

Chairman’s fees

Sir Peter Gershon became Chaiman on 23 July 2009 and
received fees of £275,000 per annum {pro rata) for the year
ended 31 March 2010 The Committee reviews the Charrman’s
fees each year and the Charman does not participate n
discussions or decisions relating to his own remuneration

Following the most recent review of fees, the Remuneration
Committee agreed that an increase would not be required
on 1 Apnl 2010 and the Chairrman’s annual fees have been
mantained at £275,000 for the year ending 31 March 2011

Non-executive directors’ fees

Non-executive directors’ fees, reviewed annually by the
Board, are set at a level to retamn individuals with the
necessary experience and ability to make a substantial
contribution to the Group Fees paid are commensurate with
those paud by other UK-listed companes In addition to the

basic fee for each non-executive director and the Senior
Independent Director, supplements are paid to the Chairmen
of the Audit and Remuneration Committees to reflect the extra
responsibilities attached to these positions A supplement

ts also paid to Dr Barry Zoumas for chainng the Tate & Lyle
Research Advisory Group

The non-executive directors do not participate in the Group's
incentive or pension schemes, nor do they receive other
benehts The non-executive directors do not have service
contracts or notice periods, but, under the terms of ther
appointment, they are usually expected to serve on the
Board for between three and nine years, with a review every
three years, subject to thew re-election by shareholders
Non-executive directors have no nght to compensation on
the early termunation of ther appointment

The most recent review of non-executive directors’ fees
occurred on 1 April 2010 The fees are shown in the
table below

Basic fees (per annum}

As a1 April 2010 As at 1 April 2009
£ £

49200 '
56 850 -

48 000
54 500

Non-executive director
Semor Independent Director

Supplements (per annumy

As at 1 Aprll 2010  As at 1 Apnt 2009
£ £

Chairman of Audit Committee 15375 15 000
Charrman of Rernuneration :
Committee 10 250 ; 10 000
Chairman of Research .
Adwisory Group 215626 21 000

Executive directors’ external appointments

The Board believes that the Company benefits from executive
directors holding external non-executive directorships Such
appointments are subject to approval by the Board and are
normally restricted to one position for each executive director
Fees may be retained by the executive director concerned
Neither of the executive diwrectors holds a non-executive
directorship currently

Total shareholder return performance

The graph below, as required under the Regulations, ustrates
the cumulative TSR performance of Tate & Lyle against the
FTSE 100 Index over the past five years The FTSE 100

Index 1s considered to be an appropriate benchmark for this
purpose as It is a broad equrty market index with constituents
comparable in size to Tate & Lyle The graph shows the TSR
for the FTSE 100 Index and Tate & Lyle in the five years from
31 March 2005
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Governance Directors’ remunetabion 1epont

Summary of executive remuneration review

The Committee undertook a comprehensive review of
executive remuneration during the year ended 31 March 2010,
and 1s planning to implement a number of changes to
remuneration pohcy for the year ending 31 March 2011,
intended to provide more emphasis on dnving Company
performance and delivering value for shareholders

The remuneration arrangements for Javed Ahmed {(detaills
of which were disclosed in the Annual Report 2009 and in
this report) were excluded from this review having been
agreed on his appomntment in 2009 His arrangements will
remam unchanged

Following consultation with major shareholdars and
shareholder bodies, a number of changes to the existing
arrangements for Tim Lodge and other members of the
Group Executive Committes are proposed

These changes are designed to support the Company’s
strategy, with a greater emphasis on performance-related
pay, alignment to shareholder value growth, sustained
performance and management of nsk The changes also
reflect Tate & Lyle's increasingly international business profile
and management team, with more than three-quarters of
revenues generated outside the UK

Annual bonus for the year ending 31 March 2011

1 Performance metrics

There will be a new approach to performance metncs for
annual bonus, designed to reflect the key value dnvers

for the business There will be three performance metrics
sales growth, profitability and cash conversion cycle, to
reflect management’s ability to grow the business, generate
underlying profit and convert profit into cash Sales growth
will be measured by a contribution metnc (net sales less raw
material cost), profit will be based on the current PBTEA
metric, and cash conversion cycle will be based on net
working capital The greatest emphasis wilt be on profit,
hefore any bonus becomes payable under any of the criteria,
a mmtmum level of profit will need to be achieved To achieve
the maximum bonus payout, performance aganst all three
metrics will need to be outstanding Consistent with prior
years, all numbers will be restated on the basis of exchange
rates used for the Group's annual operating plan

As the financial targets are commercially sensitive they

will not be disclosed in advance However, following
shareholder consultation, the Commuttee has determined

that the directors’ remuneration report for the year ending

31 March 2011 will include the financial targets for each
mestric, the extent to which they were achieved and the impact
of this on the bonus paid

2 Target and maximum bonus payable

The target level of annual bonus will remain unchanged
at 50% of base salary However, the maximum bonus will
be set at 175% of base salary, for achieving outstanding
performance across all three metrics

3 Delvery in shares

The portion of any annual bonus above 100% of base

salary will be delivered in Tate & Lyle PLC shares, which will
be deferred for a further two years These shares will not
benefit from any matching This will centribute to executives’
increased shareholding requirements (see below) and provide
a focus on sustained shareholder value growth and nsk
management

The balance of the annual bonus will be delivered in
non-deferred cash

4 Claw-back

The Committee will have the authonty to claw back up to
100% of annual bonus, In certamn situations such as employee
misconduct or mes-staternent of financial results
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Long-term incentive

1 Award size and sharehelding requirement

The PSP rules currently permit a maximum individual award of
1 75 times base salary Following the executive remuneration
review, the Committee concluded it should seek shareholder
approval for an increase in the award imit, which 18 detailed
in the Notice of AGM The proposed larger award size will
also be subject to a new approach to performance conditions
(see below) It is also accompanied by a significant increase
in the executive sharehalding requirement, also detalled in
the Notice The percentage of the total award that vests at
threshold performance will also reduce, as a further incentive
to drive higher levels of performance

The USA s the largest operating base and source of sales
and profits for the company A higher LTI award hmit will
enable the Commuttee to make awards that take better
account of market practice amongst companies operating
in the North Amerncan market

Accordingly, sharehclder approval of this amendment to the
rules of the PSP is being sought at the forthcoming AGM

2 Performance condilions

The Committee’s view s that performance conditions for the
PSP should give management a clear Iine of sight between
therr performance and reward, as this will maximize the
motivational iImpact of the Plan As Tate & Lyle has few,

if any, directly comparable peers, relative TSR does not
provide this kne of sight The broad peer group that has
been used for previous PSP awards includes companies
across many different sectors, and therefore does not give

a like-for-like companson

It 1s therefore proposed to apply financial performance
conditions to the award These will be metrics that are
inportant drivers of sharehotder value The Committes is
aware that financial performance conditions are sometimes
enticised for being susceptible to marupulation The
Committee will therefore make any necessary adjustments
to the performance outcomes to ensure that the results are a
true reflection of the actual performance achieved

For the awards in 2010 the proposed metrics are

(a} Adjusted diluted earnings per share (EPS) metric
50% of total award

Performance is measured by companng the compound
annual growth rate (CAGR) of the Company’s adjusted
diluted EPS from continuing operations over the three-year
performance penod against the predetermined targets

(b} Adjusted return on capital employed {(ROCE)
50% of total award

Tate & Lyle has extensive capital nvestment in its plant and
equipment, and from previous acquisitions Ensuning this
generates a healthy level of return 1s an important objective
and accordingly the ROCE metnc has been introduced

Performance 1s measured by the adjusted ROCE percentage
over the three-year performance penod against the
predetermined targets

Details of the performance targets and vesting scale for the
2010 awards to be made under the PSP are provided in
the Notice of AGM, accompanying the resolution seeking
shareholder approval for a change to the award hmit




Directors’ emoluments
The following table shows the directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2010

Total Total
Beanefits Compansanon year tc yoar 1o
Sailary Pension and other Annual for loss 31 March 31 March
arl fees allpwancaes allowances' bonus of office 2010 2008
£000 £060 £000 £000 £000 £000 £0Q00
Chairman i
Sir Peter Gershon? 221 ; - 10 | - - 23 17
Executive directors ! ; ! '
Javed Ahmed 338 18 | 15 | 506 | - 977 -
Tim Lodge 375 | - 14 353 | - 742 124
Non-executive directors i i | :
Liz Airey 63 | - - - - 63 58
Richard Delbndge 55 ¢ - - - - 55 59
Evert Henkes 58 ! - - - - 58 58
Douglas Hurt* 3 - - - - 3 -
Robert Walker 48 ¢ - - - - 48 48
Dr Barry Zoumas 69 ! - - - - 69 69
Former directors ' . : : .
Sir David Lees® 106 ; - 7 - - 113 357
lain Ferguson® 363 ; 145 | 9 a2’ 437 1266 1044
Directors who retired before ! ' ; H
31 March 20097 - - - - - i - 231
Total 1699 i 263 | 55 1171 437 ;. 3625 4155

1 Banetis for tha Chauman and executive direciors include the prowsion of a ¢ar {or cash allowanca in ke Other benefits for executve directors nclude health insurance
and prammms on hfe assurance policlas (whare not prowdad by pension benafit plans)

2 Sr Pater Gershon was appainted Chaimman an 23 July 2008 Tha fees ha recened dunng the year include the fees ha recened in s capacily of non executive drectod
and Chawrman Elect during the penod 1 Apnl 10 22 Juty 2009

3 Javed Ahmad was appontad a diractor with effect from 1 October 2009 The amount shown under annual bonus represents a comMpensalory cash payment 10 recognise
the value of bonus payments foregone with fus farmer employer equal to 75% of his base salary as disclosed in the Annual Raport 2008 Javed Anmed did not raceive
any addibonal bonus under the Tate & Lo anrual bonus schema as his bonus award was more than offsat by ths compensatory cash payment

4 Douglas Hurt was appanted to the Board on 10 March 2010

5 Sy Dawd Lees ceased 10 be a director on 23 July 2009

6 lan Fergusan ceased to be a dinector on 1 October 2008 but ramaned an employee untl 31 December 2009 to assist with the ordary ransiion 1o the new
Chief Executive For tha perod batwaen 1 Octaber and 31 Dacember 2008 i which lan Ferguson dic not serve as a drgctor it remanad an employee e was paid
base salary of £181 500 bonus of £156 149 a pansion allowance of £72 600 and a car allowance of £3 750 Thesa amounts are not included in the table above
Compansation o7 loss of office raprasents payments I ligu of notica I accordance with s servce contract far the penod between 1 January and 31 May 2010 which
was the ramander of his notice period This ncluded payments In ey of base salary of £302 500 pension aktowance of £121 000 car allowance of £6 250 and an
ssumate for DBSP shares foregone of £7 000

7 Stuan Strathdee formerly a drector untl he stepped down from the Board at the AGM on 23 July 2008 remainad an employee of the Comparyy workung on strataegic
deveropment untl 31 July 2000 For the four months servad to 31 July 2008 he was pad a base salary of £114 333 a bonus of 198 364 and receved non cash bensfits
of £3 850 Thasa amounts aré not ncludad in the teble above

Performance Share Plan (PSP) - directors’ interests

Conditional nghts to receive Tate & Lyle PLC ordinary shares under the PSP held by directors at 1 Apnl 20089 (or date of
appowntment if later) and 31 March 2010 (or date cf cessation If earlier), together with awards made during the year,
were as follows

Candibonal awards

held at § Aprit 2009 Conditional Condltional awards held at
{or date of  Conditional awards Condiional 31 March 2010
appaintment it later)’ awards released’  Conditional awards {or date of cossatlon if earlior)
macde exercised awards delemed
dunng during lapgact dunng Ellgible
Candstional Detarrad the year?® the yaar®  n the year! the year  Cordiional Deterred  for release
Director ; , : : . .
Tim Lodge 57 B58 -, 1526871 -1 12813 -| 197 732. - -
Former director , ' . ' . ; :
lain Ferguson?® 762 147 | - - 192407: 183 833. -] 385913, — -

1 For awards made v+ 2007 and 2008 perormance 13 moasured Dy companng the Company s TSR with 2 comparalor growp of comparias being companies occupyng
postons 50 to 130 of the FTSE rankings at the beginning of the relevant performance penod If at the and of the performanca penod Tate & Lyle ranks at ihe upper
quartila or atove IN the comparator Group Partcipants in the PSP will be elgible to recewve all of the shares conditionalty awarded to them if the rankung 1s at the median
level 25% of the shares may be recevad No shares will be racewed for below-madian performance For intermediata rankings between median and upper quarile
participants may racenve a proportionate nurmiber of shares InCreasing on a straight-ins basis Vestad shares from the 2007 and 2008 awards are datared for a lurther
12 months after which they ara eligible 10 be exarcisad

2 Tha performanca penad lfor the awards made dunng the year 1s from 1 Apnl 2009 to 31 March 2012 The clasing mkd market sharg pnca on 8 July 2008 {the date
of the 2009 award) was 294 25p

3 The dosng mid market pace of a share on 18 June 2004 the date of award was 323 50p and on 28 May 2009 the date of exercise it was 297 T5p white the shares
were released on that day at a share pnca of 286 00p Tha notional aggregata gain made by the drector on this exercise of Options dunng the year was £572 874
{2009 - Erul)

4 On 1 Apn 2008 100% of the conditonal awards macde in 2008 lapsed becalse performance conditions wore not mat

5 lan Ferguson ceased to be a dwactor on 1 October 2000

Awards made under the PSP are sinuGtured as nl cosLOPLONS 2nd ihe performance conditions atiaching 1o the awards made under the PSP in 2009 are descnbad onpage 49
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Deferred Bonus Share Plan (DBSP) — directors’ interests

Conditional rights to receive matching shares over Tate & Lyle PLC ordinary shares under the DBSP held by directors at

1 Apr! 2009 (or date of appointment If later) and 31 March 2010 {or date of cessation if earlier), together with awards made
during the year, were as follows

Maximum

Sharss Maximum Maximum matching

Sharas Shares acquired matching matching Matching Matching shares

acquwred acquired with net shares shares shares tharas on gross

with net with bonus at On gross. awarded relezsed lapsed bonus at

bonus at net bonus 31 March bBonus at during during dunng 31 March

% Aprll 2009 during the year 2mn9 1 April 2009 the year tha year** the year 010"

Director ! ! : | ;

Tim Lodge 2003 | - 2003 : 6790 | - - - 6790
Former director X : : i :

fain Ferguson® 58 038 ! = 32302 ¢+ 196739 : - 14 540 ¢ 72701 109 498

1 Ordate of cassaton if earker

2 The matching shares representing the minmum ona-for three share match Basad on continued empﬁoyment were raleased on 11 June 2009 and the closing
med market shara prica on that day was 314 25p and on 28 June 2006, the date of award 1t was 589 50p

3 For awards mada in 2006 and 2007 vesting Is determined as folows
» i the shares are held throughout the thres year performance penod and the executive Continues to be employed by the Company matching shares are awarded

on tha basis of one matching share for evary thies lodged shares of
«  for TSR dunng the three year perfcrmance penod of batween median and upper quartie of the companies positioned 50 to 130 of the FTSE Indax at the start of
the performance penod one matching share wit be awardad for sach lodged shara increasing to two matching shares for Lpper quartte performance of above

4 The notonal aggregate gan mada by direclors on the exercise of options dunng the year was £45 692 (2009 - £83 783)

5 For awards mada in 2008 vesting s determuned as follows for TSR dunng the three yedr perormance penod of median aganst the companes posiioned 5010 130
of the FTSE Index at the start of the performance penod one malching shara will be awarded lor each lkadged share ncreasing on a pro rata basis so that two
matching shares are awarded for upper quartle performance

6 lain Ferguson ceased 10 be a director on 1 October 2009

Share awards made to Javed Ahmed

To facilitate the recruitment of Javed Ahmed as Chief Executive in 2009, the Remuneration Commitiee establshed special
share incentive arrangements, applying only to him, cemprising awards to compensate tum for certain long-term incentives
gven up by him as a consequence of leaving his former employer, and to prowide an appropnate lavel of performance-based
incentives taking account of the ongoing level of long-term incentive awards that would have applied had he remamned with
his previous employer

Full details of the awards, which are on terms similar to those set out in the PSP, are as follows

Awards held Awards held at
on appointment Awards Awards Awards 31 March 2010
made relaased Awards deterred

during dunng lapsed dunng Elligible
Conditanal Deferred the year' the year In the year the year Conditional Doferred  for release

Award name : ' i
Compensatory award - A? - -1 418403 ; - -1 419403 -. 419403 -
Compensatory award — B? -1 -1 2686161 - -, -| 269616, - -
Compensatory award — C? - -, 359488: - - —-| 350488: - -

Long-term incentive , : : : i :
award — A* - - 659609 - -1 -] 659609 =i -
Total - - 1708116 - - 419403 (1288713 419403 ' -

1 Tha closing mid market shara price on 28 October 2006 (the date of tha awards) was 444 90p

2 This awart s nol subyect to parfomance condlions to comnpensate him for certan long term Incentives given up by him as a consequence of leaving hus formar employer
and shares will ba defvered on 1 October 2011 being the $eCond anrwarsary of Javed Ahmed jorung the Company Pending delivery Javed Ahmed recenes 8 payment
1 g of dradend on these shares which will be subject 1o the deduction of tax In the evant ol a change of control the shares will be dalivered Immedchataly

3 Trus awards 1s subject to the same performance condition as that which applies 1o awards made undar the PSP in 2008 Performance will be measured and tha relevant
number of shares raleased after the performance penod ends on 31 March 2011

4 Trus awards 15 Subject 1o the same performance condition as that which applas 1o awards made under the PSP i 2000 as disciosed on page 48 Partormance will be
measurod and the relavant number of shares raleased after the performance penod ends on 31 March 2012

The provisions relating to Javed Ahmed, to whom benefits are provided under the special share Incentive arrangements

{the Scheme), the maximum number of shares avallable for release, and the basis for determining the participant’s entitlement
cannot be altered o the advantage of the participant without prior shareholder approval (except for minor amendments to
benefit the administration of the Scheme, to take account of a change 1 legislation or to obtain or maintan favourable tax,
exchange control, or regulatory treatment for the participant or the Company)} The benefits under the special share incentive
arrangements detailed above are non-pensionable The terms of the Scherne will be avadable for inspection at the registered
office of the Cormpany from the date that the Notice of AGM 1s sent until the close of the AGM, and al the place of the AGM for
at least 15 minutes before and dunng the meeting
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Share option schemes - directors’ mnterests

Options over Tate & Lyle PLC ordinary shares each granted under the 2000 Executive Share Option Schemes (ESCS) and
Sharesave Scheme and held by directors as at 1 Apnl 2009 (or date of appointment if later) and 31 March 2010 (or date of
cessation If earlier), and duning the year, were as follows

Exercised Granted Exercise Earllast Latest
At 1 April during during At 31 March pri exercise exescise
2009' the year ihe year 2010¢ {pence} date date Notes
Directors
Javed Ahmed? - - 3720 | 3720 41800 | 010315, 310815, 5
Tim Lodge 4 253 - - . 4253 395 00 010311, 310811 5
Former director : : 5 5
lain Ferguson® 245 718 : - . -1 245718 33575 ! 180606 : 17 06 13 ' 6
272 307 - -, 272307 32500 180607 | 170614 . 6
3988 -1 - 3988 40800, 0108133 310114 5
522 013 - - 522013 : ; 5
1 Or date of appointment if later
2 Or date of cassation If earher
3 Javed Ahmed was appainted a director with effact from 1 October 2009
4 lan Forguson ceased 1o be a dractor on 1 October 2009
5 Granted under the Sharesave Scheme Since i1 1S an all-employee share schema no performanca condiions ara attachad
6 Grantedin 2003 and 2004 urder tha ESOS The options were subject 10 a performance condibon scaled such that ¢ over tha first thrae consecutve years the growih in

tha Company s normaksed aar ngs per share excescad the growth in the UK Retad Price Ingex excluding mortgage interest payments by an average of at least 3% per
yaar (9 3% over three yaars) then 50% of options gramed could be exercised of oy an average of at least 4% per year (12 5% Ovor 1hreg years) (hen 100% of options
granted couk! be exercised All options granted under the ESOS have met therr performanca condition and are exercisable

No other options tapsed or were exercised dunng the year under the ESOS or the Sharesave Scheme, save those disclosed
above No amount was payable for the grant of any option

The market price of the Company’s ordinary shares at the close of business on 31 March 2010 was 454 20p, and the range
during the year to 31 March 2010 was 255 25p to 478 10p

Directors’ pension provision
Tim Lodge is a member of the Group Scheme The information below sets out the disclosures required for him under both the
Listing Rudes of the UK Listing Authonty and the Regulations

Defined benefit schemes

Transter
value of
Increasa Increase
1N accred in transfer
Increase  pension (net Transfer value for
Accumulated Dlrectors tngrease n accrued of inflation) value of Transfer the year
total contribu- in @ccrued pension less accrued value of less
accrued tions pengion during the directors panNsIcn accrued directors
Age at pension at during during  year {net of contnbu at start pension at ceninbu-
31 March yoar-end’ the year® the year’ inflation)' vons® ot tha year* year-and’ nons®
2010 0G0 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 €000
4 T T H T H H T
i :
Director H H : H : ! i .
Tim Lodge 45 168 ° 11 63 i 63 i 834 1 1395 , 2268 862

1 The hgure shown represents the amount of pansion benefits (Dased on service) pensionabla sarmings and wharg appropriate transfarred pension nghts which would
have been preserved for Tim Lodge had ha lgft serwce on 31 March 2030
The figure represents the contributions paid over the year
3 Tha figure represents the difference between the 1otal accrued pensian at 31 March 2010 and the corresponding accrued pension at the baginning of the year
No allowance s made for inflation
As note 3 sxcapt that the figure quated neludes an adiustmant for inflation in accordance with the Listing Auies of the Fingncial Servces Authonty
The figure shown represents the transfer value of the nflaton adjusted increasa in tha totat acerued pension for the year net of the direcior s own conirutions
The figure shown represents the transier vaiue of the accumulated total accrued pension as at the beginning of the year
The figure shown represents the transter value of the accumulated total accrued pension at 31 March 2010 Dunng the course 6! the year tha actuanai basis used
by the Group Scheme was amended by the Trustess generally resulting in an increase in the transter value amount Tha transter value quoted has been calculated using
the actuanal bases which apphed at 31 March 2010 Part of the wicrease » the transfer valua over the year 15 aftnbutable to the change in actuanal basis Dunng the year
discretionary early retrement terms which altowad executves 1o retire at age 80 on an urraduced pension were removed The transfer value quoted reflects Tim Lodge s
normal retvemarnk age of 62 This change had the effact of reducing the transfer vahua relaive to that quoted at 31 March 200G
&  The bgure shown represents 1ne incraase In the transfes value from ike Deguwng of the year to 31 March 2030 The transfer valug quoted nas been calcutated using
the actuanal bases which apphed ai each reporting date net of the drecions own contributions

LN ]

~N N e

Stuart Strathdea a member of the Group pension 5chema and a former drector who steppad down from the Board on 23 July 2008 continugd as an ernplayee unit he
lett tha company on 21 July 2009 Duwning the year Stuan Strathdee opled out of the Group pension scheme and fis full accrued pens:on entitlement was pa:d as a cash
equivatant transter value Lo a prvate pension arrangernant
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Gavernance Directors remumnatabion report

Directors’ interests in Tate & Lyle shares
The table sets out the interests of directors and their
connected persons in Tate & Lyle shares

Ordinary shares

At 31 March At 1 Apnt

2010 2009'

Sir Peter Gershon 35255 34 700
Javed Ahmed? 100 000 : -
Liz Arrey 16000 | 16 000
Richard Delbndge 50 000 - 50 000
Evert Henkes 1016 1 000
Douglas Hurt? - -
Tim Lodge 27246 26818
Robert Walker 10429 10265
Dr Barry Zoumas 27 000 . 27 000

1 Or dats of appontment if later
2 Javad Ahmed was appoinied a director wath effect from 1 October 2009
3 Douglas Hurt was apponted & drector with efiect from 10 March 2010

Other staiutory anc! governance miormation

All of the interests set out in the table are beneficially held
and no drector had interests in any class of shares other than
ordinary shares

Wilklam Camp joined the Board on 1 May 2010 He does not
hold any shares

There were no changes In directors' interests in the penod
from 1 Apnl 2010 to 26 May 2010

On behalf of the Board

Evert Henkes
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

26 May 2010

Other statutory and governance
information

Principal activities of the Group

The pnncipal activities of Tate & Lyte PLC and its subsidiary
and associated undertakings are developing, manutacturing
and marketing food and industnal ingredients made from
renewable resources

Results and dividend

A review of the results 1s on pages 18 to 37 An nterim
dividend of 6 Bp per ordinary share was paid on 8 January
2010 The directors recommend a final dividend of 16 1p per
ordinary share to be pawd on 30 July 2010 to shareholders on
the register on 25 June 2010, subject to approval at the 2010
Annual General Meeting (AGM} A scrip dividend alternative
will also be avallable The total dividend for the year1s 22 9p
per crdinary share (2009 - 22 9p)

Shareholders’ nghts

Holders of ordinary shares have the nights accorded to them
under UK company law, including the rights to receive the
Company’s annual report and accounts, attend and speak at
general meetings, appoint proxies and exercise voting rights

Holders of preterence shares have hmited voting nghts and
may not vote on the disposal of surplus profits after the
dividend on the preference shares has been provided for,
the election of directors, therr remuneration, any agreement
between the directors and the Company, or the alteration

of the Articles of Association dealing with any such matters
Further detais regarding the nghts and obligations attached
to share classes are contained in the Articles of Association,
available on www tateandiyle com

Restrictions on holding shares

There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares and prior
approval 1s not required from the Company nor from other
holders for such a transter No kmitations are placed on the
holding of shares and no share class carries special nghts of
control of the Company There are no restrictions on voting
rights other than those outlined above on preference shares

The Company 1s not aware of any agreements between
sharehoiders that may restrict the transfer or exercise of
voting nights

Change of controi

The Company has a committed bank facility of US$1 bilon,
which matures in 2012 Under the terms of this facility, the
banks can gwe notice to Tate & Lyle to prepay outstanding
amounts and cancel the commitments where there is a
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change of control of the Company The Company 15 the
guarantor of a £200 milhon bond 1ssue by its subsidiary,

Tate & Lyle International Finance PLC dated 25 November
2009, which 1s repayable in 2018 Under the terms of the
bond 1ssue, noteholders have the option to request an early
repayment where there 1s a change of control of the Company

All of the Company's share schemes contain provisions relating
to a change of control Further information 1s on page 50

Essentiat contracts and other arrangements

In ight of the scope and diversity of the Group's activities, there
are no contracts or arrangements considered to be essentiat to
the operation of the business or the Group as a whole

Research and development
The Group spent £26 million (2009 — £28 miliron) on research
and development dunng the year

Donations

Worldwide charitable donations during the year totalled
£714,000 {2009 - £699,000), of which £379,000 (2008 -
£379,000) was donated in the UK More details of the Group’s
community nvolvement can be found on pages 36 and 37

Again this year, in ine with the Group's policy, no political
donations were made in the European Umon (EU) Cutside
the EU, the Group's US business made contributions during
the year totalling US$47,000 {£29,000) (2008 - US$48,000,
£27,000) to state and national politicat party committees and
to the campaign committees of state candidates affiliated to
the major parties The total ncludes US$13,000 (£8,000) (2009
- 1JS$23,000, £13,000) contributed by the Tate & Lyle Political
Action Committee (PAC) The PAC is funded entirely by US
employees Employee contnbutions are entirely voluntary

and no pressure 1S placed on US employees to participate

No funds are provided to the PAC by Tate & Lyle but under
US law, an employee-funded PAC must bear the name of the
employing company

Payment to suppliers

Group policy 1s that UK operating companies should follow
the CBI Prompt Payers' Code The Code requires the
Company to agree terms of payment with supphers, to ensure
suppliers are aware of those terms, and to abide by them Our
policy 1s, wherever possible, to apply the requirements of the
Code to wholly-owned companies around the world

Tate & Lyle PLC s a holding company and had no amounts
owing to trade creditors at 31 March 2010 The Group’s creditor
days outstanding at 31 March 2010 were 53 days (2009 - 38
days), based on the ratio of Group trade creditors at the end

of the year to the amounts invoiced dunng the year by trade
creditors




Governance Direclors siatement of responsibilities

Directors’ statement of
responsibilities

The clirectors are responsible for prepanng the annual report,
the directors’ remuneration report and the Group and the
Parent company financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year Under that taw the
directors have prepared the Group financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the Parent company
financial statements n accordance with applicable law

and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice} Under company law, the directors must
not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affars of the
Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that penod

In prepanng these financial statements, the directors are
required to

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply
thern consistently,

s make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent,

s state whether IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and with
regard to the Parent company financial statements
applicable UK Accounting Standards, have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explamed in the Group and Parent company
financial staternents, and

» prepare the Group and Parent company financial
statements on the going cencern basis uniess it 1s
inappropnate to presume that the Group will continue
n business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
transactions of the Company and the Group and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and the Group, and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements and the directors’ remuneration report
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
rregulanties

The directors are responsible for the mamtenance and
integrity of the Company's website UK legislation governing
the preparaticn and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legisiation in other junisdictions

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed
on pages 38 and 39, confirms that, to the best of hus or her
knowledge

= the Group financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit of the Group, and

= the business review contained in the directors' report
includes a fair review of the development and performance
of the business and the positton of the Group, together
with a descnption of the principal nsks and uncertainties
that it faces

Disclosure of information to auditors

So far as each director (s aware, there 1s no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditors are unaware,
and he or she has taken all the steps that he or she cught to
have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

The directors’ report on pages 1 to 57 of this annual report
was approved by the directors on 26 May 2010

On behalf of the Board

Robert Gibber -
Company Secretary

26 May 2010

Find out more about Tate & Lyle
at www tateandlyle com
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Tate & Lyle PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tate & Lyle PLC

for the year ended 31 March 2010 which compnse the Congolidated
income statement, the Consolidated statement of ccmprehensive
ncome, the Cansolidated statement of financial posihon, Consolidated
statement of cash flows, the Consolidated statement of changes

in shareholders’ equity and the related Notes to the consolidated
financial statements The financial reporting framework that has been
applied In ther preparaton s applkcable law and international Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopied by the Eurcpean Union

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully In the Directors statement of respensibilities
set out on page 57, the dreclars are responsible for the preparation of
the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they

gve alrue and fair iew Our respensibiity 1S 10 audit the Group
financial statements in accordance wih applcable law and
international Standards on Auditing {UK and ireland} Those standards
requure us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical
Standards for Auditors

This report, Incluging the opinions, has been prepared for and only for
the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapier 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do
not In giving these opiMions, accept or assume responsibity for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom thig report 1s shown or
into whose hands It may come save where expressly agreed by our
pnor consent i writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit nvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disciosures In the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
misstaiement whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are apprognate to
the Group's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the
financial statements

Opsnicn on financial statements
In our opinon the Group financial statements

= gwe a true and fair view of the state of the Groups affarrs as at
31 March 2010 and of ts profit and cash flows for the year
then ended,

w have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, and

s have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Comparies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulaton
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Optnion on other matters prescribed by the

Companies Act 2006

In our opirion the Information given in the Directors' report for the
financsal year for which the Group financial statements are prepared 1
consistent with the Group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothuing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,
in our opINIon

a certan disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made, or

s we have not recenved all the information and explanations
we require for our audil

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

m thedrectors statement set out on page 31, n relation
1o going concern, and

= the part of the Corporate Governance statement relating to the
Compary's comphance with the mine provisions of the Jjune 2008
Comuined Code specified for our review

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Parent company financial
statements of Tate & Lyle PLC for the year ended 31 March 2010

il & information In the Directors' remuneration report that
describgd as having be udited

Paul Cragg {Senio-Statutory Aud
for and on behall of Pncewaterh
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audtors
Lerdon

26 May 2010

Note ihe mantenance and integnty of the Tate & Lyle PLC website 1S the
responsitiity of the directors the work camed out by the audiors doas not
nwohlve consideration of these matters and, accordingly the auditors accept
n¢ responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to tha financia!
statermnents since thay were initially presented on the website




Consolidated income statement

Year to 31 March

Qverview

Business review

Governance

2010 2009
Notes £m £m
Continuing operations i
Sales 4.5 3506 3553
Operating profit 4,6 8, 164
Finance ncome 10 5. 10
Finance expense 10 (74) | (61)
{Loss)/profit before tax 61 113
Income tax credit/{expense) 11 84 ! (19)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 23 94
Loss for the year from discontinued operaticns 12 (4) (24)
Protit for the year 19 | 70
Profit for the year attrbutabte to H
Equity holders of the Company 15 65
Minonty interests 4 5
19 | 70
pence ‘E pancea
Earnings per share attnibutabte to the equity holders of the Company '
from continuing and discentinued operations 13 :
Basic 33: 142
Diluted 33’ 141
Earruings per share attnbutable to the equity holders of the Company
from continuing operations 13 :
Basic 42 195
Diluted 42 ; 194
Dwvidends per share 14 !
Interm paid 68 ' 68
Final proposad 161 . 161
229 | 229
Analysis of adjusted profit before tax from continuing operations £m fm
(Loss)/profit before tax (61): 13
Add back ' 1
Exceptional tems 7 275 ¢ 118
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 15 14 15
Adjusted profit before tax, exceptional tems and amortisation of acgquired intangible assets 228 247

The nates on pages 64 to 109 form part of these Group financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Notes £m £m

Profit for the year 19 70
Other comprehensive income (‘OCI') !
Actuanal losses relating to retrement benefit plans 30 {104) | {71)
Net gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges 24 4 {34}
Valuation (losses)/gains on avallable-for-sale financtal assets 18 {10} 24
Exchange differences {10} | 139
Deferred tax relating to the above components of OCl 1 25 4Q
Other comprehensive {expense}income for the year (75} a8
Total comprehensive (expense)/inceme for the year (56} | 168
Aftribiutable to
Equity belders of the Company {59) 157
Minonty interests 3 11

(56) 168

The notes on pages 64 to 109 fam part of these Group fnencial statements
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Consolidated statement of financial position

31 March
2010 2009
Notes £m £m

ASSETS !

Non-current assets '
Goodwill and intangible assets 15 340 ¢ 374
Property, plant and equipment 16 1208 | 1548
Investments in associates 17 7" 8
Avatlaple-for-sale financial assets 18 14 11
Derivative financial instruments 20 49 . 47
Deferred tax assets 29 143 30
Trade and other receivables 23 24 5
Retirement benefit surplus 30 16 47
1779 2070

Current assets

nventones 22 409 . 538
Trade and other receivables 23 424 723
Current tax assets . 4! 6
Denvatwe financial instruments 20 150 200
Cash and cash equivalents 33 504 434
Assets held for sale 18 18 ! 28
1509 . 1929
TOTAL ASSETS 3288 ; 3999

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY :

Capital and reserves attributable to the Company's equity helders :
Ordinary share capital 24 15 . 115
Share premium 24 405 | 404
Caprtal redemption reserve 8: 8
Other reserves 25 229 - 219
Retained earnings \ 78 . 241
827 , 987
Minonty interests 27 . 26
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 854 1013

LIABILITIES l

Non-current habilties .
Trade and other payables 27 1. 1
Borrowings 28 1119 ¢ 1129
Derivative financtal instruments 20 67 ' 72
Deferred tax liabilities 29 59 . 78
Retirement benefit obligations 30 273 ¢ 258
Provisions for other llabililies and charges 31 37 i 21
1556 1 569

Current liabihttes H
Trade and cther payables 27 485 | 538
Current tax labilities 52 . 77
Borrowings and bank overdrafts 28 190 | 523
Derwvative financlal instruments 20 125 | 268
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 31 26 | 11
878 | 1417
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2434 2986
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3288 3999

The Group financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2010 and signed on its behalf by

Javed Ahmed, Tim Lodge  Dreclors

The notes an pages 64 to 108 form part of these Group financial statements

/f;mwﬁ’
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Notes £m fm
Cash flows from operating activities .
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations 61}: 113
Adjustments for
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6 116 ‘ 112
Exceptional items 7 276 119
Amortisation of intangtble assets 6 20 | 20
Share-based payments 9 5, 5
Finance income 10 (5) {10)
Finance expense 10 74 61
Change in warking caprtal 32 291 31
Cash generated from continuing operations 716 | 451
Interest pasd (62); (73)
Income tax pad {38} ! (7
Cash (used in)/generated from discontinued operations 12 (29) | 140
Net cash generated from operating activities 587 i 50
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment - i 5
Purchase of avallable-for-sale financial assets 18 {3y {6)
Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale iinancial assets - 9
Interest raceived 3 17
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 37 (21} (1)
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivatents disposed 37 -, 4)
Disposal of businesses 37 (26) i 57
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (79) (224)
Purchase of other intangible assets (5) 44}
Net cash used In investing activities (131! (154)
Cash flows from fmancing activities :
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares - 3
Purchase of ordinary shares (6} -
Cash infiow from additional borrowings 198 | 1
Cash outflow from repayment of borrowings (a462) (14)
Cash outflow from repayment of capital element of finance leases (3). 3)
Didends pald to the Company's equity holders 14 (103} ¢ (104)
Dividends paid te minonty interests @' 1
Net cash used in financing activities (376) (118}
Net ingrease in cash and cash equivatents 34 80 229
Cash and cash equivalents i
Balance at beginning of year 434 165
Eftect of changes n foreign exchange rates (10) 40
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 80 229
Balance at end of year 33 504 434

The nales on pagas 64 to 109 form part of these Group financial statements
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Share capital Attributable
and share Capital Other to the equity
premium redempticn reserves Retained holders of the Minarmty
(Note 24) reserve {Nocte 25} eamings Coampany interests Total equity
£m £m £m £m em £Em £m
Balance at 31 March 2008 518 , 8 : 91 ; N7, 934 16 950
Other comprehensive Incorme/{expense) ! ' H .
for the year - - 132 {40) ; g2 | 6 i 98
Profit for the year - - - 65 i 65 | 51 70
Share-based payments charge, ' ! ! H .
nctuding tax - - - 1. 1 - 1
Proceeds from shares ssued 1, - - 2. 3 - 3
ltems transferred to ncome ‘ . ! ! ' :
on disposal - - {4, - {4)" - (4)
Dividends pawd - - - (104}, (104); (1)‘ (105}
Balance at 31 March 2009 519 8 . 219 ' 241 987 ' 26 1013
QOther comprehensive income/{expense) ' . : :
for the year -1 -1 1. {75) (74} {1+ 75)
Profit for the year - - -, 15, 15 . a, 19
Share-based payments charge, { i . } . .
including tax - - - 6. B . - 6
Share purchase - -, - (6) 6} - {6)
Proceads from shares 1ssued 1 - - 11 2. - 2
Dwigends paid - - - (105). {(105) ; @ (107)
Issue of shares for scrip dvidend - - - 2 2. - 2
Batance at 31 March 2010 520 , 8 220 ¢ 79 i 827 | 27 854

Retaned earnings at 31 March 2010 inctude a deduction for own shares held by the ESOP trust of £12 milhon {2009 - £7 millon}
Allbut 0 01 pence per share of the dvidends ansng on these shares have been waved by the trust

The notes on pages 64 to 109 form part of these Group finanoal statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Presentation of financial statements

General information

The principal actvities of Tate & Lyle PLC are the development
manufacture and marketing of food and industnal ngredients that
have been made from renewable resources The Group operates
more than 45 production faciities and n numerous partnerships and
joint ventures throughout Europe, the Amencas and South East Asia

The Company 1s a public imited company Incorperated and domiciied
in the United Kingdom  The Company has s pnmary isting on the
London Stock Exchange

Basis of preparation

These consohdated financial statements are presented on the basis
of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted by
the Eurcpean Union and interpretations sssued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee {IFRIC} 2nd have been
prepared in accordance with the Listing Rules of the UK Financial
Services Authonity and the Companies Act 2006, as applicable to
compantes reporting under IFRS

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared n
accordance with the accounting policies set out n Note 2 and
under the histoncal cost convention, except where modified by the
revalyation of certain financial instruments and commodities

These conschidated financial statements are presented in pounds
sterling which s the Group's presentational currency

The preparation of financial statements In confarmity wain IFRS
requires the use of certan cntical accounting estimates [t also
requires management Lo exercise its judgerment in the process of,
applying the Company's accounting policies The areas (nvolving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial stataments are disclosed in Note 3

The financial nformation for the year ended 31 March 2009 s
derived from the statutory financial statements for that year, except
cerntain comparative nformation has been re-presented to conform
with the cumrent year presentation

In addition n accordance with IAS 1 {rewsed), the Group has re-
presented the following comparative information to conform wiih
current year presentaton Finance income and finance expense in

the Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2009 have been
re-presented to disclose £17 milion of the receipts and payments
under Interest rate swaps net as opposed to gross so as 1o reflect
the economic substance of the underlying dervatives The associated
cash flows have also been re-presented

The Group has also re presented certain dervatives held for trading
In the staternent of financial position from current assets of lapiities
to non current assets or labilities based upon contractual maturity
date £13 milion of assets and £15 milion of habihties have been
re-presented There 15 no overall effect on the Group's profit for the
year, equity or net increase in cash and cash equivalents from these
re-presentations

There 1s no overall effect on the Group’s income statement net
assets or overall cash flows from continwing operations from these
re-presentatons

Use of adjusted measures

Tate & Lyte presents adjusted profit before tax and adjusted earnings
per share information These measures are used by Tate & Lyle

for internal performance analysis and incentive compensation
arrangerments for employees The terms "adjusted’ and ‘exceptional
ftems' are not defined termns under IFRS and may therefore not

ve comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other
companies They are not wntended to be a substtute fos, or supenor
10, GAAP measurements of profit The term adjusted’ refers 1o the
refevant measure being reported, excluding exceptional tems and
amorlsation of mtangible assets ansing on acquisibon of businesses
A reconciliation of statutory to adjusted information 1s provided

n Note 42
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New IFRS standards and interpretations adopted
From 1 Apnl 2009 the Group has adopted the following new and
amended IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations

IFRS 8 Operating Segments replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporiing
IFRS 8 takes the management view to determine the operating and
reportable segments, rather than the nsks and reward model and the
pnmary and secondary segments required by IAS 14 The mpact of
adopting IFAS 8 1s stated In Note 4

1AS 1 (revised) Presentation of Financial Staterments introduces some
terminclogy changes and changes in presentation and disclosure 10
particular, the introducton of the consolidaled stalement of changes
in shareholders equity as a pnmary steiement Under IAS 1

{revised) lhe Group has elected to present two income statements,
a consclidated income statement and a consolidated statement of
comprehensive inceme

Amendment 10 IFRS 7 Financial Instrurments  Disclosures introduces
disclosures about financial nstruments  The impact of adopting these
amendments 15 included n Note 19

The following amendments and interpretations have not had a material
Impact on the results or financial positron of the Group

- IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

- IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

- IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment i a Foreign Operation

- Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment — Vesting
conditions and cancellations

- Revised IAS 23 Borrowing Cosls

- Amendment to IAS 27 Consoldated and Separate Financial
Statements — Cost of an investment in a subsidiary jointly
conirolled entity or associate

-~ Amendment 1o 1AS 32 Financial Instruments  Presentation and
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Staternents on Pultable financial
instruments and obligatiens anging on liquidation

—  IASB's 2000 annyal improvements project

New IFRS standards and interpretations not adepted
The followang standards, amendments and interpretations are not
yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group

- IFRIC 17 Distnbutions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

~ IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assels from Customers

-~ Amendment 10 IAS 27 Consohdated and Separate
Finaricial Statements

_  Amendment 10 I1AS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement - Elgible hedged nems

- Amendment 1o 1AS 32 Financral Instruments Disclosure and
Presentation - Presentation on classification of nghts 1ssues

— IFRS 2 Share-based Payment — Group cash-setlled share-based
payment transactions

~ IFRIC 19 Extingwishing financral habdihes with equity nstruments

- Amendment 1o 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures

— IAS 19 Employes Benefits — Prepayments of a minimum
funding requirernent

The adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations 1s
not expected 1o have a matenal impact on the Group's profit for those
years or equity The adoptions may affect disclosures in the Group s
financial statements

The revised IFRS 3 Business Combinations includes the immedchate
expensing of acquisiion-retated costs rather than inclusion I goodwill
and the recognition and measurement at fair value of contingent
consideration al acquisibon date with subsequent changes to income
The adoption of this revised standard may smpact the Group's profit
for the year and equity

In November 2009, the 1ASB 1ssued IFRS @ Financial instruments
Classification and Measurement which altered the classification

and measurement of financ@al nstruments Under the new standard
only two possible classifications arise, rather than the four existing
classifications cumently avallable under IAS 39, and wilk result in all
financial assets being valued at amortised cost or tair value through
profit and loss Financial labilities are excluded from the scope of the
standard The standard I1s not mandatory before 2013 year-ends and
s yet to be endorsed by the European Union The adoplion of this
standard may impact the Group's profit, equity and disclosures in the
Group's financial statements




The parent company, Tate & Lyle PLC, has not adopted IFRS as its
statutory reportng basis Audied financial statements for the parent
company prepared in accordance with UK GAAP are set out on
pages 1100 117

2 Group accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

(a) Subsidianes

Subsictanes are all entities over which the Group has the power 10
govern the financial and opserating policies, generally accompanying

a shareholding of more than one half of the vating nghts and taking
Into account the existence of potentiat voting rights  Subsidianes are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases
The purchase method of accounting 15 used to account tor the
acquisition of subs:diares by the Group The recogrused igentifiable
assets, labiities and conungent kabilites of a subsidiary are measured
al therr farr values at the date of acguisition The interest of minonty
shareholders 1s stated at the minanty’s proportion of the far values of
the identfiable assets, habiities and contingent latsities recogrised
wWhere necessary, adjustments are made 1o the financial statements of
subsidianes 1o brng the accounting policies used Nto line with those
used by the Groug All nter company transactions and balances
between Group entites are eliminated on consolidation

{6} Joint ventures

An entity 15 regarded as a joini venture if the Group has joint control
over its operating and financial policies The Group's interests In jomtly-
controlled entities are accounted for by proportionaie consolidation,
whereby the Group's share of the joint ventures' income and
expenses, assets and habiities and cash flows are combined on a
Iine-by-hne basts with similar tems in the Group's inancial staterments
Where necessary adjustments are made to the inancial statements
of jaint ventures toc bring the accounting poticies used Nto ine with
those used by the Group The Group recogmises the portion of gaing
or losses on the sale of adsets to the joint venture that s attributable
to the other venturers The Group does not recognise its share of
profits or losses from the jont venture that resukk from the Group's
purchase of assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets to
an external entity

(c} Associates

An entity 1s regarded as an associate If the Group has significant
influence, but not contral, over its operating and financial policies
Signiicant Influence generally exists where the Group holds mare than
20% and less than 50% of the shareholders' voting nghis Asscciates
are accounied for under the equity method whereby the Group's
income statement ncludes s share of ther profits and losses and
the Group's statement of financial posiion includes its share of ther
net assets Where necessary adustments are made to the financial
statements of associaies to bring the accounting policies used

into kne with those used by the Group When the Group's share of
logses in an associate aquals or exceeads its interest in the associate
including any other unsecured recewables the Group does not
recogrise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate

Forelgn currency translation

{a) Functionai and presentattonal currency

ltems included m tha financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured ustng the currency of the primary economic
environment N which the entity operates (the 'functional currency’)
Tha consolidated financial statements are presented i pounds
stering which is the Group's presentational currency

(b) Transactions and balances

Foraign currency transactions are transkated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions Foreign exchange gans and losses resutting from the
seitlement of such transactions and from the translation at penod
end exchange rates of monetary assets and labiities denominated

in foreign currencies are recognised in the ncome statement, except
when delferred in equity as qualfying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges

{c) Group entitres

From 1 Aprit 2004 the results and financial positton of all the Group's
entives that have a functional currency different from the presentational
currency are translated nto the presentation currency as foflows

(% assets and labilties, including goodwill and fair value adjustments
for each statement of financial posion presented, are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position

(1 income and expenses for each ncome statermeni and cash
flows are translated at weighted average exchange rates as a
reasonable approximation to the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, and

{uy all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity

Prior to 1 Apnt 2004 exchange differences were recognised In
retaned earnings

On consolidation exchange differences ansing from borrowings
and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such
Investments, are taken to equity

When a foreign operation 1s sold, such exchange differences that
have accumulated since 1 Aprl 2004 are recogrised in the income
statement as pant of the gan or loss on salg

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buldings mamly compnise manufactunng sites and
administratve faciities

Property plant and equipment 1s stated at histoncat cost less
depreciation and impairment Histoncal cost includes expenditure
that 1s directly attributable to the acguisition of the tems  Subsequent
costs are Included In the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a
separate asset as appropriate, only when 1118 prebable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably All repairs
and mantenance expenditures are charged 1o the Income statement
dunng the financial penod in wiich they are Incurred

Depreciation 15 calculated using the straight-ine method to allocate
the cost or revalued amount of each asset to its residual value over
s useful economic life as follows

Freehold land No deprecation
Freehold buldings 20 1o 50 years
Leasehold property Penod of the lease

Bulk lquid storage tanks
Plant and machtnery

12 to 20 years
3 to 28 years

The asseis' residual values and uselul ves are reviewed at each
statement of financial position date and adjusted f appropnate
An asset's camying amount 18 written down immediately to 1is
recoverable amount |If the asset's carrying amount 1§ greater than
its estimated recoverable amount

In the prior year the useful ives of certain assets were adjusted
which resutted in a reduction in the depreciation charge by
approximately £6 milion

Gans and losses on disposals are deterrmined by companng the
disposal proceeds with the carryng amount and are included in the
income statement

Leased assets

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group assumes
substantally all the nsks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at the
lower of the farr value of the leased asset and the present value of the
minumum lease payments The comesponding leasing commitments,
net of finance charges, are included in labilities

Leasing paymenits are analysed between capial and interest
components sc that the interest etement 1s charged to the income
statement over the penod of the lease at a constant penodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the kabiily outstanding

Depreciation on assets held under finance leases s charged to the
income statemant

L
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Notes 1o the consoldawrd financial statements

2  Group accounting policies {continued)

Al other leases are treated as operating leases with annual renals
charged 10 the iIncome statement, net of any ingentives granted to the
lessee, over the term of the lease

intangible assets

(a) Gooawill

Goodwil s calculated as the difference batween the far value of the
consideration exchanged In a business combination INcluding directly
attnbutable acquisition costs and the net far vatues of the dentfiable
assets and llabilities acquired and 1s capitalised Goodwall is tested for
imparment annually and whenever there 15 an indication of impairment
andl 1s carned at cost less accumutated impairment losses

Where the acquired interest in the net farr value of the dentifiable
aseels and habilities exceeds the cost of the business combination
the excess 1s recognised smmediately i the income statement

Gains and losses on the disposal of a business component include
the carrying amount of gaodwill relating to the entity sold

(b} Patents and other imteliectual property

Patents and other intellectual property ase shown at histoncal cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses Where the
assats are acquired as part of a business combination historical
cost s based on thet far values as at the date of the combination
Amortisation of the assets 1s recogrused on a straight-line basis over
the period of ther expected beneft

{c) Other acquirad intangible assets

Otner acquired Intangible assets are intangible assets ansing on
consolidation of acquired busingsses and nclude brands, recipes.
customer relationships and supplier networks Amortisation of the
assels 1s recognised on a straght-ineg basis over the peniod of ther
expected benefit

(d) Other intangible assels

Cther intangible assets mainly include certain developrnent
expenditure and software costs Costs mcurred on development
projects {relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) are recogrised as intangible assets when the 1AS 38
recogrition criteria are met Capitalised development costs are
amortised from the commencement of the commercial production

of the product on a straight-lne basis over the penod of s expected
beneht Research and other davelopment expenditures are recognised
as an expense as incurred Development costs previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an assetna subsequent pencd

fmpayment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment In addiion, assets In the
course of construchon are not depreciated and are subject to

annual mparrment review Assets that are subject to amortisation of
depreciation are reviewed for Imparrment whenever events or changes
n crreumstances Indicate that thewr carrying amounts may not be
recoverable An mpaiment loss 1s recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds Its recoverable amount
The recoverable amount s the higher of an asset's fair value less costs
to sell and value in use For the purposes of assessing iImparment
assels other than goodwill are grouped at the lowest levels tor which
Ihere are separately identdiable cash inflows Goodwall s allocated 1o
unils representing the lowest fevel at which goodwill is monitored

by the Group's Board of Directors for internal management pUrposes
Further detals are givenin Note 3

Financial instruments

(a) Avarlable-for-sale financial assets

Equsty instruments held by the Group and designated as available-for-
sale are camed at far value, with movements in far value recognised
drrectly in equity Curnulative tar value gains or losses on an asset are
recycied through the Income statement when the asset s disposed
or mmpalred A significant or prolonged deckng in the fair value of the
security below 1ts cost 15 considered as an indicator that the secunties
are mpared Imparments are recognised 1in the Income statement
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(b) Loans and recervables

Non-current and current recevaples and loans granted are recognised
iutially at fawr value and thereatler carned at amortised cost less
provisions for impairment Mavements in carrying value are recognised
in the Incorne statement

c) Borrowings

Borrowings are recogrised nivally at fair value, net of transaction
costs Incurred Where borrowings are designated as hedged tems
under far value hedges, they are subseguently remeasured for far
value changes in respect of the hedged nsk with such changes
recognised in the income statement Otherwise, borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised Cost, any difference between the
procesads {net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 1S
recogrised n the Income statement over the penod of the borrowings
using the effective interast method Borrowings are classified as
current labiities unless the Group has an unconditional nght to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance
sheet date

(d} Commodtty trading instruments

Commodity instruments acquired for trading purposes are carned
al far value Movements in far value are recognised in the
ncome statement

e} Commodity and treasury hedging instruments
Under 145 39, hedging relationships are categonsed by type and must
meet sinct critena to gualfy for hedge accounting

() Cash flow hedges
Hedges of firm commitments and highty prabable forecast
transactions, nciuding farecast intra-group transactions that are
expected to affect consolidated profit or loss are designated
as cash flow hedges To the extent that movements in the faw
values of these instruments eflectively offset the undertying nsk
being hedged they are recognised in the hedging reserve In equily
until the penod dunng which the hedged forecast transaction
affects profit or loss, at which pomnt the cumutative gain or 10ss 1S
recogrised in the income statement offsetting the value of the
hedged transachon

{iy Far value hedges
Hedges against the movement in fair value of recognised assets
and habiities are designated as far value hedges To the extent
that movements in the fair values of these instruments effectively
offset the undertying nsk being hedged they are recognised n the
income statement by offsel against the hedged transaction

() Hedges of net Investrments
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation are designated
as net investment hedges To the extent that movements in the
farr values of these instruments effectively offset the undertying
nsk being hedged they are recognised in the translation reserve
until the penod dunng which a torexgn operation 1s disposed ofor
partially disposed of, at which point the cumulative gain or loss
1s recogmised in profit or loss, offsetting the cumulatve difference
recognised on the transtation of the net investment

Hedge accounting 18 discontinued at the pont when the hedging
relationship no longer qualfies for hedge accounting In the case of
cash flow hedging relationships the cumulative movernent in the far
valug of the hedging mnstrument previously recogmised in equity up to
that point is retaned there unti the {orecast transaction affects profit
or loss, unless the hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to occur,
in which case the cumulative movement in farr vatue Is transferred

to profit or loss Immediately Movements in the farr value of hedging
nstruments where the relationship faded to meet the I1AS39 hedge
accounting cntena or where the moverment represents the inefiective
portion of a qualfying hedging relationship are recogrised in the
ncome statement immediately as other ncome and axpense or net
finance expense, as appropnate

(i Embedded derivatives

Where an embedded denvative 1S not closely refated 1o the host
contract and where the host contract iisell 1s not already recognised
at far value, movements in the lar value of the embedded dervative
are separated from the associated transaction and, except where the
embedded dervatve 1s designated as a cash flow hedging instrument,
recogrised in the income statement




2 Group accounting policies (continued)

{g) Fair values

Far values are based on markel values where they are avalable
For unlisted secunties the Group establishes far value using
valuation techniques These include the use of recent arm's length
ransactions reference to other similar instruments and discounted
cash flow analysis

Where no market prces are avalzblg, the far value of financial
nabiities 1s calculated with reference to discounted expected luture
cash flows

Inventones

Inventonies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value
with the exception of certan items of merchandisable agncultural
commodities which are stated at market value, in line with regional
industry accounting practices -

Cost compnses direct matenals and, where appkcable, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bonging the
nveniones to ther present location and condition Cost s calcutated
using the first in - first out’ or weighted average cost methods,
appropnate 1o the matenals and preduction processes involved

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling pnce less all
estimated costs to completion and costs to be ncurred in marketing
selling and distribution

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand deposits hekd at call
with banks other short-term tighly iguid ;mvestments with onginal
matunties of three months or less, and bank overdrafis which are not
considered to be borrowings n naiure

Share capltal

Ordinary shares are ctassified as equity incremental costs directly
attnbutable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share
capital and holds that share either direcily as treasury shares or
indirectly within an ESOP trust, the consideration paid, including
any drectly attributable ingremental costs {net of Nncome taxes), 18
deducted from equity atinbutable to the Company’s equity holdars
untld the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed Where such
shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consderation receved,
net of any directly attnbutable ncremental transaction costs and

the relaled income tax effects, 1s ncluded in eguity attributable to
the Company's equity holders These shares are used to satisty
share options granted 10 employees under the Group’s sharg opton
schemes The trustee of the ESOP trust purchases the Company's
shares on the open market using loans made by the Company or
other loans guaranteed by the Compary

Provisions

Provtsions for liabilities and charges ara recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a resuft of past
evenis, 1t 1s more likely than not that an outilow of resources wil

be required 10 setile the obligation and the amount can be relably
measurad 'f the effect 1S matenal, provisions are rmeastired using
axpected future cash flows discounted at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the ime value of money and, where
appropnate, the nsks specific to the fiabilty The impact of unwinding
any discount is taken 10 finance expense

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses A provision
for onerous contracts 1$ reécogrused when the expected benelits to be
darved by the Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable
cost of meeting #is obhigations under the contract

Income taxes

The charge for current tax 1s based on the results for the year as
adjusted for terms which are non-taxable or disallowed It s calcutated
using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet kability method
In respect of temporary differences ansing from differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabiities In the financial statements
and the comesponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable

profit In principle, deferred tax habiities are recognised for alt taxable
temporary differences {except as noted below) and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will
be avallable aganst which deductbie temparary differences can ba
utihsed Such assets and liabiities are not recogrused if the temparary
differences anse from goodwill or from the intiak recognition {other than
i 2 business combination) of other assets and habities 1n a transaction
which affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax liabiities are recogmsed for 1axable temporary differences
ansing on wwvestments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and 1 1s probable that the temporary
ditference wiil not reverse in the foresesable future

Deferred tax 1s calcutated using the enacted or substantively enacted
rates that are expected to apply when the asset or llability s settled
Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the income statement, except
when ¢ relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, n which
case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with In equity

Deferred tax assets and labities are ofiset when they relate ta mcome
taxes tevied Dy the same taxation authonty and the Group intends 1o
setile s current tax assets and habilties on a net basis

Revenue recognition

{a) Sales of goods and services

Safes compnsa the amount recevable in the ordinary course of
business, net of value added and sales taxes for goods and sevices
provided Sales are recognised at the point or points at which the
Group has performed its obligations in conneclior with the centractual
terms of the sales agreement, and in exchange obtams the nght

10 considerabion

(b) Interest income
Interest mcome 18 recognised on & tme-proportion basis using the
effective interest method

¢} Dmwidend income
Dmadend income 1s recognised when the nght 1o recewve payment
1s established

Empiayes benefits

{a) Pension obligations

Group companies operale vanous pension schemes The schemes
are generally funded through payments 10 Insurance companies or
truslee payments 10 Insurance companies or trustee administered
funds, determined by penodic actuanal calculations The Group has
both defined benefit and defined contnbution plans

A defined benefit plan 1s a pension pian that defines an amount of
pension henefit that an employee will receve on retrement, usually
dependent on one or more taciors such as age years of service and
compensation

A defined contnbution plan s a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contnbutions nto a separate entity The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further contnbutions if the fund does
not hold suffiicient assets to pay all employees the benelits refating 10
employee service In the current and prior periods

The amounts recognised m the statement of financial position In
respect of defined benefit pension plans are the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the far value
of plan assets, together wath adjustments for actuanal gans or losses
charged or credited to equity and past service costs The defined
benefit abigation s calculated annually by independent actuanes
using the projected und credit method The present value of the
defined benefit obligation 15 detenmuned by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate
bonds that are denominated In the currency in which the benefits wall
be paid, and thatl have terms to matunty approximating to the terms
of the related pension lizbiity Past service costs are recognised
immediately In Income, unless the changes to the pension plan are
congrtional on the emiployeas rematning In senvice for a specified
pericd of tme (the vesting perod) In this case, the past sennce costs
are amortised on a straight-kne basis over the vesting penod

Any gains or losses from settiement or curtalment 1s recognised in
the incoma statement when the curtatment or settlement cccurs
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2 Group accounting policies {continued}

Actuanal gans and 1osses ansing from expenence adjustments and
changes n actuanal assumptions are charged or credited to eguity
immediately through the statement of comprehensive INcome

Where the actuanal valuation of a scheme demonstrates that the
scheme IS In surplus, the recognised asset 1s imited o that for which
the Group expects to benefit in future by refunds or a reduction

In contribution

For defined contrnbution plans the Groug pays centributions to
publicly or privately admumisteredt pension msurance plans on a
mandatory contractual or voluntary basis The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contnbutions have been paid The
contnbutions are recognised as employee benelit expense when
they are due Prepad contnbutions are recognised as an asset (o
the extent that a cash refund or a reducton in the future payments
1s avallable

(b) Other post-employment obfigations

Some Group companies provide post-employment healthcare
benefits to their retirges The entitiement 1o these benefits 15 usually
conditonal on the employee remainng In sernvice up to retirement
age and the completion of a minimum service pencd The expected
costs of thesa benefits are accrued over the penod of employment
usINg an accounting methodology simiar to that for defined beneft
pension plans Actuaral gains and losses ansing from expenence
adjustmenis and changes in actuanal assumptions are charged or
credited to equity immediately These obligations are valued annually
hy ndependent qualified actuaries

fc} Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans The far value of employee services recewved

in exchange for the grant of the options 1S recognised as an
axpense The total amount 10 be expensed over the vesting pencd
ts determuned by reference to the farr value of the options granted
exctuding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions {for
example earnings targets) Non-market vesting condtions are
included in assumplions about the number of options that are
expecled to become exercisable At each balance sheet date, for
options granted with non-market vesting conditions, the Group
revises Its estmates of the number of opiions that are expected to
become exercisable 1t recognises the wmpact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the ncome statement, and a corresponding
adjusiment to equity The proceeds receved net of any directly
attributable transachion costs are credited to share capital and share
pramium when the options are exercised

Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised in the ncome staternent in the
year in which 18 incurred Development expenditure 1s recognised

n the Income statement in the year in wiich 1t 1s incurred unless it 1S
probable that future economic benefits will low to the Group from the
asset being developed, the cost of the asset can be rehably measured
and technical feasibility can be demonsirated and there 1s an intention
10 complete and utitse the asset When the recogniion ¢niena are
met, development costs are capitaksed as an intangble asset and are
amortised on a straight-bne basis over the estmated useful ife from
the time the asset 1s avalable for use

Borrowing costs
Borrowng costs direcily ansing from the purchase, construction or
produchon ¢f an asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset

Exceptional items

Exceptionat tems compnse items of income and expense including
tax tems that are matenal in amount and unkkely 1o recur and which
ment separate disclosure in order to provide an understanding of the
Group's undertying financial performance Examples of events gving
nse {o the disclosure of matenal tems of income and expense as
exceptional tems includs, but are not imited to, impairment events,
disposals of operations or individual assets, Iiigation claims by or
against the Group and the restructunng of componenis of the Group's
operations See Note 7 for further detals
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Government grants

A government grant 1s recognised when there 1s reasonable assurance
that any conditions attached to the grant will be satisfied and the
grants will be receved A government grant 1s recogrised at its fair
value and 15 accounted for as a deduction agamnst the cost concerned
or within other Income over the perods necessary to match the grants
with the related costs that they are ntended to compensate

Dvidend distribution

Final dmwidend distributions to the Company's equity holders are
recognised as a liability m the Group s financial statements in the
peniod N which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders, while intenm dmdend disinbutions are recognised In the
penod in which the dividends are declared and paid Where a scrip
alternative 1s offered and taken, the distnbution 15 effected through an
1ssue of bonus shares from the share prermum account

Segment reporting

As disciosed in Note 1 and Note 4, the Group has adopted IFRS

8 Operating Segments IFRS 8 requrres that entities adopt the
management approach to entifying reportable operating segments
and reporting the financial performance of those segments Segment
information is reported for 1hose components for which separate
financial information 1s avalable and which management uses
internally for allocating resources and assessing performance

Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

Business components that represent separate major lines of business
or geographical areas of operations are recognised as discontinued if
the operations have been disposed of, are being ahandoned or meet

the critena to be classiied as held lor sale

Assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be principally recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use  This condition s
regarded as met only whan the sale 1s highly probable, expected to
be completed within one year and the asset (or disposal group} 1s
avalable for immediate sale in its present condiion Cperations held
for sale are held at the lower of therr carrying amount on the date they
are classified as held for sale and far value less costs to sell

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In order to prepare these consolidated financial statements

in accordance with the accounting polcies set out in Note 2
management has used estimates and judgements to estabksh the
amounts at which certain tems are recorded Critical accounting
estimates and judgements are those that have the greatest impact
on the financial statements and require the most difficult, subjective
and complex judgements about matters that are mherently uncertan
Estimates are based on factors including histoncal expenence

and expectations of future events that management believe to be
reasonable However, given the judgemental nature of such estimates,
actual results could be different from the assumptions used The
critical accounting eshmates and judgements are set out below

Impairment of assets

Asset impairments have the potential to significantly impact income

In order to determine whether imparments are required the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset This calculation s
usually based on projecting future cash flows over a five year penod
and using a terminal value to Incorporate expectations of growth
thereafter A discount factor 1§ applied to obtamn a current value (‘value
nuse') The far value less costs to sell of an asset s used i this
results In an amount in excess of value N use’

Estimated future cash flows for imparment calculations are based on
management s expectations of {future volumes and margins based
on plans and best estimates of the productmty of the assets in ther
current condiion Future cash flows therefore exclude benefits from
major expansion projacts requiring future capital expenditure where
that expenditure has not been approved at the balance sheet date

Future cash flows ara discounted using a discount rate based on
the Group's weighted average cost of capital, adusted if appropnate
for circumstances specric to the asset being tested The weighted
average cost of capital ts tmpactad by estimates of interest rates,
equity resurns and market and country-related nsks The Group's
weighted average cost of capital 1s reviewed on an annual basis




3 Cntical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

i1 the cash flow or discount rate assumptions were 10 change because
of market conditions, the level of impairment could be different and
could result i the impasrmeant of praperty, plant and equipment being
ncreased or reversed in part or i full at a future date

Further details are set out in Notes 15 and 18

Retirement benefits

Among the range of retirement benefits provided N businesses around
the Group are a number of defined benefit pension plans and an
unfunded healthcare benefit scheme in the US The amounts recorded
in the financial statements for toth of these types of arrangement ara
pased on & number of assumptions changes to which ¢ouid have a
matenial impact on the reported amounts

Any net deficit or surplus ansing on defined benelil plans and the
liability under the heatthcare plan i1s shown in the statement of financial
position The amount recorded is the difference between plan assets
and habilities at the balance sheet date Plan assets are based on
market value at that date Plan habites including healthcare liabilities,
are based on actuanal estimates of the present value of future pension
or other benefits that will be payable to members The most sensitive
assumptions involved In calculating the expected labities are mortalty
rates and the discount rate used to calculate the present value If the
mortality rates assumption changed, a one year ncrease to longewvity
at age 65 would increasa the llability by £65 mdion  The main financial
assumption ts the real discount rate, beng the excess of the discount
rate over the rate of inflaton If this assumplion increased by 0 1%, the
gross plan fiabilties would decrease by approximatety £19 mdion

The income statement generally compnses a regular charge o
operating profit and a finance charge which represents the net of
expected ncome from plan assets and an interest charge on plan
labiiies These calculations are based on expecled outcomes at

the starl of the tinancial year The income slatement 18 most sensitive
to changes in expected returns from plan assets and the discount

rate used to calculate the inerest charge on plan habiites A0 1%
increase N the assumption of the real discount rate would increase the
finance expense by approxmately £O 1 million

Full detars of these assumptions, which are based on adwice from the
Group's actuares, are set out In Note 30

Prowisions

The Group recognises a provisicn where a legal or constructive
obhgation exists at the balance sheet date and a reliable estimate
can he made of the lkely outcoma Where appropnats, future cash
outflows that are expected 1o anse over a number oOf years are
discounted to a present value using a relevant discount rate

A¢{ the balance sheet date, provisions included amounts for insurance
claims payable by the Group's reinsurance company, legat matters,
employee termination and other restructunng costs

Although provisions are reviewed on a regular basis and adjusted

for management s best current estmates, the judgemental naturg of
lhese items means that tuture amounts settied may be different from
those provided

Further details are set out In Note 34

Taxation

The Group operates n a large number of tax junsdictions around the
world Tax regulations generally are complex and in some junsdictions
agreenng tax kabities with local {ax authonties can take several years
Consequenily at the balance sheet date, tax habiities and assets are
based on management's best estimate of the future amounts that

will be seitled While the Group aims to ensure that the estimates
recorded are accurate the actual amounts could be different from
those expected

Detferred tax assets manly represent asset impairments and
retirernent benefit obligations that the Group expects (o recover
at some time in the future and by ther nature the amaunts
recorded are therefore dependent on management's judgement
about future events

Further details are set out in Notes 11 and 29
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Segment information

From 1 Agni 2000, the Group has adopted IFRS B Operating Segments The Group has ilentified the Chief Operating Decision Maker ‘CODM as
ihe Board of Directors as key decisions on assessing performance and gliocation of resources are reviewed by the Board or 1ts sub committees
Under FRS B there has been no change to the Group's reportable segments Central costs, which Includle head office, treasury and rensurance
actvities do not meet the operating segment defimtion under IFRS 8 but has been disclosed as a reportable segment in the results below to be
consistent with Internal management reporing

Discontinued operations compnse international Sugar Trading and Eastern Sugar {see Note 12)

The segment results for the year to 3t March 2010 are as follows

! Continuing operations

Food & Food & Total from
Industniat Industrial Dlacontinued continuing &
ingradients, Ingredients, Central operations  discontinued
Americas Europe Sugars Sucralose costs Total {Note 12) operations
£m £m £m £m £m £m £€m £m
Sales : ' ‘
Total sales 1866 483 973 , 187 ° - 3519 135 ° 3 654
inter-segment sales ), {2) - - -, {13} 34)° (4N
External sales {note a) . 1855 491 973’ 187 ' - 3506 101 | 3607
Operating profit/(loss) ‘ ! ] | |
Before exceptional items and ! ' '
amortisation of acquired : ' ' ; . '
intangible assets 178 54 , 30 67 (31 ¢ 298 (2) 296
Exceptional items {Note 7) {(245) {3} 22 {55) ! 5, (276) - (276)
Amortisation of acquired . . . i .
intangible assets {Note 15) (3) 8. - @ - {14) - {14)
Operating (loss)/profit (70}, 43 | 52 . 9! (26) 8 @ 6
Net finance expanse ‘ 1 ‘ {69} 2} (71
Loss before tax ! ; : (61) (4 (65)
Segment assets 1183 | 563 | 478 | 178 | 98 2500 7 2 571
Unallocated assets ! ; ! i
- cash and cash eguivalents : : : i : 504
- debt-related dervative assets . ; : 66
- current tax assets : ' \ : . : 4
- deferred tax assets : ‘ . : H 143
Total assets ) , : . 3288
Segment liabilites 483 92 182 | 54 104 915 24 | 939
Unaliocated liabilities ' { !
- corporate borrowings H , ' ! H 1309
- debt-related derwative liabllities ' ' | 75
- current tax habihties : 52
- deterred tax habiies . . . . ! ! 59
Total abilittes . ‘ ; . 2 434
Other segment information :
Net operating assets/{habilities} 700 . 471 296 : 124 ¢ &) 1585 47 1632
Capital nvestments (note b) 3z 31 22, 2 5" 92 - g2
Depreciation {(Note 16) 61 ; 15 ¢ 17, 21 2, 116 - 116
Amortisation of intangible . !
assets (Note 15) 5, 11 - 4, - 20 - 20
Impairment charges 217 ¢ 2, 16 | - - 235 -1 235
Share-based payments (Note 9} 1 - 1 - 3, 5 - 5

{a) One external customer (2009 ~ none) contributed more than 10% of the Group's continuing external sales for the year ended 31 March 2010
The external salas for this customer are £354 milton which has been recorded acress all the reportable segments, excluding central costs

{b) Capita) nvestments comprse capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, intangibe assets and investments
These items nclude amounts ansing on acauisihon of busnesses
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4 Segment information {continued)

The segment results for the year to 31 March 2009 are as follows

Continuing cperations

Food & Food & Total from
Industral Industnat Discontinued  continuing &
ingrechents Ingrechents Centrat operations  discontinued
Amerncas Europe Sugars Sucralose COSts Total {Nota 12) operations
£m £m m £m £m cm tm m
Sales . . . :
Total sales 1810 , 541 1053 ; 169 . - 3573 874 4 447
Inter-segment sales 13 @ 5y - -, 20) 22) {42)
External sales 1797 ¢ 539 1048 . 169 - 3553 852 4 405
Operating profit/{loss} ' ' .
Before exceptional tems and ) ; )
amortisation of acquired . ' : . |
intangible assets 181 , 51 ¢ 12 72 (18) , 298 1 299
Exceptional tems {Note 7) (13)} - 9 97), - (119) (22): {141}
Amortisation of acquired . ' . . \ ;
intangible assets {Note 15) (3, & -, (4)! - (15) - {15}
Operating prohit/(loss) 165 | 43’ 3, (29)’ (18)! 164 1), 143
Net finance expense ! . : ' (81 @: 53)
Profit/(loss) before tax : : ' . L 113 (3} g0
Segment assets 1723 606 ! 562 ; 272 | 1310 3204 175 - 3 469
Unallocated assets ' i . ' : :
- cash and cash equivalents : ' ; 434
- debt-related derivative assets : ; : 60
- current tax assets i ¥ H . i . 6
- deferred tax assets ' : ‘ . | ] 30
Total assets ' i : 3999
Segment liabilities 537 | 76} 177 29 . 116 935 171 1106
Unallocated liabilties : : ) ' .
- corporate borrowings : i : X . ; 1652
- debt-related derwvative labiltes ' : . | . 73
- current tax habilities : : : : L4
- deferred tax abilities i ’ : . ; 78
Total habilities ; : . 2 986
Other segment information ' :
Net operating assets 1186 530 ! 385 1 243 . 15 ¢ 2359 4 2 363
Capital investments (note a} 164 ¢ 33 . 31, 5 9, 242 - 242
Depreciation (Note 16) 55 | 14 . 16 * 25, 2. 1i2 - 112
Amortisation of intangible ' : . ! : ‘
assets (Note 15) 6! 9. - 5 -, 20 - 20
Imparment charges 3 14 10 4 97 ¢ - 111 12 123
Share-based payments (Note 9} 1 - 1. - 3, 5 - 5

ta} Capital Investments comprise capital expenditure on property plant and equipment intangble assets and investments
These tems nclude amounts arsing on acquisiion of businesses

The United Kingdom 15 the home country of the parent Sales {from continuing operations) and non current assets other than financial Instruments
deferred tax assets and retirement benetit assets In the principal terntories are as follows

External sales by destination External sales by ongin Location of non-current assets

Year to 31 March Yoar to 31 March Year to 31 March

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

£m £m £m £m £m m

United Kingdom 473 461 630 | 710 248 | 248

United States 1656 1598 1846 1786 735 | 1066

Other European countries 768 954 613 686 372 | 362

Rest of world 609 540 417 Kral 202 239

Total 3506 3553 3506 3553 1557 | 10935
Sales (from continuing operations) are spiit between the {ollowing types of products

Year to 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Primary 2476 ; 2584

Value added 1030 ! 969

Total 3506 | 3553
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Notes 1o ine consohdated inanaal staieiments

5 Sales from continuing operations
Analysis of sates by category

Year to 31 March

2010 2009

Naotas £m £m

Sales of goods and services (excluding share of sales of joint ventures) 3177 3277
Share of sales of joint ventures W7 329 . 276
Total 3506 ; 3553

6 Operating profit/(loss}
Continuing operations
Analysis by nature
Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Notes fm £m
External sales 3506 ' 3553
Staff costs $ 262 ¢ 257
Inventones ,
- cost of iInventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 1971 209
- fair value loss on dervatives held for trading (included in cost of sales) 5. B
- impairment of inventortes recognised m the year - 3
Depreciation of property, ptant and equipment
- owned assets 16 114 109
- leased assets 16 2 3
Exceptional ttems 7 276 ¢ 119
Amortisation of intangible assets :
- Intangible assets anising on acquisition of businesses 15 14} 15
- other intangible assets 15 6 ! 5
Operating lease rentals
- plant ang machinery 24 ' 27
Research and development expenditure 26 ! 26
impatrment of trade recelvables 23 3 2
Reversal of mpairment of trade receivables 23 {1} {3)
Government grant income, including Transitional Ad (20) (28)
Ineffectiveness on denvative financial instruments [
- ineffectiveness loss/(gam) on denvatives designated as cash flow hedges 20 3 4
- Ineffectiveness (gain)/loss on denvatives designated as net investment hedges 20 (1’ 1
Other operating expenses 814 828
Total 3498 . 3 389
Operating profit from continuing operations 8, 164

Discontinued operations

Analysis by nature
Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Notes £m £m
External sales 12 101 | 852
Staff costs 9 - 4
Inventones .
- cost of Inventories recogrised as an expense {included in cost of sales) . 103 . 811
Exceptional items 7 - 22
Impairment of trade recevables 23 - 3
Other operating expenses =i 33
Total 103 | 873
Operating loss from discontinued operations 12 {2) : {21)
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7 Exceptional tems

Exceptional iterns are as follows Year to 31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Continuing operations
UK Group Pension Scheme changes (a) 42 -
Closure and restructuring cosis (b} (58} , -
Write-down of assets (C) (28) ; (24)
Impatirment charges (d) (232) : {106}
Settlement with Mexican government (e} - 11
Total {276) (119)
Discontinued operations
Loss on disposal - international Sugar Trading (f} -, 22}
Total - (22)

(a3} The Group has recognised an exceptional gain of £42 million i retation to changes annaunced 1o the Group Pension Scheme in the United
Kingdom Of the total gan £32 million relates to negative past service costs following the removat of the discretionary early retirement bensfit

from Novernber 2000 and €10 miion relates to a curtaiment gam as a resuit of the closure of the scheme to future benefit accrual for employee

members from 6 April 2011 This excephional tem relates to the Sugars and central costs segments

(b} The Group has recogmsed an exceptional charge i relation 1o the decision to mothball the Sucralose manufactunng factiiies in Mcintosh
Alabama In the year to 31 March 2010 the charge totalled £55 milion and covers costs connected with redundancy clean-up acivities and
ongoing hixed costs, and Includes provision for costs to finat closure The cash ouifiows in the year totalled £19 milkon and the remanmng
balance Is forecas! 1o be spent i the years ending 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 This exceptional item refates to the Sucralose segment
Additionally, the Group has recognised £3 milkon of closure and other rastructunng costs relating to the Food Systems business within the
Food & Industnal Ingredients, Eurcpe segment

{c

Fallowing a review of its portiolic of research and development projects, the Group has written off £28 millon in relation Lo assets from which
it does not expect to recave a commercial benalt Of the £28 milion, £20 millon had previousty been reportad within property plant and
equpment £6 millon within intangible assets and £2 milion within prepayments  These assets relate (0 operalions reported In the Food &
industnal Ingredients, Amencas segment

In the year ended 31 March 2009 the Group wrote off £24 milion in relation 1o a dispute with a supplier gver the parformance and suitabilty
of certan equipment O the £24 million, £6 mithon had previously baen reported within property, plant and equipment and £18 million within
prepayments This exceptional loss related to operations reparted in the Food & Industrial Ingredients, Amercas segment

{d) Following a detaled analyss of end markets, n ight of costs of arounc £70 million to complete and commission the plant i Fort Dodge, lowa,
and factoring In the nsks associated with future returns from operating the plant, the Group has concluded that the plant is highly uniikely to be
completed or commissioned in the foreseeable future As a resull, the faciity has been mothballed and an impairment charge of £217 milion
has been reflected in the year COf the £217 million charge, £209 milion relates to assets previously held in assets under construction and
£8 millon relates to prepayments This exceptional item refates to the Food & Industral Ingredients, Americas segment

The Group has also recognised an impairment charge of £15 millon at its sugar refining busingss in Israel comprising a full wrte-down of the
fixed assets (£11 millon) and an nventory impairment (£4 mulion) This imparment charge reflects future decline in the commercial prospects in
Israel and 13 n addition to the mpairment charge of £9 mihon recognised in the year ended 31 March 2009 The sugar refining business in
Israel 1s reported In the Sugars reporting segment

In the year ended 31 March 2009, the decision to moihball the Meintosh, Alabama plant resulted in an impairment charge of £97 milion being
recognised This impairment charge is recognised in the Sucralose segment

(e

In the year ended 31 March 2008, as a result of a settlement of a dispute with the Mexican government over tax on soft drinks contairung
high tructose corn syrup, Almidones Mexicanos SA the Group's jont venture in Mexico, receved £22 milion, ot which the Group s share 1s
£11 mulkon, as compensation lor the lost revenue The business 1s reported in the Food & Industnal Ingredients, Amencas segment

{1 In the year ended 31 March 2008 the Group recorded a loss of £22 million in relation to its international Sugar Trading business The loss 18
net of a gan of £4 millon ansing from the disposal of an available-for-sale investment held in connection with the business The business was
previously reported in the Sugars segment

The tax impact on continuing net exceptional items is a £112 milon credit (2009 - £44 milkon credit) There was no tax effect on the exceptional
lem from discontinued operations in the year to 31 March 2009 Tax credits on exceptional costs are anly recognised 10 the extent that losses
ncurred wall result in tax recoverable in the future  In addition, there are excaptional tax tems of £15 million (Note 11} in respect of the release

of vanous tax provisions following settliement of gutstanding issues around the Group
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

8 Auditors’ remuneration

Dunng the year the Group (Including its overseas subsidianas) obtaned the following senices from the Company s auditors

as detaled below
Year to 31 March

2010 2008

£m £m

Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements 06 : 07
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and ts associates for other services

- the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 15§ 5

Total audit fees 21! 22

Other services pursuant to legislation 01! 01

All other services 02 01

Total 24, 24

in addition 10 the above fees totaling £0 1 milkon (2009 - £0 1 milkon) were paw Lo the Company's aucitors n respect of the audit of Group
oension schemes

9 Staff costs
Staff costs for the Group dunng the year were as follows

Year to 31 March 2010 Year to 31 March 2009
Centinuing Miscontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations aperations operations operattens
Notes £m £m £m £m
Wages and salaries 221 | - 215 |
Social secunty costs 23 . - 22 | -
Other pengion costs ! :
- defined benefit schemes 30 9 . - 12 | -
- defined contnbution schemes 2" - 1 -
- retirement healthcare benefits 30 2 - 2 -
Share-based payments 26 5 - 5. -
Total 262 | - 257 | 4

The average number of people employed by the Group excluding associgles employees and including a proportionate share of peopte employed
by joint ventures, 1s set out below As required by the Companies Act 2006 this includes part-time employees

Year to 31 March

By business segment 2010 2009
Food & Industrial ingredients, Amencas ¥ 2376 | 2 512
Food & Industnal ingredients, Europe 1340 | 1998
Sugars 1391 . 1359
Sucralose 229 | 262
Central 280 ! 278
Total 5616 | 6 409

included In the above numbers are 3 (2008 — 52} employees relating to discontinued operations, where all employees were employad by Sugars
in both years

The number of people empioyed by the Group at 31 March 2010 was 5,666 (2009 - 5,718)

Key management compensation
Year to 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Salanes and short-term employee benefits 5 3
Retirement benefits ! 1
Share-based payments 2! 1
Share option gains 1! -
Terrmination benefits - 2
Total 9. 7

Key management are represented by the Group Executive Committee, which was formed on 1 July 2008 replacing the Group Managament
Committee The Group Executive Committes as at 31 March 2010 consisted of the Company’s executive directors, detals of whose remuneration
are given In the directors' remuneration repart on pages 47 to 56, the Company Secretary and General Counsel, the Presidents of the four business
dmisions the President Global R&D and the Group Human Resources Birecior

The aggregate emoluments of directors in respect of qualifying services to the Company were £4 milion (2009 - £4 million)
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10 Finance income and finance expense

Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Continuing Notes £m fm
Finance income !

Interest recewvable 5 10
Total finance income 5 10
Finance expense i

Interest payable on bank borrowings 4): (15)
Interest payable on other borrowings (49) 38}
Net finance expense ansing on defined benefit retirement schemes

- Interest cost 30 {76) ! (79)
- expected return on plan assets 30 57 . 76
Finance lease charges 2} 3
Unwinding of discounts In provisions a3 - (1)
Far value {losses)/gains on interest-related denvative financial instruments !

—interest rate swaps - fair vatue hedges 2 30

- denvatives not designated as hedges (1) 1

Fair value adjustment of borrowings attributable to interest rate risk 3 (32)
Total finance expense (74} {61
Net finance expense 69) 51)

Finance expense s shown net of borrowing costs capitalsed inte the cost of assets (Note 18) of £2 millon (2009 - £11 million) at a capitaksation
rate of 5 0% (2009 — 5 0%)

Interest payable on other borrowings includes £0 2 mition {2009 — £0 2 milion) of dividends in respect of the Group’s & 5% curmulative
preference shares

The comparative information has been re-presented as set out In Note 1

Piscontinued
Included within the foss for the year in relation to discontinued operations (Note 12) 18 net finance expense of £2 milien (2009 - £2 million)
11 Income tax expense

Analysis of charge for the year
Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Continuing £m £m
Current tax X
In respect of the current year
- UK 14 -
- Qverseas 40 70
Adjustments in respect of previous years (2) (14)
Exceptional tax credit (15) -

24 , 56
Deferred tax credit {108) 37)
Income tax {credit)/expense {84) 19

The tncome tax credit relating to conunuing operations i the year to 31 March 2010 of £84 milion (2008 - expense of £18 million) INcludes a credx
of £112 millon in respect of exceptional tems (2009 - £44 milian)

The exceptional {ax credit of £15 milion represents releases of varous tax provisions following settiement of outstanding 1ssues around the Group

The effective tax rate for the year, calculated on the basis of the total income tax credit relating to continuing operations as a proporton of loss
before 1ax, 15 137 7% (2008 — income tax expense on prefit before tax of 16 8%) This compares with the standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK of 28% (2009 - 28%)

Discentinued
The income tax expense in respect of discontinued operations (Note 12} In the year to 31 March 2010 s £nil milkon (2009 - 1 miilion)
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Notes 1o the consoiidated financial statements

11 Income tax expense {continued)

Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Continuing £m £m
(Loss)/profit before tax (61} 113
Corporation tax (credit)/charge thereon at 28% (2009 - 28%) (7. 32
Adjusted for the effects of
- exceptional tax credit # (15} ; -
- (income not taxable)/expenses not deductible for tax purposes (2} 2
- losses not recognised 19 29
- adjustments to tax In respect of previous perods (2 7
- differant tax rates applied on ovarseas earnings {67): (37)
Tatal (84) 19

The effective tax rate relating 1o continuing operations on profit before exceptional tems amortisation and exceptional tax tems s 20 4%

(2009 - 27 3%)

Tax credit/(charge) relating to components of other comprehensive mcome

Year to 31 March

2010 2009

£m €m

Retrement benefit obligations 29 ! 31

Cash flow hedges 4). 9

Avallable for sale financial assets - -

Tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive income 25 40

Current tax - -

Deferred tax (Note 29) 25 40
Tax on items recognmised directly in equity

Year to 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Deferred tax (credit)/charge on share-based payments {1, 4

Totali (1 4

12 Discontinued operations

As previously reported, durng the year ended 31 March 2009 the Group reached an agreement for the sale of its international Sugar Trading

operations to Bunge Limited Accordingly, the results of the mternational Sugar Trading operations are presented as discontinued operations for the

years to 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 Under the terms of the sale agreement the Group managed the working capital of the business until

31 March 2009 when the balances were assumed by Bunge

Following an extensive review of the impact of the new EU Sugar Regme the Graup's Eastern Sugar joint venture ceased processing beets by
March 2007 and renounced Ils sugar quotas m Hungary, Czech Republc and Slovakia in return for Restructunng Ad Accordingly, the results of

Eastern Sugar are presented as discontinued operations for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 20092
The results of nternational Sugar Trading and Eastern Sugar were both reported in the Sugars segment
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12 Discontinued operations {contnued)

Year to 31 March 2010

International
Sugar Eastern

Trading Sugar Total

£m £m £m

Sales 101 - 101
Cperating (loss)/profit 3 1! @
Finance income 1 -, 1
Finance expense 3) - (3}
{Loss)/profit befere and after tax 5 1 (4)

Year to 31 March 2009

International

Sugar Eastern
Trading Sugar Total
Notes £m £m £m
Sales 852 , - 852
Operating (loss)/profit betore '
exceptional items 1), 2+ 1
Exceptional tems 7 (22) ¢ - {22)
Operating {loss)/profit (23} ] 2, 21}
Finance ncome 4 4 2 6
Finance expense 8, - 8
(Lossyprofit before tax @7 4" {23)
Income tax expense - {1}, {1)
{LossYprofit for the year 27, 3! (24)
Net cash flows irom discontinued operations are as follows
Year to 31 March 2010
International
Sugar Eastern
Trading Sugar Total
£m £m £m
Net cash used i operating activities (25) ! (4, (29}
Net cash used in investing activities (25) § -1 (25)
Year to 31 March 2009
International
Sugar Eastern
Trading Sugar Total
£m €m £m
Net cash generated from operating activities 87 | 53 ¢ 140
Net cash generated from investing activities 62 , 4 66

There were no cash flows used i or generated trom financing actvities in the years to 31 March 2010 or 31 March 2009
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13 Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the profit attnbutable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted averaga number of
orcinary shares n 1ssue during the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held 1n the Employee Share Ownership Trust
or in Treasury

Year to 31 March 2010 Year to 31 March 2008
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Totat
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders ! : '
of the Company (Emillior) 19 ¢ {4): 15 89 . (24)! 65
Welghted average number of ordinary : i : '
shares in 1ssue (milllons) 4570 ¢ 457 0 4570 456 5 456 5 . 456 5
Basic sarnings/(loss) per share 42p (0 9)p 33p 19 5p (5 3)p 14 2p
Diluted

Dilvied earmings per share 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue (o assume conversion of ak potential
dilutive ordinary shares Potential dilutve ordinary shares anise from share options For these, a calculation s performed to deterrmine the nurnber
of shares that could have been acquired at faw value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company's shares) based on the
monetary value of the subscripton nghts aftached to outstanding share options

Year to 31 March 2010 Year to 31 March 2009
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued

operations operations Totat operations operatcens Total

Profit/{loss) attributable to eguity holders i
of the Company {Emilion) 19 (4! 15 Bg . {24) 3 65

Weighted average number of diluted X
shares in 1ssue (milfions) 4593 ¢ 459 3 | 459 3 4598 ! 459 8 . 459 8
Diluted earnings/{loss) per share 42p {o9p 33p 194p {5 3)p 14 1p

The adiustment for the dilutive effect of share options at 31 March 2010 was 2 3 mihon shares (2008 - 3 3 milhon shares)

Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earrings per share 1s stated excluding exceptional tems and amortisation of acquired ntangible assets as follows

Year to 31 March

Continuing operations Notes 2010 2009
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company {£million) 19 B89
Adjustments (Emillion)
- exceptional tems 7 276 | 119
- amortisation of acquired intangible assets 15 14 ¢ 15
- tax effect of the above adjustments (116} ! {49)
- exceptional tax credt 11 {15) -
Adjusted profit {Ermillion) 178 174
Ad|usted basic earrungs per share from ‘contlnumg operations 391p 38 2p
Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 389p . 38 0p
14 Dividends
Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Dividends paid on ordinary equity shares (Emillion)
- final paid relating to prior year 74 73
- interim paid relating to current year 31, 31
Total dvidend paid 105 ¢ 104
Satisfied by
~cash {(Emilhiom) 103 104
- scrip dividend (Emilhon) (note a) 21 -
Total 105 ¢ 104
The total ordinary dniadend is 22 8p {2009 - 22 9p) made up as follows
- intenm dividend paid 68p 6 8p
- final dwidend proposed {note b) 16 1p 16 1p
Total 229p 229p

{a) The mienm dmdend paid dunng the year ended 31 March 2010 was the first to be paid to sharehoiders with the option 1o receive dividends as
ascnp 1ssue Further detad s disclosed in Note 24

(b} The fina! dvidend proposed for the year, which has not been recognised as a liability, will be paid subject to approval by shareholders at the
Company s Annual General Mesting, on 30 July 2010 to shareholders who are on the Register of Members on 25 June 2010
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15 Goodwill and intangible assets

Other
acquired Total QOther
ntangible acquired intangibie
Goodwitl Patents assets intangibles asgots Tota!
£m £m £m £m £m tm
Cost : : j : !
At 1 Apni 2009 240 , 33 ¢ 132 405 ! 34 439
Additions at cost - - 1 14 6 | 7
Disposals and write-offs - -1 - - {7 {7}
Exchange and other movements (10} - | )} (16) ' an
At 31 March 2010 230 K2R 127 | 390 32’ 422
Accumulated amortisation ‘ : ; : !
and impairments , ' :
At 1 Apri 2009 - 20 | 31 51 14 65
Amortisation charge - 3 11 ¢ 14 6 20
Disposals and wrte-offs - oy - - (1) {1
Exchange and other movements -, - {2): (2)§ - ()
At 31 March 2010 - 23 40 | 63 19 82
Net book value at ' . . !
31 March 2010 230 | 10 . 87 | 327 13 340
Cost . ' :
At 1 April 2008 202 | 33 | 108 343 | 22 | 365
Businesses acquired 1. - - 13 - 1
Additions at cost -1 - - - 7. 7
Businesses sold -, - =i - - 1)
Exchange and other movernents 37! - 24 61 . 6 67
At 31 March 2009 240 33 132 | 405 34 439
Accumulated amortisation ; !
and imparrments ' ' H . '
At 1 Apnl 2008 81 16 * 15 | 39 . 6, 45
Businesses sold - - - - (1 (1
Amaortisation charge - 4 11 ¢ 15 . 5 20
Exchange and other movements ) - 5 {3) 4 1
At 31 March 2009 - 20 | 3 51 14 | 65
Net book value at : i : .
31 March 2009 240 : 13 | 101, 354 . 20, 374
Goodwill
The carrying amounts of goodwill by reportable segment are as follows
31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Food & Industnal Ingredients, Americas (note a) 74 , 77
Food & Industrial Ingredients, Europe (note b} 155 | 161
Sugars 1 2
Total 230 - 240

Goodwill 15 tested for impairment annually and whenever there 1s an indication of impairment Unless otherwise stated, impament reviews are

carned out In accordance with the metnodology set out in Notes 2 and 3

{a) Goodwill in the Food & Industnal Ingredients Amencas
acquisition which s treated as one cash generating uni
it 1s therefore not approprate to allocate goodwall 10 ndmwvi

discounted using a pre-tax rate of 119% (2008 - 11%)

The remaining goodwil relates to Continental Cust
impairment using management projections of cash flows for five years and a pre-tax disco

om ingredients, which was acquired in 2008 This business has also been tested for
unt rate of 11% (2008 — 11%)

In both cases zero growth was assumed in perpetuty Management has concluded that no impament 15 required for either business

segment of £74 milhon ncludes £60 millon (2009 - £63 millon) relating 10 the Staley
(CGU) for imparment testing purposes as the business 1s managed as one entty and
dual plants Cash flows used were based on the fatest approved plans for five years

Tate & Lyle Annual Report 2010 79

Governance Business review Overview

Financial statements

Shareholder information




Notes to the consolidated financial stalements

15 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

(b) Goodwill in the Food & Industrial ingredients  Europe segment of £155 milion includes £88 mition (2008 - £91 million) refating to the acquisition
1n 2000 of the minonty of 34% of shares of the former Amylum business Although cash flows have been identified lor certain ndvdual plants
for the purposes of assessing the recoverable amoLnts of property plant and equipment (as described in Note 16) the business 1s managed as
anetwork with a large amount of inierdependency between plants and centralised decision-making Consequently, goodwill 1 monitored at
a dwistonal level and allocated to a group of plant CGUS for the purposes of impairment testing The remaming goodwilt in the {ormer Amylum
business has been tested for imparment using management projections of cash flows for five years and a pre-tax discount rate of 11% (2009 -
11%) Zero growth was assumed in perpetuity Management has concluded that no impairment 1s required

In addition, goodwilt ncludes £41 million {2008 - £42 million) relating to the acquisiion of G C Hahn & Co in June 2007 This business has
been tested for mpawrmeni using management projections of cash flows for five years and a pre tax discount rate of 11% (2009 - 11%)
Zero growth was assumed in perpetuty Management has concluded that no impairment 1s required

The remaining geodwill refates 10 a number of smaller acquisitions, each of which has been tested for impairment using management
projections for five years, pre-tax discount rates of 11% (2009 - 11%), and zero growth assurned In perpetuity Management has concluded
that no impairment 1s required

16 Property, plant and equipment

Assets in the
Land and Plant and course of
buildings machinery construction Total
£m £m £m ay}
Cost
At 1 April 2009 591 2394 345 . 3 330
Additions at cost 2 12 68 | 82
Transfers on completion 6! a4 | {50 | -
Disposals and write-offs (1), (13} (1) (15}
Exchange and other movements (20) ! (88) (17} {125}
At 31 March 2010 578 2349 345 3ar2
Accumulated depreciation and impairments !
At 1 April 2009 288 1483 1 1782
Depreciation charge 15 101 | - 118
impairment losses and wnite-downs - a1, 209 ! 240
Disposals and write-offs (1} (13}, - (14)
Exchange and other movements 10}, {48} @, (60}
At 31 March 2010 292 1564 208 2064
Net book value at 31 March 2010 286 785 | 137 1208
Cost : ' ,
At 1 April 2008 466 1815 ¢ 222 4 2503
Additrons at cost 6 i 15 208 | 229
Transfers on completion 27 i 134 {161) ¢ -
Businesses sold (6}’ 32), - i {38)
Disposals and write-offs (18) (37): )i 81)
Exchange and other moverments 116 | 499 az , 697
At 31 March 2009 591 | 2394 ¢ 345 , 3330
Accumulated depreciation and impairments H
At 1 April 2008 219 ! 1088 : - 1307
Depreciatlon charge 18 ¢ 94 , - 112
Impairment [osses 18 ; 87 1 106
Businesses sold {4 32). - (35)
Disposals and write-offs (15), {34} - (49)
Exchange and other movements 52 . 290 ¢ - 342
At 31 March 2009 288 | 1493 . 14 1782
Net book value at 31 March 2009 303 | 901 . 344 ' 1548

Additions to fixed assets ncludes capitabsed borrowing costs of £2 mifion (2009 - £11 milion)

Impairment losses
It 13 the Group's policy to test assets for impairment whenever events or changes In cireurnstances indicate that therr carrying amounts may not
be recoverable

(a) Impact of changes to the EU Sugar Regime
The Group continues 10 monitor the impact of the announced changes 1o the EU Sugar Regime, which were implemented :n July 2006 and
significantly reduce both EU refined sugar prices, raw sugar prices, and EU subsidised exports of sugar

The UK and Portuguese Sugars businesses are impacted by the changes to the EU Sugar Regme Managsment s impairment review of these
businesses was based on internal forecasts of future cash flows for the next five years, a pre-tax discount rate of 11% {2009~ 119%) and a zero
growth rate assumed In perpetuity This did not result in an impairment in etther the year ended 31 March 2010 or 31 March 2009
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16 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Food & Indusinal Ingredients, Europe 18 a major supplier of sweeteners which operates In competiion to sugar throughout Europe Following the
disposal of five European starch plants in October 2007, the Group carmed out an impairment review In respect of the remaning cash generating
untts at 31 March 2010 The recoverable amount was based on value In use, calculated based on estimated future cash flows using management's
internal forecasts of future margins for the next five years The pre-tax discount rate used was 1 1% (2009 - 11%) and a zero growth rate assumed
in perpetutty Taking all factors into account management concluded that no further imparment or reversal of previous smparments was required

{b) Other impairment reviews

Following a detaled analysis of end markets, in hght of costs of arcund £70 milion o complete and commuission the plant In Fort Dodge, lowa,
and factorng in the nsks assooiated with future returns from operating the plant the Group has conciuded that the plant 1s highly unlikely to be
completed or commissioned in the foreseeable future As a resull the faciity has been mothballed An imparment review has been carried out
and s a result an Imparment charge of £206 milion against assels under construction (as part of the imparment charge of £217 milion) has
been recogrised as an exceptional tem This exceptional tem relates to the Food & industrial Ingrecients, Amerncas segment The recoverable
amaunt has baen based on value N use, calculated using the expected cash flow approach, wetghted far the potential trmings of completion
and commissioning the plant, and using management's internal forecasts of future cash flows for five years, a pre-tax discaunt rate of 11% and
a zero growth rate assumed in perpetuity

Following a review of its portfolio of research and development projects, the Group decided to write down assets relating to operations in the
Food & Industnal Ingredients, Amencas segment resulting 1 an impairment wnte-down of £20 milhon being recognised n excaplional tems

The Group has carned out a further review of s sugar refining operation n srael as a result of the detenoration of the marging driven by record
high sugar prices and a surplus of EU beet sugar being exported into the Israel domestic market The recoverable amount was based on value In
use, calculated based on management s internal forecasts of future cash flows for the remainder of the operation’s ¢contractual life and a pre-tax
discount rate of 13% {2009 - 13%) Animparrment of £11 mithon (2009 - £9 milion) was recognised in exceptional items in the year

in the year ended 3t March 2009, the decision 1o mothball the Mcintosh, Alabama, plant resulted sin an imparment charge of £97 million
being recognised

Leased assets

Included n property, plant and equipment s piant and machinery held under finance leases with a net book value of £13 milion (2009 - £16 mition)
Dunng the year ended 31 March 2010, there were no additions recogrised on the Inception of finance leases (2009 - £1 milion) and no
imparrment losses (2000 - £10 milion) relating 1o leased assets of the Sucralose facility in Mcirtosh, Alabama

17 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Associates

At 1 Apni 2008

Exchange and other movements

At 31 March 2009

Exchange and other movements

w|Zlel |8

At 31 March 2010

The Group's assoctates, which are accounted for under the equity method, are listed in Note 41

The Group owns an overall holding of 14% in Microba Precision Engineering Inc The Group considers the investment to be an associate due
to the Group's abitity to exercise significant influence over the company

The amounts equity accounted in the Group income statement and statement of financial position are summarised below

Income statement Year 10 31 March
2010 2009

£m £m

Sales 51 2
Expenses 5 (2)
Profit betore and after tax - -
Statement of financial position 31 March
2010 2009

£m &m

Assets 120 14
Liabities 5 6)
Net assets 7 8
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17 Investments in associates and joint ventures {continued)

Joint ventures

The Group's joint ventures are proportionately consohdated and the continuing businesses are listed in Note 41
consohdated in the Group income statement and statement of financial position are summarised betow

Income statement

Year to 31 March 2010

The arnounts proportionately

Year to 31 March 2009

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinuad
operations operations operations operations
£m £m £m £m
Sales 329 ¢ - 276 | -
Other (expenseyincoms {277) 1 {236) - 4
Profit before tax 52 1 40 | 4
Income tax expense ®, - {1 - m
Profit for the year 43 1 29 | 3
Statement of financial position 31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Assets :
Nen-current assets 174 | 215
Cash and cash equivalents 61 | 43
Other current assets 118 ¢ 170
353 ! 428
Liabilities
Non-current borrowings 5 5
Qther non-current liabilities 18 | 1
Current borrowings 10 . 30
Other current habilities 57 ¢ 49
90 | 95
Net assets 263 - 333
18 Available-for-sale financial assets
tm
At 31 March 2008 18
Addrions <]
Disposals (6}
Far value gains 24
At 31 March 2009 39
Additions 3
Falr value loss (10
At 31 March 2010 32
Presented in the statement of financial posstion as follows
31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Non-current avallable-for-sale financial assets 14 11
Current assets held for sale 18 | 28
Total 32 | ag

Avadable-for-sale financial assets prmanty comprse £32 million {2008 — £38 milhon) of unlisted secunties The fair values of non-current avalable-
for-sale financial assets are approximated at cost Hence, value 1s adjusted only for permanent impairment and for no other movement The fair
values of current assets held for sale are based on management’s vatuation of expecied proceeds

The carrying value of the available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the followang currencies

31 March

2010 2009

£€m £m

Saudi nyal (note a) 15 23
US dollar (note b} 9 9
Sterling 6 5
Euro 2 2
Total 32 39

{2) Saud: riyal comprises £15 milion (2008 — £23 millon) of assets classified as held for sale in current assets
() US dollar compnises £3 million {2009 - £5 million) of assets classified as held for sale in current assets
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19 Financial instruments by category

Set out below 1s a companson by category of camying values and far values of all of the Group's financial assets and financial habilihes as at
31 March 2010 and 31 March 2008

31 March 2010

Danvatlves

and other Totai
Amortised ltems at Held for Avallable- carrying Faw
cost far valua trading for-sale value value
Notes £€m £m £m £m m £m
Avaiiable-for-sale financial assets 18 - - - 14 | 14 14
Trade and other recevables 23 398 . - -1 - 388 | 398
Cash and cash egquivalents 33 504 | - -, - 504 ; 504
Derivative financial instruments - assets 20 - 48 | 151 | - 199 199
Borrowings 28 {819) (490} , - - {1309)! {1 308}
Derwvative financial instruments - labilities 20 - (75), {117 - {192), {192)
Trade and other payables 27 (477); - -, - @7 {477)
Total (394)° (517) 34! 14 (863) : {862)
31 March 2009

Cenvatives

and other Total
Amortised itemns at Held tor Available- canyng far
cost far value trading for-sale vaiue value
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m
Avarlable-for-sale financial assets 18 - i - - 11, i1, 1"
Trade and other receivables 23 687 i - - - 687 | 687
Cash and cash equivalents a3 434 ! - -4 - 434 434
Derivative financial iInstruments — assets 20 -4 69 178 | - 247 247
Borrowings 28 (1 187)i (465) - - {1652)1 (1 729)
Denvative financial instruments - liabilities 20 - (116) (224}, - {340) « (340}
Trade and other payables 27 (522): - - - {522} (522}
Total (588) 1 {512} (46) 117 (1 135)' (1212)

Trade and other recewvables presented above excludes £28 milkon (2009 - £41 milhon) relating 10 prepayments
Trade and other payables presented above excludes £3 millon (2009 - £27 milhon) of deferred Income relating to Transitional Aid

Fair value hierarchy

As of 1 Apnl 2009, the Group has adopted the amendments to IFRS 7 Financral instruments Drisclosures iFRS 7 requires disclosure of how the
Group's financial Imstruments measured at far value fit within the following far value higrarchy

-~ quoted prices (unadjusted) In actve markets for Wentical assets or iabities {dlevel 1),
- Inputs other than quoted pnces ncluded within leve! 1 1hat are observable for the asset or labilty either directly or indirectly (evel 2},
- Inputs for the assel or lability that are not based cn observable market data {levet 3)

The following table ilustrates the Group s financial assets and nahiities measured at far value at 31 March 2010

31 March 2010
Level 1 Level 2 Lavel 3 Total
Notes £m £m £m £m
Assets at fair value : '
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 18 - - 14 14
Derivative financial instruments .
- Currency swaps 20 ~ 28 - 28
- interest rate swaps 20 - 38 ¢ - 38
- torward foreign exchange contracts 20 - 4 - 4
- commodity pncing contracts 20 61! 28 10 ; 129
Assets at fair value 61 ; 128 24 213
Liauiities at far value i
Dervative financial mstruments . . |
- CuUTency swaps 20 - (581 . - (58}
- interest rate swaps 20 - (17, -i (17
- forward foreign exchange contracts 20 - (10 - (10)
~ cemmodity pricing contracts 20 (86) ! (18); (3} {107}
Borrowings - (490) - {490)
Liatulities at fair value {86) ' {593) {3) {682)
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19 Financial instruments by category {continued)

Level 1 financial instruments

The far value of inancial Instruments traded in active markets ({commeodity futures) 18 based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date

A market 1s regarded as active f quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange dealer, broker, ndustry group, pricmng service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and reguiarly cceurring market transactions on an arm's length basis

Level 2 financial instruments

The far values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (interest rate swaps, Cross currency swaps, commodity pncing
coniracts and forward foreign exchange contracts) are determined by using valuation techniques These valuation techniques maximnise the use of
cbservable market data where 1t 1s available and rely as iittle as possible on entity specific estimates

The fair vatue of nterest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts 1s calculated as the present value of the future cash
flows based on observable Inputs drawn from interest yield curves sourced from a reputable third party scurce

The amount shown within level 2 for borrowings onty Includes thase borrowings which are designated as hedged items in far value hedges with
respect to interest rate nsk and whose carrying amount 15 adjusted for the gain or loss on the hedged item attnbutable to the hedged risk

Level 3 financial instruments

The far value of financial Instrumenis 1s based on unobservable INputs that are supported by little or no market actvity at the balance sheet date
These inputs generally reflect the entity s own assumptions about how a market participant would reasonably be expected to determine the pnice
of a financial instrument

For commodity pncing contracts, in evaluating the significance of fair value inputs the Group generally classifies assets or labilities as levet 3 when
therr farr valug 1S determined using uncbservable inputs that indwvidually or when aggregated with other unobservable nputs represent more than
10% of the far value of the observable inputs of the assets or llabilities

Avallable-for-sale financial assets which are analysed at level 3 primarily represent investments in unisted secunties The fair values of the unhsted
securities are approximated at cost Hence, value 1s adjusted only for permanent impairment and for no other movement

For financial instruments in level 3, the Group does not consider thal changes to inputs 1o reasonable alternatives woukd have a matenal impact on
the income statement or equity

The following table reconciles the movement in the Group's financial nstruments classified in level 3 of the far vaue hierarchy between 1 Apnl 2008

and 31 March 2010
Commaodity Commedity

pricing pricing Available-

contracts contracts for-sale
- asgets — habiiites assets Total
£m £m &m £m
At 1 Apnil 2009 21 i - 11, 32
Total gans or losses In operating profit 10 3 - 7
Purchases - - 3, 3
Settlements 21 = - 1)
At 31 March 2010 10 3 14 21
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20 Derivative financial instruments

statenents

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Assats Liabilities Assets Liabiies
£m £m £m £m

Non-current derivative financiat mstruments , .

used to manage the Group's net debt profile 1 |
Currency swaps - far value, net mvestment and cash flow hedges - {51) 5 {45)
Currency swaps - held for trading 16 (2) - -
Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges 22 {3) 20 ¢ (7}
Interest rate swaps - held for trading 9 (11} 13 (t5)
47 ' 67) 47’ 67)

Current derivative financial instruments used

to manage the Group's net debt profile :
Currency swaps — accrued interest 12 ! (5) 10 (3}
Interest rate swaps - accrued interest 7 {3) 3, 3
19 . (8 13 | (6)

Total derivative financtal instruments used : H
to manage the Group’s net debt profile 66 | {75) 60 : (73)

Other non-current derivative financial mstruments . ;
Forward foreign exchange contracts — cash flow hedges 1 - - )
Commodity pricing contracts - cash flow hedges 1 - - {3}
2 4 - - {5)

Other current derivative financial instruments i i
Forward foreign exchange contracts — cash flow hedges 3. {6) 120 (23)
Forward foreign exchange contracts — held for trading - 4 - -
Commodity pricing contracts - cash flow hedges 2. 4] 10, (30)
Commodity pricing contracts — held for trading 126 | (100} 165 | (209}
131 ¢ (117) 187 | (262)
Total other derivative financial instruments 133 . {17 187 1 (267)
Total derivative financial instruments 199 (192) 247 (340}

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows !
Non-current derivative financial instruments 49 &7} 47 i 72)
Current derivative financial instruments 150 (125) 200 | (268B)
199 | {192) 247 | (340)

The comparative information has been re-presented as set out I Note 1

The mefiective portion recognised in operating profit that anses from cash flow hedges amounts to a loss of £3 mdlion (2008 - £4 milion gain)

The ineflective portion recognised In operating profit that anses from net investment hedges amounis ta a gan of £1 milkon 2009 - £1 milhon loss)

The ineffective portion recogrsed In net finance expense that anses from fair value hedges amounts to a gain of £1 million (2009 - £2 mitihon i0ss)

In accordance with 1AS 1 {revised) the Group has re-presented certain held for trading denvatives from current to non-current as set out in Note 1
As at 1 Aprl 2008 £4 milion of assets and £5 million of liabilities have been re-presented There was no overall effect on the Group's equity

The re presented comparatives as al 1 Aprl 2008 are as follows

1 Apnl 2008

Assets Liabilites

re-presented re-presented

£m £m

Non-current 40 {35)
Current 271 {262}
Total 3N {297)
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20 Denvative financeal instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges
The Group employs farward foreign exchange contracts and commodity pricing contracts to hedge cash flow nsk associated with forecast
transactions The notional pancipal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts are as follows

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Euro {68) (50)
US dollar (30} ¢ 2
Sterling 75 . 69
Singapore dollar 25 ° 22
Other {4): (13)

Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in equity (Note 25) on forward foreign exchange and commeodity priong contracts s of
31 March 2010 will ba released 10 the Income stalement at vanous dates up to 3C months from the balance sheet date

[n addiion, the Group hedges the interest cost of certain of its borrowings through the use of nterest rate swaps Gans and losses recognised
In the hedging raserve N equity on INterest rate swaps as of 31 March 2010 will be released to the ncome statement at vanous dates untd the
matunty of the underlying borrowings in June 2012 The notional princpal amount of the outstanding nterest rate swaps 15 £136 mifkon

(2009 - £142 million)

Fair value hedges

The Group employs cumency and interest rate swap coniracts to hedge the currency and interest rate nsks associated with its borowings
The notional princtpal amounts of the outstanding Interest rate and currency swap coniracts applied in far valug hedging relationships as of
31 March 2010 were £364 million and £100 millon respectively (2009 - £227 millon and £200 mifion respectively)

Net investment hedges

The Group employs currency swap contracts to hedge the currency nisk associated with Its net investments 0 subsidianes located prmanly in the
USA and Europe The notional principal amounts of the outstanding cusrency swap contracts appied w net investrment hedging relationships as
of 31 March 2010 were £208 milion (31 March 2009 - £250 millon) The fair value gam of £8 million (2009 - £48 milbon loss) on translation of the
currency swap coniracts to pounds stering at the balance sheet date was recognised n the tranglation reserve in shareholders’ equity (Note 25)

In agdiion, at 3% March 2010 of the Group s borrowings, a total of £564 rulion {2009 - £860 milion) is designated as hedges of the net
Investments in overseas subsidianes

Debt-related derivatives held for trading

Currency swap contracts associated with the pariml repurchase of the 6 5% Guaranteed Notes 2012 were ¢losed out in November 2009 by
antenng into offseting currency swap contracts These swaps do not qualfy for hedge accounting The notional amounts of the outstanding
currency swap contracts not designated within hedge refationships as at 31 March 2010 were £203 millicn (2009 — £l milion)

Some of the Group's interest rate swap contracts hedgs the Group's exposurs to interest rate nisk, but do not quality for hedge accounting The
notional amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts not designated within hedge relalionships as of 31 March 2010 were £231 mulion
(2009 - £244 rmulion)

in addition, at 31 March 2009, there were interest rate cap contracts outstanaing with notional amounts of €109 milion These caps matured during
the year ended 31 March 2010

Trading contracts

Commodity pricing contracts hetd for trading relate 1o the Groups commodity trading actvities which are undenaken for the purposes of supporting
underlying operations Foreign exchange contracts held for trading are undertaken to hedge anticipated future contraciual cash flows withun the
Group s cereal sweetners and starches business
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21 Financial nsk factors

Management of financial risk

The man financal nsks faced by the Group are credit nsk, lquidity risk, and market nsks, which include interest rate nsk, foreign exchange nsk and
certan commodity price nsks The Board regularly reviews these nsks and approves wntten policies covenng the use of financial nstrurments to
manage these nsks and set overall nisk Iinits

The Group Finance Director retains the overall responsibility and managerent of financial nsk for the Group Most of the Group s financing, interest
rate and foreign exchange risk are managed through the Group treasury company, Tate & Lyle International Finance PLC, whose operations are
controlled by its board The treasury company 1s chared by the Group Finance Director and has other board members who are independent of the
treasury function The board of Tate & Lyle International Finance PLC approves policies and procedures setting out permissible funding and hedging
instruments, and a system of authonties for the approval of transactions and exposures within the hmits approved by the Board of Tate & Lyle PLC

Group interest rate and currency exposures are concentrated erther n the treasury company or In appropnate holding companies through market-
related transactions with Group subsidianes These positions are managed by the treasury company within its authonised hmits

Commaodity price nsks are managed through dvistonal commedity trading functions n the USA and Europe These functions are controfied by
dvisional management who are responsible for ratifying general strategy and overseeing performance on a monthly basis Commodity price
contracts are calegonsed as baing held either for trading or for hedging price exposures Commodity contracts hetd for trading wathin the Group are
Imited conlined only to lightly controlled areas within the sugar and corn pricing areas

The dervative financial nstruments approved by the Board of Tate & Lyle PLC to manage financial nisks include swaps, both interest rate and
currency, swaptions, caps, forward rate agreements, financial and commoadity forward contracts and options, and commodity futures

Market risks

Forelgn exchange management

Tale & Lyle operates internationalty and 1s exposed to foreign exchange nsks ansing from commercial transactions {transaction exposure) and from
recognised assets, labiities and investments in overseas operations {translation exposure)

Transaction exposure
The Group's policy requires subsidianies to hedge transactional currency exposures aganst therr functional currency once the transaction s
committed or highly propabie, mainly through the use of {forward foreign exchange contracts

The amounts defarred in equity from dervatwe financial nstruments designated as cash flow hedges are released 1o the income statement and
offset against the moverment in underlying transactions only when the forecast transactions atfect the ncome statement

Translation exposure

The Group manages the foreign exchange exposure {o net nvestments in overseas operations particularty n the USA and Europe, by maintaining
a percentage of nat debt in US dollars and euros to mitigate the effect of thesa nsks This 1s achieved by borrowing principally in US dellars and
euros, which provide a partial match {or the Group's major foreign currency assets A weakening of the US dollar and euro against sterling would
result In exchange gans on nat debt denominated N these currencies which would be offset against the losses on the underlying forelgn currency
assets At the year end, net debt amounting to £814 milon (2009 - £1,231 mifion) was held in the following currencies net borrowings of US
dollars 76% {2009 - 77%). euro 20% {2008 - 20%), pounds sterling 7% (2009 ~ 3%} and net deposis of other currencies 3% (2009 - net deposils
of 0%} The Group's nterest cost through the Income statement 1s impacted by changes in the relevant exchange rates

The followng table Hlusirates only the Group's sensitivity to the fluctuation of the major currencies on its financial assets and labilities, as defined
and set out i Note 19

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Incorme Income:
statement Equity statermnent Equity
-1+Em -{+Em ~/+Em ~+Em
Sterling/US dollar 5% change - 28 18 40
Sterling/euro 5% change - 15 1, 13

The Group also manages its foreign exchange exposura 10 net investments In overseas operations through the use of currency swap contracts
The amount deferred in equity from dervative financial imstruments designated as net investment hedges 15 offset against the fereign currency
translation effect of the net investment In overseas operations, and 1s released to the Income statement upon disposal of those Investments

interest rate management

The Group has an exposure to Interest rate nsk, ansing principally from changes in US dellar, stering and euro mterest rates This sk @
managed by fixing or capping portions of debt using iInterest rate dervatives to acheve a target level of fixed floating rate net debt, which ams
to optimise net finance expense and reduce volatility in reported earnings The Group's pohcy 15 that between 30% and 75% of Group net debt
(excluding the Group's share of joint-venture net debt) 1s fixed or capped {(excluding out-of-the-money caps) for more than one year and that no
interest rates are fixed for more than 12 years A derogation of the maximum percentage of fixed rate debt was approved by the Tate & Lyle PLC
Board until 30 June 2010 At 31 March 2010, the longest term of any fixed rate debt held by the Group was until November 2019 (2008 - June
2016) The proportion of net debt (excluding the Group's share of joint-veniure net debt) that was fixed or capped for more than one year was
82% (2009 - 55%)

It the interest rates applicable to the Group's floating rate debt nse/fall from the levels at the end of March 2010 by an average of 100 basis ponts
over the year to 31 March 2011, Group profit before tax wilk reduce/increase by approximately £1 miion {2009 - £4 milion) The floating rate
nterest payments on £136 milion {2008 - £142 malion) of the Group's borowings are hedged and designated under cash flow hedge relationstups

Tate & Lyle Annual Report 2013 87

Governance Business review Overview

Financial statements

Shareholder information




Notes to the consoudated financtal stataments

21 Financial nsk factors (continued}

Price risk management

Tate & Lyle participates manly in four markets food and beverage, industrial ngredients pharmaceutical and personal care, and animal feed
Food and beverage and industnal ingredients are the most significant Allingredients are produced from renewable crops, predaminantly corn
{maize) and sugar cane

Tate & Lyle s exposed to movemnents in the future prices of commodities in those domestic and international markets where the Group buys and
sells corn sugar and energy {or production Commodity futures forwards and options are used where available to hedge nventones and the costs
of raw materials far unpnced and prospectve contracts not covered by forward product sales In most cases, these hedging contracts mature
within one year and are erther traded on recogrised exchanges or over the counter

The tabie below illustrates the sensiivity of the Group's commodity pricing contracts as of 31 March to the price movement of commodities

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Income Income
statement Equity statement Equity
~I+Em =/+Em ~/+fm ~/+Em
Corn 30% change 2 - 2, 1
Sugar 20% change 3, - 1 -

The majority of the Group s commedity pricing contracts are held for trading and changes i mark-to-market values of these contracts are taken
directly into the mcome statement Amounts deferred In equity from commodity pacing contracts designated as cash flow hedges are released to
the income statement and offset against the movement In underlying transactions when they occur

Credit nsk management
Counterparly credit risk anses from the placing of deposits and entenng nto dervative financial instrument contracts with banks and financia!
nsttutions as well as credit exposures nherent within the Group's outstanding recewvables

The Group manages credit nsk by enterng into financia! instrument contracts onty with fghty credit-rated aulhonsed counterparties which are
reviewed and approved annuatly by the Board

The Group has Board approved maximum counterparty exposure tmits for specified banks and financial institutions based on the long-term credit
ratings of Standard & Poor's and Moody's (typically sngle A long-term credit ratings or higher) Trading Imits assigned to commercial Gustomers are
based on ratings from Dun & Bradstreet and Credit Risk Monitor In cases where published financial ratings are not available or inconclusive, crecit
application, reference checking, and obtaining of customers' configential financial informat:on such as hquidity and tumnaver ratio, are required 10
evaluate customer's credit worthiness

Counterparties’ positions are monitored on a regular basis to ensure that they are within the appraved imids and there are ne sigrificant
concentrations of credit nsks

The Group considers it maximum exposure to credit risk as follows

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 504 ! 434
Trade and other recevables 398 ¢ 687
Derivative financial instruments - assets 199 | 247
Availlable-for-sale financial assets 14 ¢ 11

The Group's trade recenvables are short term in nature and largely comprise amounts recevable from consumers and business customers There
are no amounts included in trade recervables in respect of securtised recevables (2009 - £98 miion} Concentrations of creait risk with respect (o
trade recevables are mited due to the Group's custormer base being large, unrelated and internationally dispersed

Liquidity nsk management

The Group manages s exposure o iquidity nisk and ensures maximum flexibrity in meeting changing business needs, by mantaning access

to a wide range of funding sources, including capital markets and bank borrowngs in November 2008, the Group tssued a £200 milion 8 75%
band which matures in November 2018, and undertock a tender ofier to repurchase the 2012 stering bonds The objective of the new issue 10
conunction with the tender offer for the 2012 steriing bonds was to extend the Group's maturity profile and further diversily sources of funding
The Group repurchased £100 mifion of the 2012 stering bonds on the completion of the tender offer Capital market 1ssues outstanding

at 31 March 2010 include the USS300 million 6 125% 144A bond matuning In 2011, the £100 milion 6 50% bond maturing n 2012 the

US$500 million 5 00% 144A bond matunng In 2014, the US$250 million 6 625% 144A bond maturing in 2016, and the £200 millon 6 75% bond
maturing in 2319

The Group ensuras that it has sutficient undrawn committed bank facilities to provide Iiquidity back-up to cover s funding requiraments for the
{oreseeable future The Group has a core committed bank facility of US$1 biion of which US$1 bilion matures in 2012 This facility i unsecured
and contans common financial covenants for Tate & Lyle and its subsidiary companies that the pre-exceptional and amortisation interest cover
ratio should not be less than 2 5 tmes and the multiple of net deb! to EBITDA, as defined In our financial covenants, should not be greater than
4 0times In the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group amended the defintiion of the net debt to EBITDA covenant in the US$1 billon Revolving
Credit Faciity to elminata the distortion of foreign exchange volatiity, so that net debt Is translatec at the same average exchange

rates used to transiate EBITDA

The Group monitors compliance against all ts financial obligations and it 1s Group policy to manage the consoldated statement of financial positon
50 as {0 eperate well within these covenanted restnctions In both the current and comparative reporting penod, the Group complied with i1s
financial covenants at all measurement ponts The majonty of the Group's borrowangs are raised through the Group treasury company. Tate & Lyle
International Finance PLC, and are then on-lent 16 the business units on an arm’s length basis
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21 Financial risk factors (continued)

Current Group policy 15 1o ensure that, after subtracting the total of undrawn committed faciities, no more than 10% of gross debt matures within
192 months and no more than 35% has a maturity within two and a half years At 31 March 2010, afier subtracting total undrawn committed
faclities, there was no debt maturing within two and a half years (2009 - none) The average maturtty of the Group's gross debt was 5 4 years
(2009 - 4 8 years) Al the year end the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £504 milion (2008 - £434 million) and had commitied facilites of
£659 million (2009 - £788 milhon) of which £515 milkon (2008 - £524 million) were undrawn These resources are manianed to prowide bauidity
back-up and to meet the projected maximum cash outflow from debt repayment capital expenditure and seasonal working capital needs foreseen
for al least a year into the future at any one ime

The iable below analyses the Group s non-gervative financial habilites and denvatve assets and liabiiies based on the remaining penod at the
balance sheet date 1o the contractual matunty date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows

31 March 2010
<1 year 1-5 yeoars » § years

Liquichity anatysis £m £m £m
Borrowings including finance leases 91, {653) {435)
Interest on borrowings (62) ! {190): (115)
Trade and other payables (474) - -
Dervative contracts — receipts 407 778 -
Derivative contracts - payments {394} (802} : -
Commadity contracts (123}, 3): -

Of the £191 million borrowings with matunties of less than one year £138 milion refates to the draw down of committed facities under the

Revohang Credit Facilty which matures in 2012

31 March 2009

<1 year 1-5 years > §years

Em £m £m

Borrowings including finance leases (525) . (483) - (598)
Interest on DOrrOWINGS {61} 1 (183, (81
Trade and other payables {516} | - -
Derivative contracts - receipts 521 | 306 -
Dernvatwve contracts - payments (505) , (351) * -
Commodity contracts {232) - 9 -

included in borrowings are £2,394,000 of 6 5% cumulative preference shares Only one year's worth of interest payable on these cumulative

preference shares I1s included n the less than one year category above

Interest on borrowings 15 calculated based on borrowings held at year end wathout taking mto account future issues Floating-rate inierest 15

calculated using forward interest rates denved from interest rate yield curves as at year end

Denvative contracts melude currency swaps, forward exchange contracts interest rate swaps and inierest rate caps Al commadity pricing

contracts such as options and futures are shown separately under commodity contracts

Commaodity contracts include only net settled commodiy dervative contracls and gross settled commodity purchase contracts with negatve lar
values Purchase contracts outflows represent actual contractual cash flows under the purchase contracts and not thexr far values Cash outflows
from the purchase contracts are offset by cash inflows received from sale contracts however, these inflows are not inciuded as part of this analysis

Financial labiities denominated in currencies other than pounds sterling are converted to pounds sterling using year end exchange rates

Capital nsk management

The Group s prmary objectives in managing s capdal are 1o safeguard the businass as a going concern, to mamtain sufiicient financial fiexibity
to underiake fs wivestment plans, to retain as a mingmum an investment grade credit rating which enables consistent access to debt capital
markets and to optmise capital structure In order ta reduce the cost of capital The Group's financial profile and level of financial nsk 1s assessed

on a regular basis i the kight of changes to the economic conditions, business environment  the Group's business profile and the nsk

charactenstics of s businesses

Tate & Lyle has contractual relationstups with Moody's and Standard and Poor's (S&P) for the prowviston of credit ratings and it 15 the Group's policy

The Group regards s total capitat as follows

to keep them informed of all major developments At 31 March 2010, the long-term credit rating from Moody's was Baa3 (stable outiock) and from

S&P was BBB- (negatve outiook} The Group 18 committed to maintaining investment grade credit ratings

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Net debt 814 1231
Total shareholders' equity 854 1013
Total capital 1668 2 244
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21 Financial risk factors (continued)

The Board of Tate & Lyle PLC has set two ongong key performance indicators (KPIs} to measure the Group s financial strength The target levels
for these financial KPis are that the rabio of net debt/EBITDA should not exceed 2 5 umes and interest cover should exceed 5 imes These ratios
are calculated on the sarme basis as the external financial covenants noted above The maximum net debt to EBITDA KPI target has been reduced
from 2 5 tmes to 2 0 umes for the year ending 31 March 2011 and beyord The ratios for these KPIs for the hnancial years ended 31 March 2010
and 31 March 2009 are

31 March

2010 2009

Net debt/EBITDA 18. 24

Interest cover 58 61
22 Inventornes

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Raw materals and consumables 202 , 227

Work 1n progress 19 ° 24

Finished goods 188 : 287

Total 409 ' 538

Fsnished goods inventones of £2 milhon (2009 - £1 muhon) are carned at realisable value this being lower than cost inventongs of £60 miion
(2009 - £99 millon) are carmed at market value

The Group has recognised an imparment charge of £4 millon against finished goods inventones at its sugar refing business in Israel which has
been ncluded in exceptional items The sugar refining business in lsrae! s reported in the Sugars segment

23 Trade and other receivables

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Non-current trade and other receivables '

Trade receivables -, 1
Prepayments and accrued income - 1
Other recevables 2 3
Total 2| 5
3t March

2010 2009

£m £m

Current trade and other receivables

Trade receivablas 329 475
Less provision for impairment of recevables (24) 21}
Trade recevables - net 305 | 454
Prepayments and accrued income 28 40
Margin depostts 45 | 151
Government grants recevable 3. 12
Other receivables 43 66
Total 424 723

The far values of the non current trade and other recevables are not matenally different from therr carrying values The farr values of the current
trade and other recevables are equivalent Lo ther carrying values due o being short-ierm N nature

There are no amounts within trade recevables i respect of secuntised recevables (2009 - £98 mition) The recewvables secuntisation was fully
repaxd during the year (Note 28) There is no concentration of credt nsk with respect to trade recewvables, as the Group has a lasge number ot
nternationally dispersed customers The carrying value of trade and other recevaples represents the max:mum credst exposure

Government grants are recewvable under the Transitonal Aid and Restructunng Ad provisions of the EU Sugar Regime  These amounts were
recenvable subject to audit by the governments of the junsdictions to which they relate

The carrying amaunt of trade and other recevables are denomnated in the following currencies

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

US dollar 231 | 455
Euro (note a) 98 | 183
Sterling 31 38
Other 66 52
Total 426 728

(@ Includes £3 milion of government grants recevable under the Transttional Ad and Restructunng Ad provisions of the EU Sugar Regime
(2009 - £12 muikon}
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23 Trade and other recewvables (contmued}
Prowision for impasrment of receivables

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

At1 April 21} (9}
Charge for the year 3 (14)
Reversal of impairment 1! 3
Disposal of businesses - 2
Exchange M )
At 31 March (24 : 21}

The creation and release of provision for impared recevables have been included in the income statement

The Group recognised a loss of £3 million (2009 - £14 millan) for imparment of its trade recevables dunng the year Of this loss £3 milion
{2009 - £2 million) from continuing operations and Enit milion (2009 — £3 millon} from disconiinued operations has been included i operating
profit in the income statement (Nole 6) and £nil mithon (2009 ~ £9 milion) has been included in exceptional items

As at 31 March 2010 trade recewvables of £83 millon (2009 - £66 mition) were past due tut not impaired The ageing analysis of these trade
recenvables 1s as follows

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Up to 30 days past due 42 37

1-3 months past due 4. 16

QOver 3 months past due 17 13

Total 63 66
24 Share capital and share premium

Ordinary Share

sharg capital pramium Total

fm £m £m

At 1 Aprii 2008 114 | 404 , 518

Proceeds from 1ssuance of ordinary shares 1, - 1

At 31 March 2009 115 404 | 519

Proceeds from 1ssuance of ordinary shares - 15 1

At 31 March 2010 115 405 | 520

Ordinary shares carry the nght 1o participate i divicends and each share entitles the holder to one vote on matters requinng sharehoider approval
Authonsed equity share capital

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

790,424,000 ordinary shares of 25p each (2009 - 790,424,000} 198 @ 198
Aliotted, called up and fully paid equity share capital

31 March 2010 3% March 2009

Shares £m Shares tm

At 1 Apnl 450 012 801 115 | 459910 466 . 114

Allotted under share option schemes 48 287 - 102 335 | 1

Scnp dividend shares issued 514612 ° - - -

At 31 March 460 575 700 115 | 460012801 ¢ 115

Treasury shares and shares hetd in ESOP trust
As at 31 March 2010, the Group held 512,480 shares (2009 - 1,328,502 shares) in Treasury

Dunng the year 816,012 shares (2009 — 1,426,571 shares) were released from Treasury to satsfy share options exercised

The shares held in Treasury at 31 March 2010 represent O 1% (2009 - 0 3%) of the Parent company's share capitel at the year end
and have a nominal valus of £0 1 million (2008 - £0 3 mullion)

As at 31 March 2010, the Group hetd 3,141,100 shares {2009 - 1,840,801 shares) in an ESCP trust at a nominal value of 25p and a markat
vatue of 454 2p (2009 - 260 Sp)

Dunng the year ended 31 March 2010, shareholders were given the option 1o recemve the interm dividends in the form of a senp 18sue
On 8 January 2010 the Group 1ssued 514 612 shares for scnp at a nominal vatue per share of 25p and a cash equivalent value of £4 25
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24 Share capital and share premium {continued)
Analysis of ordinary shareholders

31 March 2010
Number of
holdings % Total %
Up te 500 shares of 25p each 5219 | 306 1399953} 03
501 - 1000 4338 | 254 ) 3404394 0.7
1001 -1500 2253 | 132§ 28027M 06
1501-2000 1505 ¢ 88 : 2722938 ; 06
2001 -5 000 2434 | 1421 7614523 ; 17
5001 - 10 000 554 32 3001072 ¢ 09
10 001 — 200 000 575 ¢ 34 . 28234008 ! 6.1
200 001 — 500 000 98 ! 06 29523797} 6.4
Above 500 000 101 i 06 ' 380972244 827
Total 17077 . 1000 : 460575700 ! 1000
25 Other reserves
Other
Hedgng Translation reservas
reserve reserve (note a) Total
£m tm £m £m
At 31 March 2008 2! @ 98 91
Cash flow hedges X i
- fair value losses in the year @en, - - 21)
- reclassihed and reported in the income staterent during the year (13) - - (13)
- tax effect of the above movements 9 - - 9
Gain on revaluation of avallable-for-sale financial assets - - 24 24
Currency translation differences '
- net investment hedging losses in the year - (321} § (321)
Net exchange differences on consolidation - 454 | - 454
iterns transferred to income on disposal UN {3)1 (4)
Al 31 March 2009 (23} 123 119 218
Cash flow hedges ‘
—fair value gains in the year 13 - - 13
- reclassified and reported in the income statement during the year 11 - =i 1
- tax efiect of the above movements Ity - - (4
Loss on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets - - (10 (10}
Currency translation differences . :
- net investment hedging gains in the year - 58 | - 58
Net exchange differences on consolidation - (67). - (67)
At 31 March 2010 (3} 114 109 220

{a) Other reserves include the merger reserve, \he avalable-for-sale farr value reserve and the statutory reserves

all of which are non-distrbutable
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26 Share-based payments

During the year to 31 March 2010, vanous equity-settled share-based payment arrangements existed, which are described below

Sharesave scheme

Deterred
Perormance  Executive share bonus Duration
Type of arrangement share plan option scheme share plan n years
Timing of grant B annually  Annually in June | Annually in July * Annually in June : Annuazlly In
in June and {note a} , \ December
Novermber ' '
Number of options/shares granted : ' . .
in year to 31 March 2010 5001 896 - - - 3 - 85 632
' ‘ 5 - 45 453
Number of options/shares granted ! :
in year to 31 March 2009 2478 568 . - 19 026 3. 66 029 - 148 132
: : 5. 31340 61893
Farr value per share for 2010 grant {pence} 234 -3 - 3 -, 90
. . 5. - a7
Fair value per share for 2009 grant {pence) 170 - 215 3 66 67
. ' 5. 75 76
Valuation basis Monte Carlo ! Binomlal Lattice # Monte Cario f Black-Scholes + Black-Scholes
Contractual life 10 years | 10years | 3 years ; 3/5 years . 5 years
Vesting conditions {note b} ! {notec) . {rote d) : note e) . (note e}

{a) The last grant under this scheme was made 1n June 2004

{b) For the year ended 31 March 2010, exercise of 419,403 shares 15 not subject to any performance conditions, exercise of 269,616 shares
Is dependent on total shareholder return and the exercise of 4,312,877 shares is dependent 50% on total shareholder return and 50% on

earnings per share

For the year ended 31 March 2008, exercise was dependent on total shareholder return by reference to a competitor group over a

three-year penod following grant

(c) Exercise 1s dependent on earnings per share performance relative to inflation over a threg-year penad following grant Participants are not
entitled to dividends prior to the exercise of options

{d) Executives have previously had the opportunity to defer up to 50% of their annuat cash bonus (after deduction of tax, national insurance
or other social secunty payments) and invest the amount deferred in the Company'’s shares Subject 1o the satisfaction of employment
conditions and a performance target over the performance period as descnbed in (b) above, participants received awards of matching
shares basaed on the number of shares which could have been acquired from the gross bonus amount deferred by the pariicipant During
the performance period, dividends were paid on the deferred shares but not on matching shares This plan was suspended during the

year ended 31 March 2009

{8) Options granted n the years to 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 were by invitation at a 10% discount to the market price Options are
exercisable at the end of a three-year or five-ysar savings contract

The Group recognised total expenses before tax of £5 million (2009 - £5 million) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions

dunng the year

Details of the movements for equity-settled share optron schemes dunng the year to 31 March were as follows

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

Waeighted Weighted

average average

axercise exercise

Sharaes price Shares price

number pence number pence

Qutstanding at 1 April 9783526 ' 1114 11664 517 | 117
Granted 5132981 ¢ 1 2 804 988 ' 42
Exercised {1064 000) : 174 {1732 598) 149
Lapsed {2 552 549} *_ 38 {2 953 381) ', 48
Outstanding at 31 March 11299958 | 76 9783526 111
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26 Share-based payments (continued)

The weighted average Tate & Lyle PLC share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised dunng the year was 377 pence (2009 -
467 pence) At 31 March 2010, 1,891,485 (2009 - 3,017,439} of the outstanding options were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price
of 329 pence (2009 - 280 pence) A detaled breakdown of the range of exercise pnees for options outstanding at 31 March s shown in the

table below
Year to 31 March 2010 Year tg 31 March 2009
Weighted Weighted Weighted ‘Weightea
average average average average
Number remalning exercise Number remanng exercise
outstanding cantractual price outstanding contractual price
at and of year iife in months pence at end of year Iife »t months pence
At nil cost 8B46 512 | 556 - 6 649 565 . 529 -
£001to £1 99 - - n - - -
£2 00 to £3 99 2207816 M6, 340 29101986 : 535 . 338
£4 00 to £7 99 245 630 : 365 . 443 223 765 ' 232 ; 466
Total 11 299 958 | 525 ' 76 | 9783526 ; 523 93

The farr value of grants 15 measured using the valuation technique that is considered 10 be the most appropnate to value each ctass of grant
These nclude Binomiz Lattice models, Black-Scholes calculations and Monte Carlo simulations  These vatuations take (nio account factors such
as non-transferability, exercise restnctions and behavioural considerations Key assumptions are detaved below

Sharesave

Performance scheme

At 31 March 2010 share ptan December
Expected volatiity 40% ; 35%
Expected life n/a 3 3/5.3 years
Risk-free rate -1 3%/34%
Expected dividend yietd 515%-78% 57%
Forfetture rate 0% | 10%
Correlation with comparators I5S% | n/a
Volatility of comparators 26%-144% | n/a
Expectations of meeting performance criteria 100% | nia
Weighted average market pnce at date of grant {pence} 346 | 418
Sharesave Sharesave

Deterred Performance scheme scheme

At 31 March 2009 bonus plan shara plan June Decamber
Expected velatility 30% 30% | 30% ¢ 30%
Expected life n/a ; nfa + 35/55years ; 35/55vyears
Risk-fres rate - - 53% * 45%/46%
Expected dividend yield 56% ! 57% 57% ¢ 4 9%
Forfelture rate 0% . 0% 10% ! 10%
Correlation with comparators 30% | 30% i nfa i n/a
Volatility of comparators 17-56% | 17-53% nfa | n/a
Expectations of meeting performance criteria 100% . 100% | n/a , n/a
Wenghted average market price at date of grant (pence) 401 , 392 | 398 | 400

The expected volatilty 1s based on the Company s histoncal volatility over the three-year penod prior to each award date
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27 Trade and other payables

31 March
2010 2009
£m tm

Non-current payables
Accruals and deferred income (note a) - 10
Other payables 1. 1
Total 1 11
31 March
2010 2009
£m £m

Current payables
Trage payables 302 | 295
Social security 12 . g
Deferred consideration {note b} 7. 28
Accruals and deferred income (note ¢) 126 178
QOther payables 38 28
Total 485 , 538

{al Includes government grant deferred ncome of £nil milion (2009 ~ £9 milion} under the Transitional Aid provisions of the EU Sugar Regme
b} Deterred consideration relates to the acquisition of G C Hahn & Co (Note 37)
{c} Includes government grant defarred income of £9 milkon {2009 - £18 mullion) under the Transitional Ad provisions of the EU Sugar Regme

28 Borrowings

Non-current borrowings

31 March
2010 2009
£m £m

Unsecured borrowings .
2,394 000 6 5% cumulative preferance shares of £1 each (2009 - £2,394,000) (note a) 2. 2
fndustrial Revenue Bonds 2016-2036 (US$92,000,000) 61! 64
6 125% Guaranteed Notes 2011 {US$300,000,000) 200 : 214
6 5% Guaranteed Notes 2012 (£100,000,000) {(note b) 106 ; 215
5 0% Guaranteed Notes 2014 (U$3$500,000,000} 346 : 365
6 625% Guaranteed Notes 2016 ((JS$250,000,000) 176 189
6 75% Guaranteed Notes 2013 (£200 000,000} 200 ¢ -
1091 ! 1050

Bank loans !
Variable unsecured oans (US$) 8, 7
vanable unsecured loans (euro) - 47
6: 54

Other borrowings
Obhgations under finance leases 22 . 25
22, 25
Total non-current borrowings 1119 ¢ 1129

{a} On a return of capital on a winding-up., the holders of 6 5% cumulative preference shares shall be entitled to £1 per share, n preference to all
other classes of shareholders Holders of these shares are entitted to vote at meetings, except on the following matiers any question as to
the disposal of the surplus profits after the dvidend on these shares has been provided for the election of directors thew remuneration, any
agreement between the directors and the Company, or the alteration of the Ariicles of Associafion deakng with any such matters

{b} During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group redeemed 100 millon of the & 5% Guaranteed Notes matunng in June 2012
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28 Borrowings {continued)
Current borrowings |

31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Unsecured bank overdrafts 23 | 23
Drawdown of committed facilities 139 257
Recewables securitisation - [1:]
Short-term unsecured loans ' 25 | 141
Current portion of non-current borrowings - 1
Obligations under finance leases 3. 3
Total current borrowings 190 ! 523
Secured borrowings
Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the nghts to the leased assel revert 10 the lessor n the event of delault
Other secured borrowings are secured on recavables and inventones ‘
|
Fair values
The tar values of the Group's borrowings compared with ther book values are as follows
\ 31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Book value Farr value Book value Farr value
£m £m £m £m
Unsecured borrowings 1091 1090 1050 1127
Non-current bank loans [6 . 6 54 ! 54
Other non-current borrowings 22 22 25, 25
Other current borrowings 190 | 190 523 . 523
Total 1309 | 1308 1652 ; 1729

The far value of barrowings has been determined using erther quoted market prces, broker delaler quotations or discounted cash flow analysis

Interest rate nsks and matunty of borrowings |
The matuniy profile of the Group s non-current borrowings 1s as follows i

31 March

! 2010 2009

£m £m

Cne to two years 203 49

Two to five years . 470 | 446

AfRter five years ! 446 634

Total non-current borrowings 1119 | 1129
Floating rate borrowings bear interest based on relevant national LIBOR squivalents If the interest rates applicable to the Group's floating rate

debt nse from the levels at 31 March 2010 by an average of 1% over the year to 31 March 2011, this would reduce Group proht belore tax by
approximatety £1 milion (2009 - €4 milion}

Previously, as part of its interest rate management strategy, the Group had entered into interest rate caps At 31 March 2009, the notional principal
amount of these caps was £108 milhon, capping interest rates at 4% These caps matured duning the year ended 31 March 2010
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28 Borrowings (continued)

Taking into account the Group's interest rate swap and cap contracts, the effective interest rates of ds horrowings are as follows

31 March

. 2010 2009

2,394,000 6 5% cumulative preference shares of £1 each 65% | 65%
Industnal Revenue Bonds 2016-2036 (US$92,000,000) 08% "' 08%
6 125% Guaranteed Notes 2011 (US$300,000,000) 54% , 50%
6 5% Guaranteed Notes 2012 (£100,000,000) 49% 42%
5 0% Guaranteed Notes 2014 (US$500,000,000) 50% | 49%
6 625% Guaranteed Notes 2016 (U5$250,000,000) 59% ! 60%
6 75% Guaranteed Notes 2019 (£200,000,000) 4 5% ra

Short-term loans and overdrafts
Current short-term loans mature within the next 12 months and overgdrafis are repayable on demand Both short-term loans and bank overdrafts
are arranged at floating rates of interest and expose the Group to cash fiow interest rate risk

Credit facilities and arrangements

The Group has an undrawn committed multi-currency facility of £515 mifion (2009 - £524 mithon), which matures in October 2012 This facility
Incurs commitment fees al market rates prevaling when the faciity was arranged The facility may only be withdrawn in the event of specified
events of default In addimon the Group has substantial uncommitted facilities

Finance lease commitments
Amounts payable under finance lease commutments are as follows

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Present value of Present value of
Mintmum lease  minimum lease Mimmum tease minmum lease
payments payments payments payments
£m £m m £m
Within one year 5, 3 5 3
Between one and five years 20 ; 17 21 4 17
After five years 7 5 12 . 8
3z 25 38 : 28
r—— romrernr—————
Less future finance charges i (10)
Present value of minimum lease payments 25 ¢ 28 :

Finance lease agreements allow for renewal at the end of the onginal ten-year Icase term at the option of the Group

29 Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s calculated n full on tempoerary differences using tax rates applicable in the jursdictions where such differences anse Movements in
deferred income tax net labxlites/(assets) in the year are as follows

Deferred tax &m
At 1 April 2008 106
Credited to income {39)
Credited to statement of comprehensive income {40)
Charged drrectly to equity 4
Exchange differences 17
At 31 March 2009 48
Credited to income (108}
Credited to statement of comprehensive income (25}
Credited directly to equity (1}
Exchange differences 2
At 31 March 2010 (84)

Of the amounts of deferred tax credited 10 Income and equity, £0 3 miflion {2009 - £1 milkon) anses from changes in tax rates There was no impact
from the iImposiion of new taxes

Deferred tax assets in respect of unutilsed tax losses of £371 millon (2009 - £293 million) have not been recognised to the extent that they exceed
taxable profits against which these assets may be recovered No unrelieved tax losses expired under current tax legisiation in the year ended
31 March 2010

The total deferred tax on unremitted eamings i1s £3 3 mition of which £0 6 milion has been recognised The Group has not recognised the
remaining ameount as it 15 able to control the iming of the reversal of these temporary differences and it 1s probabie that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable fulure

The aggregate amount of temporary differences ansing from unremitted profits at the balance sheet date was approximately £2 7 milion
(2009 - £1 1 bifion) The reduction i temporary differences was due to the mtroduction of the UK dividend exemption regime on 1 July 2009
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29 Deferred tax (continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and habiiies duning the penod are as follows

Capitat

allowances in

excess of
depreciation Cther Total
Deferred tax habilities £m £m £m
At 1 Apn 2008 126 47 | 173
Transfers between categories {21) (3) (24)
{Crednted)/charged to Income (32! 1. (31)
Exchange differences 29 - 9! 38
At 31 March 2009 102 ! 54 | 156
Transfers between categories - @ @
Credited to income B4), (25) (118}
Exchange differences {1}, 4, {5}
At 31 March 2010 7 23 | a0

Retrement

benefit Share based Tax
abhgations payments losses Other Total
Deferred tax assets £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2008 35 1 4 2] 26 . 67
Transfers between categories @) - (2) (20) ¢ (24)
{Charged)/credited to income 4): 2 - 10 8
Credited to statement of comprehensive income 31 - - g a0
Charged to equity - (LY - - (4}
Exchange differences 21 - - - - 21
At 31 March 2009 81 : 2 - 25 108
Transters between categories - - - @, {(2)
(Charged)/credited to income (10}: 1 4] (4. n
Credited to statement of comprehensive income 29 | -t - {4} 25
Credited to equity - L - - 1
Exchange differences {6 -, - ) )
At 31 March 2010 94 | 2 4 14 | 114

Deferred tax assels and labidies are offset where there 1s a legally enforceable nght of offset and there 15 an intention to sette the balances net

As a result of these offsets the deferrad tax balances are presented in the statement of inancial position as follows

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Deterred tax labiiities 59 ! 78
Deferred tax assets (143) ' (30)
Total (84} | 48
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30 Retirement benehit obligations

(a) Plan information

The Group mantains pension plans for its operations throughout the word Some of these arrangements are defined benefit pension
schemes with retiremeni, disability death and terminaton income benefits The ratirement income benefits are generally a function of
years of employment and final satary

The prncipal schemes are funded and therr assets held n separate trustee-admiristered funds The schemes are funded in line with local
practice and contnbutions are assessed n accordance with local ndependent actuanal advice The schemes operated by the Group are subject
10 independent actuanal valuation at regular intervals using consistent assumptions appropnate to conditions prevading in the relevant country
The most recent actuaral valuations of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligahons were carried out as at 31 March 2007
by iIndependent actuanes

The Group also maintains deflined contnbution pension schemes and some fully insured pension schemeas

On 1 Apnl 2002, the man United Kingdom scheme was closed to new members A defined contribution pension scheme has been established
to provide pension benefits to new United Kingdom employees Under the projected urit method, the service cost of the closed scheme will
Increase as the members approach retrement

Duning the year, the Group Initiated a consultation pracess an the proposal that the main United Kingdom pension scheme be closed to future
accrual from 6 Aprit 2011 At the same time, the decision that the Group woutd no longer fund eany retirements was communicated to members
The proposal to close to future accrual was confirmed by the Group on 31 March 2010 These changes give nse to exceptional items in the
Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2010 (Note 7)

The Group's subsidiaries in the USA provide unfunded retirement medical and hfe assurance bengfits o ther employees
The Group expects to contnbute approximately £38 milion to its defined benefit plans in the year to 31 March 2011

{b) Principal assumptions
The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the acluanal valuations were as follows

Penslon benetfits

Medical

Year to 31 March 2010 UK us Others benelits
Inflation rate I7% 25% 20% 25%
Expected rate of salary increases 45% ' 35% | 20% n/a
Expected rate of pension increases 35% | na | 18% n/a
Discount rate 55% : 57% | 4 8% 56%
Expected return on plan assets (total) 59% 75% 6 3% nfa
Expected equity return on plan assets 81% . 84% 75% n/a
Pansion benefits Medical

Year to 31 March 2009 UK us Otners benglits
Inflation rate 27% ° 25% | 2 0% 25%
Expected rate of salary increases 35% ; 35% ¢ 2 0% na
Expected rate of pension increases 27% & na : 10% n/a
Discount rate 69% . 73% ¢ 63% T1%
Expected return on plan assets (fotal} 66% ! 79% : 59% n/a
Expected equity return on plan asssts 85% ! 88% : 70% n‘a
Expected longevity post age 65

Mortality assumptions - Year to 31 March 2010 UK us
Male aged 65 now 21years , 19 years
Male aged 65 1n 20 years' time 24 years ; 19 years
Female aged 65 now 22 yoars 21 years
Female aged 65 1n 20 years' time 24 years ; 21 years
Expected longevity post age 60

Mortality assumptions - Year to 31 March 2009 UK us
Male aged 60 now 26 years ! 23 years
Male aged 60 in 15 years' time 28 years | 23 years
Femala aged 60 now 27 years 25 years
Female aged 60n 15 years' time 29 years ; 25 years

The expected retrement age assumption has been changed to 65 due to the removal of the ciscretionary early retirement terms as descnbed
In {a) above

Shorter longewity assurmptions are used for members who retire on grounds of ill-heaith

The expected rates of return on indwidual categones of ptan assets are estimated by reference to indices published by the relevant exchanges
The overall expected rate of return s calcutated by weighting the indvidual rates 1in accordance with the anticipated balance in the plans
nvestment portfolio The actual rate of return on the plan assels for the year was postive 26 5% (2009 ~ negative 15 4%), and amounted to

a gan of £258 mullion (2000 - €171 mithon loss}
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30 Retirement benefit obligations {continued}

Medical cost trend rates are estimated at 10% per annum {2009 - between 8 5%-10 5%}, grading down o 5% by 2020 | medical cost trend rates
were {0 Increasa or decrease by 1%, the effects are estimated as follows

31 March 2010 31 March 2008
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
£m £m £m £m
Increase/{decrease) in medical benefits current service ) :
and interest cost 1 (1) 1 (m
Increase/(decreasa) in medical benefits obhgation 8 {7 7. (6)
{c} Amounts recognised in the iIncome statement
Pansion benefits Madicnal
UK us Others Total benefits Total
Year to 31 March 2010 £m fm £m £m £m £m
Current service cost : ' ' '
charged to operating profit 3 5 1" 8 2, "
Exceptional tems (Note 7} i , : '
- negative past service cost {32) - -, (32) - (32)
- curtaiiment benefit 1. - - {10} -1 {10}
Total {credrted)i‘charged to operating profit @9)! 5! 1 (39) 2 {31)
Interest cost 45 i 22 ! 21 70 6 - 76
Expected return on plan assets {42) {13} {2} {57) - 57
Charged to finance expense 4 9! - 13 6 19
Total (35) i 14, 1, (20) 8 ! (12)
Pension benehts Medical
UK us Others Total benefits Total
Year to 31 March 2009 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Current service cost . ' :
charged to operating profit s 6 1. 12 2 14
tnterest cost 52 ' 20 2, 74 5 79
Expected return on plan assetls (55) , (19} . (2) ) {76) - {76)
{Credited)/charged to fmance expense (3) 1 - @ 5 3
Total 2 7 1 10 7 17

Curreni service costs are presenied in staft costs {Note 9) expected return on plan assels and interest cost are presented n net inance

expense (Note 10}

(d} Amounts recognised In the statement of financial position

Pansion benelits

UK us Others Total
% of % of % of % of Medical
plan plan plan plan benefits Total
At 31 March 2010 assots £m  assets €m  sssets £m  sssets £m £m £m
Farr value of plan assets !
Equities 29% 249 54% 1N 32% 16 34% | 396 - ‘ 296
Bonds 34% 301 28% | 72 a44% ! 22 34% 395 - 395
Property and other 37% 327 17% | 42 24% ° 12 32% | 381 -, 381
ioerr | 245 50 P72 -1 112
Present value of funded obligations * {872) | {357) (57 T (1286} - i (1286)
Present value of unfunded obligations - ; 42} - 42)] (101! (149
Net asset/{iability) recogmsed in the ! : . : .
statement of financial position ! 5 Yo [154) i {7 Po(1s6)[ {100)¢  (257)
Disclosed i the statement ; : :
of financial position as . , . :
Retirement benefit surplus . 15 ; - . 1 : 16 - 16
Retirement benefit obligations ; {10 fo(159) ! 8) . (172 (101}, (273)
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30 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Pansion benefits

UK us Others Total
% ot % of % of % of Medical
plan plan plan plan benehits Total

At 31 March 2009 assets £m assets tm assels tm assets £m £m £m
Fair valua of plan assets : , :

Equities 25% 185 a9% 96 27% 12 30% . 293 - 293

Bonds 36% . 267 34% | 68 42% ! 19 36% 354 - 354

Property and other 39% ° 280 17% 34 31% 14 34% ¢ 328 -, 328

Po732 198 toas ;915 -t 975

Present vatue of funded obligations v (687) i (318) i (50 v {1055) - i {1055)
Fresent vaiue of unfunded obligations i - X (37) : - 1 @n @4yi  (131)
Net asset/(llability) recognised in the ! !

statement of financial position . 45 i (157) (5) L (1Y) G4 211)
Disciosed in the statement of financiat : '

position as ! . . ; !

Retirement benefit surplus ) 45 : - 2 ¥4 -t a7

Retirement benefit obligations : - ¢ {157) : [t4] ¢o(164) (94), (258)
The plan assets do not iInclude any of the Group s financial iNstruments nor any property occupied by, or other assets used by the Group
e) Reconciliation of movement in plan assets and habilitres

Pension benehts Medical
UK us Qthers Total benefits Total
Liabilities £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2008 810 : 273 45 ‘ 1128 75 1203
Total service cost §' 6 - 1° 12 24 14
Interast cost 52 20 : 2} 74 5. 79
Actuarial gain (136) ¢ @7, {4) {167) {9 (176)
Benefits paid @7}, (19) i {1} 1 (67} 5): {72)
Exchange differences 3 102 | 7. 112 26 . 138
AL 31 March 2009 687 355 | 50 | 1002 94 ! 1186
Total service cost 3, 51 1] 9 2. 11
Negative past service cost (32) - - (32) - (32)
Curtallment benefits (10}, - - (10} - (10)
Interest cost 46 22 2] 70 6, 76
Actuaral loss 229 55 ! 8. 292 13" 305
Benefits paid 51). 22) - 2 7s) (5}, fi:lo))
Exchange differences - (16) {2 ! (18) 9 &N
At 31 March 2010 872 399 57 , 1328 101 ° 1429
Pension benefits Medical
UK us Others Total benefits Total

Assets £m tm em £m £m £m
At 1 April 2008 859 208 ' a4 1112 - 1112
Expected return on assets 55 ¢ 19 ! 2 : 76 e 76
Actuarial ioss (148) (89} , {10} ; (247) - (247)
Contributions paid by emplayer 12, 11 3. 26 5 a1
Benefits pad @ny (19}, (1) (67} &)’ (72}
Exchange differences il 67 . 75 - 75
At 31 March 2009 732 198 ¢ 45 975 - 975
Expected return on assets 42 13 . 2 57 - 57
Actuanal gamn 141 55 i 5 201 =i 201
Contributions paid by employer 13 12 2 27 S 3z
Benefits paid 51)! (22), 2) 75} 5, (80}
Exchange differences - . {11): {2} (13) — (13)
At 31 March 2010 877 - 245 | 50 | 1172 - 1172
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30 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

() Analysis of actuarial losses/(gans) recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income

31 March
2010 2009
£m £€m
Difference between the actual return and the expected return on plan assets {201) 247
Experience gains ansing on scheme liabilties - (18)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme labilities 305 : (158)
Actuanal josses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income 104 ! 71
Cumulative actuarial loss recognised 1n the consolidated staterment of comprehensive income 159 88 ]
Deferred tax taken diraclly to equiy on retirement benefit obligations was £29 mition credit to equity (2009 - £31 million credit to eguity)
{(g) History of the plans and experience adjustments
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
fm £m e€m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit abligation i ' '
and medical benefits 1429 ¢ 1186 1203 ¢ 1317 1351
Fair value of ptan assets {1172 975) (1112} {1188} | (1179
Net deficit 257 | 211 | 91 129 172
Experence adjustments an plan izbilties : ! ! i
- (gan)/ioss - (18) 9, 25 ! 7
Expenence adjustments on plan assets ; : . :
- {ganyloss {201}’ 247 ' 69 i 3 {108)
All expenence adjustrents are recognised directly n equity, net of related tax (see the consolidated statement of comprehensive income)
31 Prowisions for other habihbes and charges
Restructuring
Insurance Deterred and closure Other
funds consideration provisions provisions Tortal
em £m £m fm £m
At 1 April 2008 10 | 10 | 32 . 16 ; 68
Charged/(credited) to the income statement 4 (2! - ), 1
Utlised 1n the year 4): 8! @7, (5} (44)
Exchange and other movements 2, - 2 3. 7
At 31 March 2009 12, - 7 13 . 32
Charged to the ncome statement 31! - 56 | -1 59
Utilssed in the year @ - (21} 1), {24)
Exchange and other movements 1 - - ) 4)
At 31 March 2010 12 ; - 42! 9 63
31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Provisions are expected to be utiised as follows .
within one year 26 | i1
After more than one year 37 X 21
Total 63 | a3z

Insurance funds represent amounts provided by the Group's captive insurance subsidiary + respect of the expected lavel of msurance clams

These provisions are expected to be utiised within hive years

The deferred consideration provision related to the deferred payments ansing until the year ended 31 March 2009 from the sucralose realignment in
2004 Payments were made to McNei based on the achievement of certain minimum targets in respect of sales of sucralose made by the Group
The Group continues to recerve amounts from McNei based on sales of sucralose tabletop products made by McNeil for ten years from the date of
the realignment These receipts were shown up to 31 March 2006 as a deduction from goodwill Since the elmination of goodwill the receipts are
recognised 0 the income statement and only in the penods in which they are earned There were no receipts recegnised in the Income statement

during the year (2009 - £9 mulion)
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31 Provisions for other liabilities and charges (continued)

Restructuring and closure provisions pnmarly relate to businesses and plants which have been closed and Lo a reorganisation as a result of the
disposal of the five starch plants in Europe It 1s expected that the provisions will be fully utdised within the next three years The amount charged 1o
the Income statement includes £55 million in relation o the decision 1o mathball the sucralose manufacturing facity in Mcintosh, Alabama

There was no charge 1o the income statement in refation to the unwinding of discounts (2009 — £1 million}

32 Change in working capital

31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Decrease n inventories 113 ¢ 113
Decrease in receivables 126 47
Increase/(decrease) in payables 84 84)
Decrease in dernvative financial nstruments {excluding debt-related dervatives) 8 3]
Decrease in provisions for other habilies and charges (19) ¢ (34)
Decrease (n retirement benefit abligations {21) . 7)
Decrease in working capital {continuing operations) 291 ' 31
Excluded from the movement in retirement benefit obligations 15 an actuanal loss of £104 mdion (2009 ~ £7 1 million)
33 Cash and cash equivalerts
31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Cash at bank and i hand 142 102
Short-term bank deposits 362 332
Total 504 | 434
The effective interest rate an shorl-term deposits was 0 4% (2009 - 3 0%), with an average matunty of 6 days (2009 - 24 days)
The carrying ameunt of ¢ash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies
31 March
2010 2009
£m f£m
Euro 136 161
US dollar 322 235
Sterling 2, 4
QOther 4 - 34
Total 504 | 434
34 Net debt
The componenis of the Group § net debt are as follows
31 March
2010 2009
Notes £m £m
Non-current borrowings 28 (1119} {1129}
Current borrowings and overdrafts (note a) 28 {190) {523)
Debt-related dervative instruments {note b) 20 9 {13}
Cash and cash equivalents 33 504 434
Net debt 814)! {1231)

(a) Current barrowings and overdrafts at 31 March 2010 does not Include any amounts (2009 - £98 millor) In respect of secuntised recevables

{b) Denvative financial nstruments presented within assets and fabilties n the statement of financiat posibon of £7 milhon net asset comprnse
net debi-related nstruments of £9 milkon lability and net non-debt-related instruments of £16 million asset {2009 - £83 milkon net kability
compnsing net debt-related instruments of £13 milion habsity and net non-debt-refated instruments of €80 mullion hability)
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34 Net debt (continued}
Net debt 15 denominated in the fcllowing currencies

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Euro (161) : {250)

US doliar (620) ¢ {947)

Sterting {60} (38)

Other 27 | 4

Total (@14 | {1 231)
Maovements in the Group s net debt are as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

At 1 Apnil {1231) (1 041)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 80 229

Cash outflow from net decrease in borrowings 267 16

Debt transterred on disposal of subsidianes - 8

nception of finance leases - (1)

Trade finance recognised as debt {16) | (55)

Farr value and other movements 7 9)

Exchange differences 79 (378)

Decrease/(increase} in net debt in the year M7, (t90)

At 31 March (814)° {1 231)

35 Cantingent habulities

31 March

2010 2009

€m £m

Guarantees of loans and overdrafts of joint ventures and associates - 9

Trade guarantees 13 22

In addition to the above we have guaranteed the obligations of certain subsidianes and jont ventures to Payment Agencies in connection with

Restructunng Aid The Group's share of these guarantees 1s ©6 mulion (2009 - £66 mllion)

Other trade guarantees have been given in the normal course of business by the Group at both 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2008 These are

excluded from the figures given above and are in respect of Revenue and Customs and the Rural Payments Agency for Agnculiural Produce bonds,

ECGD recourse agreements, letters of credit and tender and performance bonds

The Group 1s subject to claims and libgation generally ansing n the ordinary course of its business, some of which are for substantial amounits
All such actions are strenuously defended but provision 1s made for labiiities that are considered likely to anse on the basis of current informat:on

and legal advice and after taking into account the Group's insurance arrangements

While there i1s always uncertainty as 1o the outcome of any claim or ktigation, # 1s not expected that claims and iiligation existing at the balance

sheet date will have a matenal adverse effect on the Group's financial position

36 Commitments

Capital commitments

31 March

2010 2009

fm £m

Commitments for the acguisition of property, plant and equipment 8 : 29

Operating lease arrangements

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its land  buldings plant and equipment Certain operating lease

agreements allow for renewal at the end of the onginai term at the option of the Group

At the balance sheet date the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancelable operating leases which fall due as follows

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Within one year a1, 34
Later than one year and no later than five years 84 i 105
After five years 80 ! %
Total 195 | 237
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37 Acquisitions and disposals

Acquisthions

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group acquired 80% of the 1ssued share capiial of G C Hahn & Co [Hahn) from Georg Hahn Familien
GmbH (the Hahn Family) As the Group effectively bears all the nsks and rewards for 100% of this business, no minarity interest I1s recognised in
the Group's financial statements

The acquisition agreement allowed for the Group to acgurre the remamning 20% of the 1ssued share capital of Hahn prior to 1 January 2020
through put and call options Qurng the year to 31 March 2010 a put option was exercised for 75% of the remaining 20% for a total consideration
of £21 milion which was paid by the Group on 31 March 2010 The Group can acguire the remaining 5% of the issued share capital of Hahn
prior to 1 January 2020 through put and call optiens At 31 March 2010 deferred consideration of £7 millicn s recognised in trade and other
payables (Note 27)

In the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group pad £1 millien of defered consideration relating to the acquisition of Tate & Lyle South Africa in
the year ended 31 March 2005 The payment represented an adjustment to the purchase price and was recognised as an addition ta goodwill
n the year

Disposals

International Sugar Trading
In the year 1o 31 March 2008, the Group disposed of its international Sugar Trading business 1o Bunge Limited (Bunge) for total censideration,
net of cisposal costs of £57 milkon Following agreement of completion adjustments  the Group repaid £26 mililon to Bunge dunng the year to

31 March 2010 A summary of the disposal 1s provided below
Year to 31 March

2010 2009

£m tm

Total consideration, net of costs {26) 57

Net assets disposed -, {14)

Trade and other payables repaid/(assumed} 26 {43)

Cther tems, including nsk transfer payments and farr value adjustments ~ 1 22)

Loss on disposal - 22)
Cash flows ;

Cash consideration, net of costs (26) 57

Cash (used in)/generated from disposals (26) 57

A number of minonty interests relating to the nternational Sugar Trading business were not ncluded n the Inhial sale and are being addressed
separately in accordance with the relevant shareholders’ agreements The Group anticipates complation of disposal of these mincnty Interests,
Inthe year to 31 March 2011 These mincnty interests are classified as current assets held for sale in the statement of financial position and are
stated at £18 milton as at 31 March 2010 (2009 — £28 million)

Other Disposals

In the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group disposed of its shareholding in Orsan UK Ltd, the holding company of its Chinese monosodium
glutamate business Tofal consideration net of provisioning and disposal costs was £1 miion and the profit on disposal was £2 millon The cash
impact of the disposat was an outflow of £4 milhon
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38 Post balance sheet events

As a result of the dacision being made to mothball the Fort Dodge plant a further exceptional charge of appreomately £25 miion will be
recognised during the 2011 financial year in respect of anerous contracts refating to the facility

39 Related party disclosures

Identity of related parties

The Group has related party refatonships with its subsidianes joint ventures and associates the Group's pension schemes and with key
management being its directors and executive officers No refated party relationships with close family members of the Group’s key managernent
existed in the current or comparative year

Subsidianes, joint ventures and assoc:ates

Transactions entered into by the Company with subsidianes and between subsidiaries as well as the resultant balances of recevables and payables
are eliminated on consolidation and are not required to be disclosed Similarly, the Group's share of trangactons entered inte by the Company and
its subsidianes with joint ventures and between joint ventures as well as the Group s share of the resuttant balances of recevables and payables are
elminated on consolidation Transactions and balances with jont ventures (pefore consolidaton glminations} and with associates are as {ollows

31 March

2010 2009

Continuing m £m
Sales of goods and services H

- to joint ventures 86 ' 61
Purchases of goods and services

- from joint ventures 174 209
Receivables

- due from joint ventures 18 | 14
Payables

- due to joint ventures 8. 26
Financing H

- loans to joint ventures 10 ¢ 10

- deposits from joint ventures 3 42

31 March

2010 2009

Discontinued Em £m

Financing
— deposits from joint ventures - 53

The Group had no matenat related party transactions containing unusual commerctal terms

Key management
Key management compensation 1s disclosed in Note ©
40 Forewgn exchange rates

The following exchange rates have been applied n the translation of the inancial siatements of foreign subsidianes, joint ventures and assocates
Year to 31 March

2010 2009

Average foreign exchange rates !
£1=US$ 161 80
£1=€ 113 1 119
31 March
2010 2009

Year end foreign exchange rates
£1=US$ 152 143
E1=¢€ 112 | 108
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41 Main subsichanes and investments

Subsidiaries based in the United Kingdom®

G C Hahn & Co uimited?

Molasses Trading Company Limited

Tate & Lyle Holdings Limited?
Tate & Lyle Industnes Limited

Tate & Lyle International Finance PLG?

Tate & Lyle Investments Limited®

Tate & Lyle Investments (Gulf States) Limited

Tate & Lyle LLC
United Molasses (Ireland) Limited*

Percentage

of equity

attnbutable 1o

Type of business Tate & Lyle PLC
Blending 100
Holding company 100
Holding company 100
See below 100
In-house treasury company 100
Holding company 100
Holding company 100
Holding company 100
Molasses 50

1 Registered 1 England and Wales except Unitad Molasses (retand) Lamited which 1s regstered n Northera lreland and Tate & Lyle LLC which 1s registered ¢ Delaware USA
2 Tne Group hokis 95% of the issued capsial of Hahn and has the nght 1o acqurre the remaining 5% through put and cal optrons However due {0 tha structure of tha acquisition
agreament the Group effactively bears al the nsis and rewards for 100% of the business and therefore na menorty INterest 1 1ecognised

3 Dwect subsidhanes of Tate & Lyle PLC
4 Non cotermunowss year end

Main operating units of Tate & Lyte Industries Limited

Type of busmness

Tate & Lyle Sugars , Europe
Tate & Lyle Molasses and Storage

Sugar refining
Molasses and bulk iquid storage

Subsidianes operating overseas

Country of Incorporation or regsstration

Company

Percentage
of equity
attriputable to

Typa of busness Tate & Lyle PLC

Argentina
Australia
Belgium

Bermuda

Brazii

British Virgin Islands
Chite

China
France

Germany

Gibraltar
Hong Kong
Italy

Israel

Mauntus
Mexico

Morocco
Mozambique
Netherlands

Norway
Portugal

Singapore
South Africa
Spain
Trinidad

Tate & Lyle Argentina SA

G C Hahn & Co (Australia) Pty L1d ?

Tate & Lyle ANZ Pty

Tate & Lyle Molasses Belgium NV

Tate & Lyle Services Belgium NV

Tate & Lyle Management & Finance Limited
Tate & Lyle Brasd do SA?

Anglo Vietnam Sugar Investments Limited
Tate & Lyle Chile Commercial Lida

Tate & Lyle Trading (Shanghay) Lirnited
France Melasse SA'

Socigté Européenne des Mélasses SA’
Tate & Lyle Molasses Germany GmbH

G C Hahn & Co Stabtisierungstechnik GmbH?
Cesalpima Germany GmbH

Tate & Ly'e Insurance (Gilbraltar) Limited
Tate & Lyle Asia Limited

Tate & Lyle Motasses Htaly SrL

Tate & Lyle ltalia Spa

Tate & Lyle Gadot Manufactunng

Tate & Lyle {srael Limited

The Maurntius Molasses Company Limited
Continental Colloids Mexicana SA
Mexama SA de CV

Tate & Lyle Mexico SA de CV

Tate & Lyla Morocco SA

Companhia Exportadora de Melagos
Tate & Lyle Biomatenals BV

Tate & Lyle Molasses Holland BV

Tate & Lyle Holland BV

Tate & Lyle Netherlands BV

Nederlandse Glucosse Industrne BV

Tate & Lyle Norge A/S

AlcAntara Empreendimentos SGPS, SA!
Tate & Lyle Agucares Portugal, SA*

Tate & Lyle Molasses Portugal Ltda

Tate & Lyle Singapore Pte Ltd

Tate & Lyle South Africa {Pty) Limited
Tate & Lyle Mclasses Spain SA
Caribbean Bulk Storage and

Trading Cormpany Limited!

Cereal sweeteners & starches,

Sucralose distripution 100
Blending 100
Sucralose distribution 100
Molasses 100
Holding company 100
Management & finance 100
Citric acld, Sucralose distnbution 100
Holding company 75
Cereal sweeteners & starches,

Sucralose distnbution 100
Sucralose distribution 100
Molasses 666
Helding company 666
Molasses 100
Blending 100
Blendlng 100
Reinsurance 100
Sucralose distribution 100
Molasses -
Blending 100
Sugar refining 65
Sugar trading 100
Molasses 667
Blending 100
Citric acid 65
Holding company 100
Cereal sweeteners & starches 100
Molasses 100
Bio-development 100
Molasses 100
Holding company 100
Cereal sweetners & starches,

Sucralose distnbution 100
Holding company 100
Sugar distribution 100
Holding company 100
Sugar refining 100
Molasses 100
High Intensity sweeteners 100
Blending 100
Muolasses 100
Molasses 100
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Notes to ihe conschidated financial statements

41 Man subsidianes and investments {contmued)

Subsidiaries operating overseas (continued) Percentage
of equity

attnbutable to

Country of INCOrporation or registration Company Type of business Tate & Lyle PLC
USA Staley Holdings Inc Holding company 100
Tate & Lyle Custom Ingredients LLC Blending 100

Tate & Lyle Finance In¢ tn-house banking 100

TLHUS, Inc Holding company 100

Tate & Ly'e Ingredients Americas Inc Cereal sweeteners & starches 100

Tate & Lyle Sucralose Inc High intensity sweeteners 100

Tul Holding In¢ in-house banking 100

Vietnam Nghe An Tate & Lyle Sugar Company Limited Cane sugar manufacture (809 607

1 Non coterminous year end

2 The Group holds 95% of the 1ssued captal of Hann and has the right to acquire the remamning 5% through put and ¢all aptions However dua to the structure of the acquisition
agreement the Group effectively bears all the rishs and rewards for 100% of the business and tharefore no minanty interest 1s recogrised

Joint ventures Percentage
of equity
attnibutable te
Country of incorporation or registration Company Type of business Tate & Lyle PLC
Buigana Amylum Bulgaria EAD'? Cereal sweeteners & starches  (100) 50
Columbia Sucrormiles SA? Citric acid 50
Hungary Hungrana Kft'2 Cereal sweeteners & starches (50) 25
Ireland Premier Molasses Company Limited? Molasses 50
Mexico Almidones Mexicanos SA? Cereal sweeteners & starches 50
Netherlands Eaststarch CV Holding company 50
Slovakia Amylum Slovakia spol sro” Cereal sweeteners & starches  (100) 50
Spain Compania de Melazes SA? Molasses 50
Turkey Amylum Nisasta AS' Cereal sweeteners & starches  (100) 50
USA DuPont Tate & Lyle Bio Products Company LLC Industnal ingredients 50
1 Share capial hekd by Eaststarch CV
2 Non cotermingus year end
Associates Percentage
of equity
attributable to
Country of incorporation or registration Company Type of business Tate & Lyle PLC
Italy Endania Tate & Lyle Spa Sugars 35
Philippines Tate & Lyle Philippine Inc Molasses 40
Thailand Tapioca Development Corperation Starch praduction 333

1 Non-cotsrminous year end

The proportion of shares held by Tate & Lyle PLC, 1is subsidianes, jont ventures and associates 1s shown in brackets where it 15 different from
the percentage of equiy attrbutable to Tate & Lyle PLC

Those entities which have non-coterminous year encs are consoldated in the Group accounts using management accounts for the penod

10 31 March
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42 Reconciiation to adjusted information

As explaned In Note 1 adjusted information 1s presented as it provides both management and investors with valuable additional information
on the performance of the busingss The following items are excluded from adjusted miormation

- discontinued operations,
- exceptional tems including profite/losses on disposals of businesses, imparrments, and closure and restructunng provisions and
- amorhisation of acquired intangibles

The following table shows the reconciialion of the statutory nformation presented in the income statement to the adjusted nformation

Year to 31 March 2010 Year to 31 March 2009
Exceptional/ Exceptional/

Reported amortisation Adjusted Reported amartisat:on Adpusted
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
Sales 3506 : -, 3 506 3553 - 35853
Operating profit 8 290 298 164 ! 134 | 208
Net finance expense 9 -, {69) BN, - (51}
(Loss)profit before tax (61) 200 229 113 134 247
Income tax credit/(expense) 84 . (131). {47) (19) 49} , (68}
Minonty interests (4) - 4) {5) ! - (5}

Profit attnbutable to equity ' '
holders of the Company 19 159 178 89 ! 8 174
Basic EPS (p) 42 349 39 1 195 | 187 ; 382
Diluted EPS (p) 42 ' A7 : 389 194 ! 186 380
Tax rate 137 7% | 20 4% 16 8% : : 27 3%

Discontinued operations :
Sales 101 - 101 852 ' - 8562
Operating (loss)/profit 2 - (2} (21) 22 1
Net finance expense @2 - 2 @ - 2)
Loss before tax 4, - (4 (23) 22 n
Income tax expense - - - M - 1
Minority interests - - - - - -

Loss attributable to equity . i
hotcers ot the Company 4 - (4 (24) » 22 . {2)
Basic EPS (p) {09 ' - 09 53) 491 04)
Diluted EPS {p) {0 9) - ©9) 53y 48 : (0 5)
Tax rate - : - {38)% | f (75 0)%

Total operations , ' '
Sales 3607 - 3607 4405 | - 4405
Operating profit 6| 290 ! 296 143 4 156 | 299
Net finance expense {71) - (71) {83} ! - (53}
{LossV/profit before tax {685) 290 225 90 ! 156 | 248
Income tax credit/{expense) 84 (131}, 47 (20) (49) « (69)
Minonty interests 4 - &) 5} - ®)

Profit attributable to equity ' : :
holders of the Company 15 ¢ 159 | 174 63 3 107 ¢ 172
Basic EPS (p) 33 349 | 382 142 ; 236 378
Diuted EPS {p) a3, 347 , 380 141 3 234 | 375
Tax rate 1282% | 20 9% 222% . ; 278%
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Tate & Lyle PLC:

Parent company financial statements

We have audited the Parent company financ:al statements of

Tate & Lyle PLC for the year ended 31 March 2010 which comprise
the Parent company balance sheet and the Notes to the Parent
company financial statements The financial reporting framework
that has been appled in their preparation s applicable law and
United Kingdom Acceunting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice}

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors statement of responsibiliies
set out on page 57 the directors are responsitle for the preparation of
the Parent company financial statements and for being satistied that
they give a true and fair view Qur responsibility 1s to audht the Parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us 1o comply with the Auditing Practicas Board's Ethical
Standards for Auditors

This report, Including the opinions  hias been prepared for and only
for the company's mempers as a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose
We do not, n giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other parson to whom this repart s
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent I writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 1o give reasonable
assurance thal the financial statements are free from matenal
misstalerment whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are apgroprate (o
the Parent company's cireumstances and have been consistently
appied and adequately disclosed, the reasgnablenass of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall
presentabion of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the Parent company financral statements

= gwe a true and far view of the state of the company s affairs
as at 31 March 2010,

= have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

s have been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006
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Opmion on other matters prescnibed by the
Companies Act 2006
in our opinton

m the pan of the directors’ remuneration report t¢ be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

s theinformation gven in the directors’ report for the financial year
for which the Parent company financial statements are prepared
1S consistent with the Parent company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of ihe following matters where
the Companies Act 2006 requires us 1o report to you If, 1n our opinion

a adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent |
company or returns adequate for our audit have not been
receved from branches not visited by us or
= the Parent company financial statements and the part of the
drectors’ remuneration report 1o be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns, or
s certan disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are
not made, or
s we have not receved all the miormation and explanations we
require for our audit

Other matter
ve reported separately on the Group financial statements of
ate & Oie PLC for the v ded 31 March 2010

Paul Cragg (Senior Statutory Aud
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

1 Embankment Place

London WC2N 6RH

26 May 2010

Note the maintenance and integnty of the Tate & Lyle PL.C website 1s the
rasponsibility of the directors, the work carmed out by the auditors does not
nvolve consideration of these matters and accordingly the audidors accept
no responsibility for any changes that may have oceurred 1o the financial
statemenis since they were nibially presented on the website




Parent company balance sheet

Year to 31 March

2010 2009
Notes £m tm
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 2 2 2
Investments 1n subsidiary undertakings 3 1416 | 1879
Investment 1n associates 4 q 1
1419 1882
Current assets
Debtors — dus within one year 5 399 53
Debtors — due after more than one year 5 L 3
400 | 56
Creditors - due within one year 6 {61} (135)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 339 ! 79
Total assets less current habilities 1758 : 1803
Creditors — due after more than one year 7 (490) ¢ (514}
Provisions for habilities and charges g {1 {3)
Total net assets 1267 | 1286
Capital and reserves .
Called up shara capital 12 116 115
Share premium account 13 405 | 404
Capital redemption reserve 13 8| 8
Profit and loss account 13 739 759
Shareholders’ funds 1267 ; 1286

The Parent company financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 26 May 2610 and signed on its behall by

Javed Ahmed, Tim Lodge Directors
Registereg no 76535

The notes on pages 112 to 117 form part of these Parant company financial statements
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements

1 Parent company accounting policies

Accounting basis

The Parent comgany financial stalements are prepared unger the
historical cost convention in accordance with the Companies Act
2006 and applicable UK accounting standards As permitted by
Section 408(2) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company s profit
and loss account and statemant of total recogrised gains and losses
are not presented In these financial statements The Tate & Lyie PLC
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2010 contain a consolidated stalement of cash flows Consequentty
the Company has taken the exemption avadabte n FRS1 (Rewised
1996) Cash fiow statements and has not presented its own cash
flow stalement

New UK standards and interpretations adopted

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations were
adopted by the Company in the year Adoption had no effect on the
resuits, inancidl position of the Company or its disclosures

- Amendment 10 FRSB Related Party Disclosures

- Amendment to FRS20 Share-based Payment - Vesting
condiions and cancellahons

- UITF Abstract 46 Hedges of a Nel investment ina
Foreign Operation

New UK standards and interpretations not adopted
The fallowing amendments 1o Financial Reporting Standards have
been issued but have not been adopted yet by the Company

- Amencdmenl to FRS25 Financral Instruments  Presentation —
Puttable financial instruments and obfigations ansing on liguidation

- Amendment to FRS26 Financial Instruments Recogrition and
Measurement - Eligible hedged ttems

- Improvements to Financral Reporiing Standards

- Amendments to FRS29 Financial Instruments Disclosures

- Amendment to FRS2C Share-based payment — Group cash-
settled share-based payment transactions

The amendments to FRS25 FRS26 and the improvements to
Financial Reporting Standards are effective for the Company m ds
accounting penod beginning on 1 Apnk 2010

The adoption of these amendments 1s not expected to have a matenal
impact on the Company’s profit tor the year or equity The adoptions
may affect disclosures in the Company's financial statements
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Tangible fixed assets

Depreciation 1s provided on a straight-line basis to wnite off the cost of
langible fixed assets over therr estimated useful lfe The tangible fixed
assels compnse plant and machinery and computer software which
are depreciated over a penod of 3 to 28 years impairment reviews are
undertaken if there are indications that the carrying values may not

be recoverable

Investments

Unless they are financed by foreign currency borrowings and
designated as a far value hedging relationship, invesiments in
subsidiaries and associates are shown at cost less amounts written
off where there 1s a permanent dirminution in value Investments in
shares n overseas undertakings that are financed by foregn currency
borrowings and desighated as a fav value hedging relationship are
retranslated into pounds stering at the exchange rate ruling at the
balance sheet date and the resuiting exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the profit and loss account Exchange gains and fosses
on the retated foreign currency borrowings are also recognised in

the profit and loss account In accordance with FRS23 The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

An undertaking 15 regarded as a subsidiary undertaking 1f the
Company has control over its operating and financial policies

An undertaking is regarded as an associate if the Company holds a
participating interest and has significant influence, but not control cver
s operating and financial palicies Significant influence generally exists
where the Company holds more than 20% and less than 50% of the
shareholders’ voting nghts

Alllcans and recevables to and from subsidiary undertakings are
shown at cost iess amounts wntien off where deemed unrecoverable

Leases ?
Qperating lease costs are charged to profit as incurred

Rasearch and development
All expenditure on research and development 1s charged to profit
as incurred




1 Parent company accounting policies (continued}

Retirement benefits

The Company contributes to the Group pension plan cperated

n the UK Detalls of the plan are included wathin Note 30 of the
Group financial statements As permitted under FRS17 Retirement
Benefits the plan 1s accounted for as a defined contrnbution plan as
the employer cannot identify 11s share of the underlying assets and
tiabibes of the plan The employer s contnbutions relate to the current
service penod only and are charged 1o the Income siatement as they
are ncurred

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s recognised on a full provision basis on timing
differences between the recognition of gains and losses in the
accounts and ther recognition for tax purposes that have ansen

but not reversed at the balance sheet date Deferred {ax is not
recognised on permanent differences or on timing differences ansing
on unremitted profits of overseas subsidianes Deferred tax assets are
recognised anly 1o the extent that it 15 considered more likely than not
that there will be suficient future taxable profits to permit tax relief of
the undertying tming differences

Foreign currencies

Assets and habiliies i foreign currencies are transtated into pounds
sterling at the rates of exchange ruling cn the last day of the financal
pencd {the closing rate) Profits and losses are translated info pounds
stering at the prevailing rate at the time of transaction and credited or
charged to the profit and loss account

Share-based compensation

The Company operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensaticr: plans Details of the plans are iIncluded within Note 26
of the Group financial statements The far value of employee services
recenved In exchange for the grant of the options 1S recognised as an
expense The total amount to be expensed over the vesting penod

1s determined by reference 10 the far value of the options granted,
excluding the impact of any non market vesting conditions (for
example, earnings targets) Non-market vesting condtions are
ncluded in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected 10 become exgrcisable Al each balance sheset date, for
options granted with non-market vesting conditions the Company
revises Its estimates of the number of options that are expected 10
become exercisable It recognises the impact of the revision of onginal
eshmates, if any, In the profit and oss account and a corresponding
adjusiment to equity The procesds recerved net of any directly
atinbutable transaction costs are credited to share capital and share
premium when the options are exercised

Dwvidend distnbution

Final dadend distrbutions 1o the Company s equity holders are
recognised as a hability in the Group s financial statements in the
penod n which the dwdends are approved by the Company's
shareholders while interm dwidend distributions are recognised in the
period in which the dwidends are declared and paxd Whaere a scnp
allernalive 15 offered and taken the distnbution is effected through an
1ssue of bonus shares from the share premium account

Share capital

Oradinary shares are classified as equiy Incremental costs directly
attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown In equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share
capital and holds that share etther directly as treasury shares or
ndirectly within an ESOP trust, the constderation pard, including

any directly atinbutabte ncremental costs (net of income taxes), 1s
deducted from equity attnbutable to the Company s squity holders
until the shares are cancelled, resssued or disposed of Whera such
shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received
net of any directly attributable incremenial iransaction costs and

the related income tax effects s inciuded in equity attnbutable 10
the Company's eguiy holders These shares are used to satisfy
share options granted to employees under the Group's share option
schemes The trustee purchases the Company's shares on the open
market using loans made by the Company or other loans guaranteed
by the Company
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Notes to e Parent company hinancial statements

2 Tangible fixed assets

The net book value of tangibie fixed assets of £2 milion (2009 - £2 mifion} comprises plant and machinery and computer software Net book value

compnses cost of £4 million (2009 - £4 millien) less accumulated depreciation of £2 milion (2009 - £2 md#ion)

3 Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Shares in Loans to
subsidiary subsidiary
ungertakings undertakings Total
£€m £m £m
At 1 Apri 2009 1635 244 ' 1879
Increase — share-based payments 2 - 2
Imparrment 3 - 3
Write-offs {196) ., (240) | (436)
Exchange differences 22) (! (26)
At 31 March 2010 1416 - 1418
Shares In subsidiary underiakings are stated at cost or eartest ascribed value less amounts provided of £149 milion {2009 - £149 million)
The imparrment reflects the wnte-down to recoverable amount of the Company’s nvestment in Tate & Lyle Ventures Ltd The write-offs have
ansen as a result of a rationalisation of the Group sutsidiary structure in the United Kingdom ang involved share reductions loan forgiveness
and liquidation and striking off of certain companies NG longer required  The gain ansing on this exercise of £25 milien has been treated
as non distnutable
4 Investment in associates
The Company holds a 16 8% nterest in Tapioca Development Corporation, & company incorporated in Thaland, for book valug of £1 milkon
(2009 - £1 mthen}
5 Debtors
31 March
2010 2008
£m £m
Due within one year i
UK taxation 16 | 7
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 377 38
Qther debtors 5 7
Prepayments and accruad income 1. 1
Total ago 53
31 March
2010 2008
Note £m £m
Due after more than one year ‘
Deferred tax 8 1, 3
Total 1] 3
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6 Creditors - due within one year

31 March

2010 2009

fm £m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 49 | 126
Qther creditors 4. 5
Accruals and deferred income 8 4
Total 61 ! 135

The effective interest rate appiicable 10 amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings at 31 March 201015 1 5% (2008 - 1 6%) Amounts owed 1o
subsidiary undertakings are repayable on demand

7 Creditors — due after more than one year

31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 488 | 912
Preference shares 2. 2
Total 490 | 514

The effective interest rate applicable to amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings at 31 March 2010 1s € 5% (2009 - 6 5%) Amounts owed to
subsidiary undertakings at year end mature after more than two years (2009 - mature after more than three years)

8 Deferred tax
Deferred tax charged to profit in the year was £2 million (2009 - £2 million)

9 Provisions for habihities and charges

Restructuring Other Totat

£m £m £m

At 31 March 2009 2 1 3
Utdised In the year m: n @
At 31 March 2010 1] - 1

Provisions pnmarily relate to restructunng as a result of the disposal of the five European starch plants and are expected to be utiised within the
next 12 months

10 Contingent habilities

31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Loans and overdrafts of subsidiarias, joint ventures and associates ’
and former subsidiaries guaranteed 1251 1407

Guarantees given in respect of drawn and undrawn loans and overdrafts by Tate & Lyle PLC were £2,661 milion at 31 March 2010
{2009 - 1.2 807 million}

Other trade guarantees have been given in the normal course of business by Tate & Lyle PLC at both 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009
These are excluded from the figures given above and are In respect of Revenue and Custorns and the Rural Payments Agency for Agncultural
Produce bonds, ECGD recourse agreements, letlers of credit, and tender and perfermance bonds
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Notes to e Aarent corrpany nanacizi statements

11 Finangiat commitments

Annual payments made by the Company i the year ended 31 March 2010 in respect of operating leases that expire iater than one year and
no later than five years were £3 milhon (2009 - £3 millon expining after more than five years)

12 Called up share capital
Authensed equity share capital

33 March

2010 2009

£m £m

790,424,000 ordinary shares of 25p each (2009 ~ 790,424,000} 198 - 198
Aliotted, called up and fully paid equity share capital

31 March 2050 3t March 2009

Shares £m Shares £m

At 1 Apnl 460 012 801 115 | 459 910 466 | 114

Allptted under share option schemes 48 287 . - 102 335 - 1

Scrip dividend shares 1ssued 514612 * - - -

At 31 March 460 575 700 115 | 460012801 | 115

Treasury shares and shares held in ESOP trust
As at 31 March 2010 the Group hetd 512,490 shares (2009 - 1 328 502 shares} in Treasury

Bunng the year 816,012 shares {2009 — 1,426 571 shares) were released from Treasury to satisfy share options exercised

The shares held in Treasury at 31 March 2010 represented Q 1% {2009 - 0 3%) of the share capital at the year end, and have a nominal value of
£0 1 million (2008 - £0 3 millon)

As at 31 March 2010, the Group held 3,141 100 shares {2008 - 1,840 BO1 shares) in an ESOP trust at a nominal value of 25p and a market value
of 454 2p (2009 - 260 5p)

13 Reconciiation of movements in shareholders’ funds

Share Capital
Ordinary premum reclemption Profit and

shares account reserve loss account Total

£m £m £m £m £m

At 1 Apn1 2008 115 ° 404 - 8. 758 ! 1286
Profit for the year - - - B3 | 83
Proceeds from shares issued - L - 14 2
Share purchase - - - 6) : {6)
Share-based payments - - - 5 5
Ordinary dividends paid -1 - - {105} | (10%)
Issue of shares for scrip dividend -3 - . 2 9
At 31 March 2010 115 | 405 8 739 | 1267

The profit for the year before dvidends deatt with in the financal statements of the Company amounted to £83 milon (2009 - £518 milion)

The amount available for the payment of dwvidends by the Company at 31 March 2010 was £7 14 milhon (2009 - £759 millon) As at 31 March
2010 there was £25 milion (2009 — £nill of non-aistnbutable resarves in the profit and loss account (see Note 3)

During the year ended 31 March 2010 shareholders were given the option 1o recerve the intenm dividends in the form of a scnp issue
On 8 January 2010 ihe Group 1ssued 514,612 shares for scnp at a nominal value per share of 25p and a cash equivalent value of €4 25
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14 Related parties

As permitted by FRS8 Refaled Farty Disclosures, disclosure of related party transactions with other companies controlied by Tate & Lyle PLC 15 not
provided and there were no reportable transactions with other related parties 7

18 Profit and loss account disclosures
As permitted by Section 408{2) of the Companies Act 2008, the Company has not presented its awn profit and loss acgount
The Company employed 94 staff Incuding directers (2008 - 80} and the totat staff costs are shown below

31 March

2010 2009

Erm £m

Wages and salaries 11 11
Social security 1 1
Retirement benefits , 1 1
Total 13 13

Directors' emoluments disclosures are provided in the directors’ remunsaration report on pages 47 to 56 of this annuaf report and 13 Note 9 of the
Group financial statermentis

16 Dividends
Details of the Company s dwidends are set out in Note 14 of the Groug financial statements

Find out more about Tate & Lyle
at www tateandiyle com
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Ten-year review financial years to 31 March

UK GAAP? IFRS

Share information 2001 2002 2003 2004 20057 2006¢' 2007 2008 2009* 2010

Pence per 25p ordinary share ; : : ' ; i : .

Closing share price 2288 ; 3492, 2990 2972 5315 , 5710 ' &750 , 5400 ' 2605 , 4542

Earnings - basic® 500), 247 278, 327 | 310, (B3} 443 . 409 142 33

basic, before amortisation ! . i ! ; . { ;

and exceptional items® 148, 222% 33t. 340 377 424 % 487, 411 378 382
Earnings — diluted® {498)° 246 ' 277. 326 | 306  (63)° 436 404 141! 33

diluted, befare amortisation : ; : . ; ! : :

and exceptional items® 148 % 221 % 330 . 339 374, 417, 479 406: 375 380

Dividend 178 ; 178 183; 188 194‘. 2003 215 226: 229‘ 229

Closing market captalisation (€ million) 1102 1 1683 | 1441, 1435 | 2586, 2791 : 2816, 2484 ! 1198 : 2092

Business ratios ; : : f

Interest cover - times 23 33° 76 93 116, 99. 84, 78, 61: 58

Profit betore interest, exceptional : ! \ ; ; :
itemns and amortisation divided : : H . H : . :
by net finance expense’? : ' ;

Gearing 91% | 590% | 45% : 40% 48% , 92% : 90% , 110% ; 122% : 95%

Net borrowings as a percentage of : ' ! ; ;
total net assets®

Net margin 43% . 53% « 78% ! 77% 83% ! 88% ; 92% . B7% ;, 68% ., 82%

Profit before interest, exceptional i ' ' .
iterns and amortisation as a ‘ : : . . ‘ : .
percentage of sales® ) . : ) ) : . .

Return on net operating assets 85% . 105% : 142% 154% | 188% , 189% * 189% ' 155% * 127% ' 141%

Proiit before interest and exceptional . ' H i ! H . .
items as a percentage of average . ' . :
net operating assets® : ' ‘ : ; ;

Dividend cover - times ' ' i i !

Basic earnings per share after . : . , ' :
exceptional items and amortisation ; ) ' : ; '
dwided by diidends per share® @8 14% 15i 17 16, (03 23+ 18! 06, O

Basic earnings per share before : . , . , :
exceptional items and amortisation : : . : ! i .
divided by dividends per share® 08 ; 12 4 18° 18 19 ¢ 21 23 18 ! 17, 17

Comparatrva figuras for 2004 have baen restated to refiect tha acioption of LITF38 Accounting for ESOP Tusts

Comparativa figuras for 1999 1o 2004 have not been restated to raflect the adoption of IFRS frorm 1 Apni 2004

Comparativa figuras for 2005 have not Deen restated to raflect the adoption of LAS32/39 from 1 Apnl 2005

Amortisation relates 1o the amertisation of acquired irtangble assets

Undler UK GAAP interest cover was calculated using only the profit before interest exceptional tems and amortisation and tha net finance expenss of Tate & Lyle PLC and its
subsichanes From 2007 interast cover has been calculaled using the same basis as set out in the Group $ external bank covenants

6 Thesa ratos have been calcuiated using the results of both continumg and discontnued operations

7 Comparatve hgures for 2005 and 2006 have been restated to reflact the adopbon of IFRICA

Results presented above are for years to 31 March and have been calculated using the Group's published ntenm and full-year financial statements

O R =
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UK GAAP? IFRS
Employment of capital 2001 2002 2003 2004' 2005%" 20067 2007 20084 2009° 2010
om m £m m £m e £m tm £m £€m
Goodwill, Intangible assets and ' : : : '
property, plant and equipment 1860 | 1699 ¢ 15665 ¢ 1414 [ 1461 1480 ! 1449 ; 1516 19822 | 1548
Other non-current assets - - - - 3, 21 25 ! 22 | 19 . 21
Working caprtal 307 114 94 107 37, 356 445 576 ! 394 45
Net assets held for sate ! : . , - 61 | - 28 | 18
Net operating assets 2167 « 1813 . 1659 + 1521 | 1501 1857 ¢ 1980 : 2114 2363 . 1632
Net borrowings ©63). (639), ([@71}: (388)| (474)' (866). (900); (1041) (1231); (814)
Net assets/(labimities) tor : . . : . . i ;
dividends and tax 142y, (93 (144), (155) (44 (61): 85 (123 (119); 36
Total net assets 7062 . 1081 | 1044 976 | 983 ' 940: 995 950 ' 1013 ; 854
Capital employed : % ! :
Called up share capital 123 , 123 . 123 123 124 | 122 ¢ 1227 114 i 115 . 115
Reserves 885 | 920 889 , 828 B27 ! 783 838 ' 820 . 872 712
1008 1043, 1012 951 951 905 | 960 . 934 ; 0987 | 827
Minority interests 54 38 32, 27 32 35 | 35 i 16 | 26 . 27
1062+ 1081~ 1044 ' 978 983 940§ 995 : 950°¢ 1013 854
Profit summary’ ; : : ' ;
Sales 4146 1 3944 : 3167 | 3167 3339 | 3465 3225 T 2867 | 3553 ¢ 3506
Group operating profit : f : i ! H
Before exceptional items ' : ' : ' : ! ;
and amortisation 156 ; 180 ' 219 ; 214 2781 300° 311 295i 208 208
Amortisation (5) (8} . 8) 8) “ {5} Q) ' (12)} (15) ‘ {14}
Operating exceptional items -, - (39}, - {4%) | (248) ; (13}, {89) ; (119} (276)
Group operating profit 151+ 172} 172} 208 220, 47| 289 224 D164 8
Share of profits of joint ventures . . . : : : : !
and associates 29 | 36 ¢ 35 43 - - - - - -
Total operating profit 180 1 208 0 207 | 248 229 , 47 . 289 : 224, 1864, 8
Non-operating exceptional items ' ) i ' ' '
Write-downs on planned sale of business {307) ¢ - {12) ! - - - - - - -
Profit/(loss) on sale or termination N , .
of businesses 9. 5) 19 (6} - - - - - -
Profit/(loss) on sale of fixed assets - 13 K - - - - - - -
{Lossyiprofit before net finance expense (118), =236 213: 243 229 , 47 , 289, 224 164, 8
Net finance expense {67} 55) (29) (£3) {24) ' 33 {36) {42) 51), (69)
Net finance (expense)income of . : ' ! ' ! . H
joint ventures and associates (5) . & 3 4 - - -, - - -
{Loss)/profit before tax (190); 159 | 187 , =224 205 147 283 ¢ 182 113 (1)
Income tax (expense)/credit 40) ' (39} G R (69) (55) (60) (88) (76) (19) 84
(Loss)/protit after tax @30)' 120. 130 155 150 1 (46); 165 106 94: 23
Minsority interests 6) (2) 1 21 (%)} (4} 3) (3) 7 5) 4)
Discontinued operations - - - - - 19 52 81 24) 4
{Loss)/profit for the year (236) 118 132 : 154 146 30y . 214 194 65 15
Profit before tax, exceptional tems ! : . 1 :
and amortisation 113 159, =228¢ 227 | 254% 267, 275: 263, 247 229

th B WD R -

Comparative figures for 2004 have bean rastated to reflect the adoption of UITF38 Accounting for ESOP Trusts

Comparative figures for 1999 to 2004 have not been restated to reflect the adoption of IFRS from 1 Apnil 2004

Comparative figures for 2005 have not bean restated to rafiact the adoption of LAS32/38 from | Apnl 2005

Amortsation relates to the amortisation of acquired ntangibls assets

Profit summary information for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2000 rs prasented in accordance with the preseniation adopted in the 2009 Group financal
statements and uniess othenwise statad represents continuing oparabons only Profit summary information for the years 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006 ¢ presentad in
accordance with the gresentation adlopted 1n the Group Francal Statements for 2008 ana 2007 respectively and uniess otherwise stated reprasents continung operations
as defined n thosa statements

Tha comparative igures for 2005 and 2006 have been restated to refiect the adoption of IFRIC4
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Information for investors

Dividends on ordinary shares
Two payments were made dunng the tax year 2009/2010 as follows

Dwvidend Dwidend
Payment date descrption per share
31 July 2009 Final 2009 16 1p
§Jan 2010 intenm 2010 6 8p
Services

Shareholding enquines
Quenes on shareholdings should be addressed to Tate & Lyle s
Registrar Equiniti

Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex
BNG9 6DA
Tel 0871 3B4 2063 {for UK calls)
+44 {OH 21 415 0235 {for calls {rom outside the UK)
WWW equiniti com
www shareview co Uk

t  Calls to 0871 numbers are charged at 8 ponce per munute from a BY
landing Other talephone prowiders cosls may vary Lines are open from
8 30am to 5 30pm UK tme Monday to Fnday

Ingividual Savings Account (ISA)
Tate & Lyle's ordinary shares can be held in an ISA For information
please call the Equiniti ISA Helpling on 0871 384 2244

Tate & Lyle’'s website (www tateandlyle com) and share

price information

Tate & Lyle s website provides direct inks to other Group company
sies and 1o sites providing financial ang other information relevant
to the Company The share pnce s avalable on the website with a
20-minue delay Similar snformation s available on many specialist
wabsiies, on Teletexi and In several national newspapers

Capital gains tax

The market values on 31 March 1982 for the purposes of indexation
up to April 1988 in relation to capital gains tax of Tate & Lyle PLC
shares then in 155ue werg

Ordinary shares of £1 each 201 Q0p
Equivalent value per ordinary share of 25p 50 25p
6%% cumulative preference shares 43 50p

Tate & Lyle American Depositary Shares (ADSs)

The Company s shares trade n the United Stales on the NASDAQ
over the counter (OTC) market in the form of ADSs and these are
evidenced by Amencan Depositary Recepts (ADRs) The shares

are traded on the OTCOX exchange under the ticker symbol TATYY
Each ADS 15 equivalent to four ordinary shares For more infermation,
contact the Bank of New York Mellon at

The Bank of New York Mellon
Shareowner Services
PO Box 358516
Priisburgh
PA 15252-8516
Tel +1 888 269 2377 (for US calls)
+1 201 680 6825 (for calls from outside the USA)

On 10 Apri 2007, Tate & Lyte was approved for the International
PremierQX ter of Internabional OTCQOX This prowides a gateway to
US securities markets for international comparves that are listed on a
qualfied international exchange Tate & Lyle s ADR is identified with an
International PremierQX loge and mvestors can find current financial
information and other disclosure on www otcgx com and

www pinksheets com
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Financial calendar (dates are prowvisional except those
marked with an astensk)

2010 Annual General Meeting
Announcement of half-year results for

22 July 2010*

six menths to 30 September 2010 4 Nov 2010
Announcement of full-year results for

the year ending 31 March 2011 26 May 2011
2011 Annual General Meeting 28 Juty 2011
Dividend on ordinary shares

2010 final 2011 mtenm 2011 final

Announced 27 May 2010 4 Nov 2010 26 May 2011
Payment date 30 July 2010 7 Jan 2011 5 Aug 201 1!

1 Subyect to the approval of shareholders

Dividends on 6%% cumulative preference shares
Paid 31 March and 30 September

Electronic communications

Shareholder documents are only sent in paper format to sharehoiders
who bave elected 1o receive documents in this way This approach
enables the Company to reduce printing and distribution costs and its
impact on the environment

Shareholders who have not elected to recewe paper copies are sent a
notification whenever shareholder documents are published 1o advise
them how to access the documents via the Tate & Lyle website,

www lateandivle com Sharehotders may also choose to recewve this
notification via email with a hnk 1¢ the relevant page on the website
Shareholders who wish to receive email notification should register
onhne at www shareview co Uk using therr reference number that 1s
either on their share certficate or other correspondence

Find cut more about Tate & Lyle
at www tateandlyle com



Non-rehance statement

This annual report and accounts has
been prepared solely to provide additional
information to shareholders to assess the
Group’s strategy and the potential of that
strategy 1o succeed and should not be
rehed upon by any other party or for

any other purpose

Cautionary statement

Trws annual report and accounts contans
certain forward-looking statements with
respect to the financial condition, results,
operations and businesses of Tate & Lyle PLC
These staterments and forecasts involve nsk
and uncertainty because they relate to events
and depend upon crrcumstances that may
oceur n the future There are a number of
factors that could cause actual results or
developments to differ matersally from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements and forecasts Nothing in this
annual report and accounts shou'd be
caonsirued as a prefit forecast

Tate & Lyle PLC

Tale & Lyle PLC 1s a publc hmited company
listed on the London Stock Exchange and
registered in England  This 1s the report and
accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010
More information aboul Tate & Lyle can be
found on our website at www tateandtyle com

Environmental statement

This report 1s prninted on  Look!" paper and
has been independently certified on behalf
of the Forest Stewardshigp Council (FSC)

Printed at St lves Westerham Press Ltd
15014001, FSC centified and CarbonNeusisal®

vulnnnn"
EUTRAL

caupraRY

Mixed Sources

FSC Tt

Registered office

Tate & Lyle PLC

Sugar Quay

Lower Thames Street
London EC3R 6DQ

Tel +44 (0)20 7626 6525
Fax +44 (0}20 7623 5213
Company number 76535

vwww tateandlyle com

Credits
Desigried, typeset and produced by
www berghindjoseph com

Photography by Dawd Rees
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